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Reader’s Guide 
Autoliv Inc. is incorporated in Delaware, USA, and fol-
lows Generally Accepted Accounting  Principles in the 
United States (U.S. GAAP). This annual report also con-
tains certain non-U.S. GAAP measures, see pages 30-
31 and page 40. All amounts in this annual report are in 
U.S. dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

“We”, “the Company” and “Autoliv” refer to  “Autoliv 
Inc.” as defined in Note 1 “Principles of Consolidation” 
on page 47. For forward-looking information, refer to 
the “Safe Harbor Statement” on page 30. 

Data on markets and competitors are Autoliv’s es-
timates (unless otherwise indicated) that are based on 
orders awarded to us or our competitors or other infor-
mation put out by third parties. The estimates are also 
based on plans announced by vehicle manufacturers 

and regulatory agencies. Some comparisons are 
made to 1997, because that was when the present Au-
toliv company was founded. 

Data on products’ efficiency are generally based on 
data and estimates from the National Highway and Traf-
fic Safety Administration (NHTSA) or other scientific  
sources.

Financial Information
Every year, Autoliv publishes an annual report and a 
proxy statement prior to the Annual General Meeting 
(see page 26). The proxy statement provides informa-
tion not only on the agenda for the meeting, but also 
on the work of the Board and its committees as well as 
on compensation paid to and presentation of directors 
and certain senior officers. 

For financial information, please also refer to the Form 
10-K and Form 10-Q reports and Autoliv’s  other filings 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
and the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). These fil-
ings (including the CEO/CFO Section 302 Certifica-
tions, Section 16 Insider Filings, and the 2008 CEO 
 Certification to the NYSE) are available at www.autoliv.
com under Investors/Filings and at www.sec.gov. 

The annual and quarterly reports, the proxy state-
ment and Autoliv’s filings with the SEC as well as the 
Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, Char-
ters, Codes of Ethics and other documents governing 
the Company can be downloaded from the Compa-
ny’s corporate website. Hard copies of the above-men-
tioned documents can be obtained free of charge from 
the Company at the addresses on page 27. 
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Net Sales Cash Flow
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  Debt Maturity Profile
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2) Includes $500 million utilized part of 
    credit facility which has roll over in 2009

1) Includes capital markets maturities as well as
    local facilities of $127 million.

(Dollars in millions, except as indicated) 20081) 20071,2) 20061,3)

Net sales  $6,473 $6,769 $6,188
Operating income 306 502 520
Income before taxes 249 446 481
Net income 165 288 402
Earnings per share in $4) 2.28 3.68 4.88
Operating margin (%) 4.7 7.4 8.4
Cash flow from operations  614 781 560
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) 7.1 12.0 17.1
Dividends paid  115 121 112
Share repurchases  $174 $380 $221

Consolidated net sales declined by 4% in 2008 
to $6.5 billion and organic sales (see page 31) de-
clined by close to 10% as a result of 12% lower 
light vehicle production in Western Europe and 
North America where Autoliv generates more than 
70% of sales. Light vehicle production declined 
by 4% as a global average.

Operations generated $614 million in cash and 
$335 million after capital expenditures of $279 
million but before acquisitions of $49 million. Cap-
ital expenditures were $68 million less than de-
preciation and amortization of $347 million, after 
previous years’ higher investments in low-cost 
countries.

Continued strong cash flow and strengthened cash position•	

Peaking raw material prices•	

Accelerated drop in light vehicle production in the second half of the year •	

Action program initiated in July and rapid realignment of costs •	

Stepped-up investments in small car R,D&E projects•	

Launch of new night vision system, new light-pack passenger airbag  •	
and the world’s first airbag ECU with integrated stability control sensors 

2008 in Summary

Including new financing of $250 million that the 
Company secured after the Lehman Brothers 
bankruptcy, Autoliv has $1.2 billion in cash and un-
secured long-term credit facilities which should 
provide adequate headroom to cover expected 
negative cash flow in the beginning of 2009 and 
upcoming debt maturities. 

1) In 2008, 2007 and 2006, severance and restructuring costs 
reduced operating income by $80, $24 and $13 million and net 
income by $55, $16 and $9 million. This corresponds to 1.2%, 
0.4% and 0.2% on operating margins and 0.8%, 0.2% and 
0.1% on net margins. The impact on EPS was $0.76, $0.21 
and $0.11, while return on equity was reduced by 2.3%, 0.6% 
and 0.4% for the same three-year period (see page 29 and 
Note 10). 2) In 2007, a court ruling reduced operating income 
by $30 million, net income by $20 million, operating margin by 
0.5%, net margin by 0.3%, EPS by $0.26 and return on equity 
by 0.8% (see page 30). 3) In 2006 a release of tax reserves and 
other discrete tax items boosted net income by $95 million, net 
margin by 1.5%, EPS by $1.15 and return on equity by 3.9% 
(see page 30). 4) Assuming dilution.



4    AUTOLIV ANNUAL REPORT 2008

Seatbelt Systems
1  Modern seatbelts can reduce the overall risk 

of serious injuries in frontal crashes by as much as 
60% thanks to two advanced seatbelt technolo-
gies: pretensioners and load limiters.

2  Retractor and buckle pretensioners tighten the 
belt at the onset of a frontal crash, using a small 
pyrotechnic charge. Slack is eliminated and the 
occupant is restrained as early as possible, there-
by reducing the risk of rib fractures. The latest in-
novation is active seatbelts that, in addition to the 
pyrotechnical pretensioner, have an electrical mo-
tor that tightens the belt in hazardous situations 
before a crash, and then releases the webbing if 
the hazard is avoided.

3  In an accident, load limiters release some web-
bing in a controlled way to avoid the load on the 
occupant’s chest from becoming too high.  

When used in combination, pretensioners, load 
limiters, lap pretensioners and frontal airbags can 
reduce the risk for life-threatening head or chest 
injuries by 75% in frontal crashes.

4  Lap pretensioners further tighten the webbing 
to avoid sliding under the belt which improves low-
er leg protection and prevents abdominal injuries 
from a loose belt. 

Airbags and Steering Wheel
5  Curtain airbags reduce the risk of life-threat-

ening head injuries in side impacts by approxi-
mately 50% for occupants who are sitting on the 
side of the vehicle that is struck. Curtain airbags 
cover the whole upper side of the vehicle. 

6  The driver airbag reduces fatalities in frontal 
crashes by approximately 25% (for belted drivers) 
and serious head injuries by over 60%. 

7  The passenger airbag for the front-seat pas-
senger reduces fatalities in frontal crashes by 
approximately 20% (for belted front-seat occu-
pants). 

Both the driver and the passenger airbags de-
ploy in 50 milliseconds, half the time of the “blink 
of an eye”, and can be “smart”, e.g. the power of 
the airbags can be tuned to the severi ty of the 
crash, using adaptive output airbag inflators.

8  Regular one-chamber side airbags reduce the 
risk for chest injuries by approximately 25%. With 
dual-chamber side airbags, both the pelvis and the 
chest areas are protected which further reduces 
the risk of serious injuries in side-impact crashes.

9  Rear side airbags reduce injuries for rear  
occupants.

10  Modern steering wheels offer a variety of con-
trol switches and different designs. Some of our 
steering wheels have an integrated electrical mo-
tor that can vibrate the steering wheel thereby 
alerting the driver of a dangerous situation. To im-
prove comfort, the steering wheel can have active 
heating or cooling. In 2008, we introduced a new 
plastic material for the steering wheel rim that is 
recyclable and more environmentally friendly.

11  Knee airbags significantly reduce the risk for in-
juries to the knee, thigh and hip. These injuries to-
day represent 23% of the active-life years lost to 
injury in frontal crashes involving motor vehicles. 

12  Anti-sliding airbags are installed in the seat 
cushion. In a crash the airbag raises the front end 
of the seat cushion to prevent the occupant from 
sliding under the seatbelt. This reduces significant-
ly the risk for knee, thigh, and hip injuries for belt-
ed occupants. In addition, by keeping the occu-
pant in an upright position the protection from the 
frontal airbags becomes more efficient.

Autoliv – Driven for Life
Autoliv has accounted for virtually all major technological breakthroughs in the occupant restraint 
industry over the last 20 years, and we are determined to remain in the forefront of development. 

Advanced Safety  
Systems
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17

Crash Electronics
13  The electronic control unit (ECU) is the brain of 
the car’s safety system. It decides not only if, but 
also exactly when, the seatbelt pretensioners 
should be triggered and each airbag protection 
system should be deployed. The ECU contains 
crash sensors and a microprocessor, as well as 

back-up electricity in the event the connection to 
the car battery is cut off in the crash. The ECU is 
located in the middle of the vehicle where it is well 
protected during a crash. Autoliv’s latest ECU also 
contains sensors for the Electronic Stability Con-
trol (ESC) System (see page 16).

14  For controlling the deployment of the side air-
bags, vehicles have satellite sensors and often re-
mote sensors for frontal airbags.  

15  Connected Safety consists of a telematics sys-
tem with an automatic notification function. It calls an 
emergency center immediately after a serious acci-
dent even if the driver is unconscious. The European 
Commission has estimated that 5% of all fatalities 
caused by automobile accidents could be avoided 
through the use of automatic notification systems.

Pre-crash Systems
16  The safety and driver assist camera system is 
based on one or two cameras mounted together. 
This vision system has a range of up to 100 meters 
and can be used for lane departure warning, adap-
tive cruise control, queue driving aid, collision mit-
igation by braking and speed sign recognition.

17  Short and medium range radar systems for 
driver assist and safety applications such as blind 
spot detection, lane change assist, adaptive cruise 
control, collision mitigation by braking and side 
pre-crash sensing. The system can also be used 
for back-up and park assist functions. The radar 
system can detect other vehicles and objects up 
to 80 meters ahead of the vehicle even when driv-
ing in dense fog.  

18  Night Vision system displays an image of the 
road scene ahead. This makes driving at night eas-
ier and safer. The system is so sensitive to the in-
frared (IR) light emission from objects and living 
creatures that the driver can see in total darkness 
without any headlights or other illumination. To pro-
vide an extra margin of safety, the latest genera-
tion of the system also analyzes the scene content 
and vehicle dynamics to determine if a pedestrian 
is at risk of being hit by the vehicle. An alert is then 
sent to the driver to give him/her approximately 
four seconds to react.
 
Other Important Products
19  Anti-whiplash system based on a yieldable 
backrest that tilts in a controlled way in a rear-end 
collision, and thereby reduces the risk for neck in-
juries. 20  Foldable Integrated child seats mount-
ed into the vehicle’s seat. Pedestrian protection by 
21  outside airbags or 22  hood-lifters.
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Move to Low Cost Countries U.S. and Western Europe Light Vehicle sales since 1960
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In 2008, vehicle production dropped significantly, 
especially towards the end of the year. Credit mar-
kets dried up. Raw material prices skyrocketed. 
Some customers were on the verge of ceasing 
payments and one customer – Ssangyong in Ko-
rea – placed itself in court receivership immedi-
ately after the turn of the year.

In response to this unprecedented turmoil we:
introduced an action program already in July. •	
We saw early signs of a slowdown at the begin-
ning of the summer. This led us to take asser-
tive actions before many other companies.
managed to raise $250 million in new medium-•	
term credits after the bankruptcy of the Lehman 
Brothers and the ensuing credit crisis.
conserved cash by reducing and then suspending •	
dividends and the share repurchase program. 

As a result, Autoliv has been able to preserve 
its strong financial position, which we believe is  
critical during the current challenging econom-
ic times. 

Our actions also helped offset some of the neg-
ative effects from sharply declining light vehicle pro-
duction and higher raw material inflation costs.

Rapid Response
In 2008, light vehicle production (LVP) dropped 
by 12% in North America and Western Europe 
combined where Autoliv generates more than 

70% of sales. As a result, sales declined by 4%. 
Income was also negatively affected by higher 
raw materials and higher severance and restruc-
turing costs than in 2007. All these events had a 
combined negative effect of more than $210 mil-
lion. The peaking raw material prices also caused 
us to miss our target for direct material cost re-
ductions (see graph page 9).

Due to these headwinds, we were forced to 
take several severe actions including headcount 
reductions of 14% or nearly 5,900 during the 2nd 
half of 2008 (see graph below). This swift adjust-
ment was possible thanks to the flexibility cre-
ated during many years of production moves to 
low-cost countries and by our strategy to have 
a relatively high portion of temporary workers 
and other non-fixed employees, especially in 
high-cost countries. These actions mitigated the 
decline in operating income by $196 million and 
enabled Autoliv to still report an operating prof-
it of $306 million and an operating margin of 
4.7%, including restructuring costs. Earnings per 
share was $2.28. 

These results are not satisfactory to our stand-
ards, but better than most comparable companies 
and show that we are prepared and able to act fast 
and decisively when it is required.

Even after the substantial headcount reduc-
tions in 2008, 9% of our workforce or 3,300 peo-
ple are temporary or other non-fixed employees. 
This will provide further flexibility during 2009.

Strong Cash Position
Another important strategy, especially in the midst 
of the credit crisis, has been cash generation and 
cash preservation. Operations generated $614 
million in cash, the second best cash flow ever 
and well in line with our target (see page 9).  

This strong cash flow was partially due to the 
fact that we reduced capital expenditures in re-
sponse to lower light vehicle production. As a re-
sult, for 2008, capital expenditures were $68 mil-
lion less than depreciation and amortization. We 
expect this difference to continue in 2009. The 
strong cash flow was also due to a reduction of 
working capital from 9.1% of sales at the end of 
2007 to 8.0%, well below the cap of 10% in our 
policy. We also continued, with ample headroom, 
to be in compliance with our other two internal fi-
nancial policies, leverage ratio and interest cov-
erage (see page 9). 

At the end of 2008, we had almost half a billion 
dollars in cash on hand compared to upcoming 
capital market debt maturities during 2009 of ap-
proximately $400 million (see graph on page 3). 
Therefore, we believe that our Company should be 
able to repay our debt even in the event that one 
of our major refinancing sources, i.e. the commer-
cial paper market, may not be available.

In addition, we have a $600 million unutilized 
revolving credit facility that is available until No-
vember 2012 and more than $60 million in other 
facilities with shorter maturities, besides all over-

Dear Shareholder,
First of all, I would like to extend a sincere “thank-you” to our employees for their continued support in ensuring 
quality, safety, and timely deliveries, as well as in executing our action program – all during a very challenging year. 

President’s Letter
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drafts in our subsidiaries for their daily operations. 
Therefore, I think it is safe to say that Autoliv’s cur-
rent financial position is sound.

However, light vehicle production is expected 
to remain on a low level throughout 2009 and mar-
ket interest rates could remain high, even if dis-
count rates from central banks have been reduced 
and are likely to be reduced even more. Further-
more, most of the remaining cash outlays for the 
action program which we have provided for in 
2008 will be realized during 2009. In addition, we 
entered 2009 with unusually low receivables due 
to the sharp sales decline in December 2008. Last-
ly, restructuring costs could turn out to reach the 
same level as in 2008, and the risk for customer 
and supplier defaults is not over yet. Hence, we 
believe it is prudent to preserve a strong cash po-
sition and have decided to suspend the quarterly 
dividend in addition to the suspension of share re-
purchases and the other cash-improving meas-
ures already implemented.

“Small Car Project” 
The trend in auto sales goes clearly towards 
smaller and more fuel-efficient vehicles. Howev-
er, small cars have at least twice the fatality rates 
of larger vehicles, according to field data from 
both the U.S. and Western Europe. 

To offset this disadvantage that small cars have 
– “by law of physics” – they need more safety sys-
tems than bigger vehicles. However, today it is the 

other way around: the safety content in small car 
(the A and B segments of the market) is often half 
of the value in the middle and higher segments (C 
to F), and, for instance, in India, the average safe-
ty value per vehicle is only one tenth of the safest 
vehicles in Western Europe. 

This will have negative implications not only on 
traffic fatalities and injuries, which is the most se-
rious drawback, but it also makes it difficult for Au-
toliv to grow organic sales faster than global light 
vehicle production. In 2008, this was the main rea-
son why we did not reach our target to outperform 
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Earnings per Share
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President’s Letter

and supplement them with new products from 
our research and development as described on 
page 17. 

Outlook
This year is likely to become even tougher than last 
year, because LVP during the first nine months of 
2009 is predicted to be much lower than during 
the same periods of 2008 when the credit crunch 
had not yet really hit the market. LVP in Western 
Europe and North America, where Autoliv gener-
ates more than 70% of sales, is currently expect-
ed to drop by 23% and 27%, respectively, as av-
erages for the year, but our customers keep 
adjusting their production schedules. 

The negative implications this will have on 
margins should, to some degree, be offset by fall-
ing raw material prices and our own purchasing 
actions. However, virtually none of this benefit is 
expected to materialize before summer. During 
2009, Autoliv should also benefit from our cost-
saving actions taken already in 2008. There could 
also be substantial restructuring actions and 
costs during 2009, possibly in the same magni-
tude as in 2008. 

In conclusion, we expect 2009 to start on a 
very weak note when cash flow will be negative 
given the reasons above, also (see page 40). 

Consequently, Autoliv’s financial position and 
especially our Company’s cash position will be 
an important asset awaiting the recovery of the 
automotive industry, which always has and al-
ways will be very cyclical. 

Yours sincerely,

Jan Carlson
Stockholm, Sweden, February 22, 2009

the global occupant restraint market which de-
clined by 7%, while our organic sales declined by 
10% (see graph on page 9). 

For these reasons and to save natural resourc-
es and make vehicles more environmentally friend-
ly, we have decided to step up our research and 
development budget for “small car projects” by 
30%. I think it is a sign of strength that our Com-
pany is able to do this in the midst of the worst 
challenges facing the automotive industry since 
the 1930’s.

We have already several products that could 
be especially efficient in small cars, for instance, 
knee airbags, active seatbelts (see page 16) and 
even radar thanks to our recent acquisition of 
Tyco’s automotive radar business (see page 16). 
Radar, stereoscopic camera systems, night vi-
sion and other pre-crash sensing systems can 
provide “virtual crash zones” that compensate 
for the shorter physical crash zones of small ve-
hicles. We now need to promote these products 
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Autoliv’s Targets

LOnG TERm TARGETS DESCRIPTIOn PERFORmAnCE In 2008

Operating Cash Flow
Exceed $500 million per year on  
average over a business cycle.

Operating cash flow is, long-term, the principal source 
for anticipated working capital requirements, capital ex-
penditures, strategic acquisitions, share repurchases and 
dividend payments.

Operating Working Capital
Less than 10% of last
12-month net sales.

Definition on page 31
(Non-U.S. GAAP measure)

Due to the need to optimize cash generation to create 
value for shareholders, management focuses on opera-
tionally derived working capital.

Leverage Ratio
Significantly below 3.0 times.  

Definition on page 40
(Non-U.S. GAAP measure)

Interest Coverage Ratio
Significantly above 2.75 times.  

Definition on page 40
(Non-U.S. GAAP measure)

To manage the inherent risks and cyclicality in the Com-
pany’s business, we maintain a relatively conservative 
financial leverage. Higher leverage can improve the po-
tential for incremental shareholder value by seeking to 
grow earnings per share (EPS) faster than operating in-
come. However, this has to be measured against the 
need to ensure financial stability in the cyclical automo-
tive industry.  

Labor Productivity
At least 5% per year.

Labor productivity is measured as a reduction of labor 
minutes per unit (LMPU) in percentage points. 
It is used by management to monitor continuous improve-
ment activities. Improved productivity can be achieved 
not only at the production line but also by better product 
design and production equipment.

Organic Growth
Exceed underlying  
occupant safety market. 

Definition on page 31 
(Non-U.S. GAAP measure)

More than 80% of the Company’s sales are generated in 
currencies other than the reporting currency (i.e. U.S. dol-
lars) and since the Company has historically made sev-
eral acquisitions and divestitures, we analyze the sales 
performance as changes in “organic sales”.  

Direct material  
Cost Reduction
More than 3% per year

To keep and to seek to improve current margins, direct 
material cost must be reduced in line with or by more than 
the price reductions on our market.
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Vision, mission & Strategy

Our Strategies

Customers

Diversified  
Customer Base

Highest-Value  
System Solutions

Technology 

Technological  
Leadership

Complete System  
Capabilities

Enhanced Safety for 
Small Vehicles

Cost Control 

Efficient manufacturing  
and Purchasing

Quality Excellence
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p. 12–14 p. 15–17 p. 18–19

We have developed a series of strategies related to Customers, 
Technology, Cost Control, Employees, Society and Sharehold-
ers. By applying these strategies, together with a conservative 
financial strategy, we lay the foundation for long-term growth 
and financial stability while providing competitive shareholder 
returns.
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Our Vision
To substantially reduce traffic accidents, fatalities and injuries. 

Our mission
To create, manufacture and sell state-of-the-art automotive safety systems.

Our Values
We have a passion for saving lives, and we are dedicated to creating satisfaction for our 
customers and the driving public. We are committed to the development of our associates’ 
skills, knowledge and creative potential, and we are driven for innovation and continuous 
improvement. We adhere to the highest level of ethical and social behavior. These core 
values of our company are global, and are applied and executed locally. 

Employees 

Dedicated and  
motivated Employees

Society 

Social Responsibility

Sustainable  
Development

Shareholders 

Value Creating Cash Flow

Share Performance

AUTOLIV ANNUAL REPORT 2008    11
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Sales by Customer Group

Sales by Customer

2008
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Autoliv’s market, which is the global automotive 
occupant restraint market, is driven both by glo-
bal light vehicle production1) and safety content 
per vehicle. Since 1997 when the current Autoliv 
company was formed, these growth drivers have 
expanded the market at an annual average growth 
rate of 2% and 3%, respectively, to $18 billion in 
2008 (see graphs on page 14). 

Currently, the market is primarily driven by high-
er penetration rates for side curtain airbags. During 
2008, this drove especially the Japanese market. 

It is therefore important to have resources in 
the right markets and with the right customers, i.e. 
the fastest growing markets and customers.

According to industry forecasting institutes glo-
bal light vehicle production is expected to grow 
the market by 3% per year through 2011. This in-
cludes an anticipated decline in 2009 of 14%. 
South America and Asia Pacific are expected to 
account for a large portion of the anticipated in-
crease in global light vehicle production.

Volume Effects from Vehicles 
Production in Emerging markets
Although the safety content in mature markets is 
expected to increase, we estimate that the global 
average safety content per vehicle will remain al-
most unchanged at approximately $275 during the 
next three-year period 2009-11. 

This is due to the dilutive effect of an increas-
ing number of low-end vehicles with low safety 
content, primarily for emerging markets in East-

ern Europe and Asia. For instance, the safety con-
tent in India is, presently, less than one fifth of the 
average safety value per vehicle in North Ameri-
ca or Western Europe. 

However, also in the emerging markets, the 
safety content of individual vehicle models is in-
creasing with more or less every new model that 
is launched. China, for instance, introduced a 
crash-test rating program in 2006, similar to the 
Euro NCAP and Brazil has plans to make frontal 
airbags mandatory. Consequently, we expect the 
market to continue to grow long term, but not 
without cyclical fluctuations.

Global Presence a necessity  
The strong trends in the emerging markets make 
global presence almost a necessity for the success 
of an automotive safety company, whether it is a 
matter of supporting Western or Japanese custom-
ers expanding in emerging markets or establishing 
new business relationships with the local vehicle 
manufacturers in these developing markets. 

In this regard, Autoliv is especially well posi-
tioned with manufacturing facilities in all major ve-
hicle producing countries in Asia Pacific and East-
ern Europe, and with technical and/or engineering 
centers in China, India, Korea, Romania and  Turkey 
(see page 70).    

Diversified Customer mix
Our strong global presence also contributes to 
achieving a more diversified customer mix. This is 

evidenced by, for instance, Autoliv’s growing or-
der intake from Chery, Great Wall and other local 
Chinese vehicle manufacturers. 

The same trend goes for all Asian OEMs. As a 
result, the Asian vehicle manufacturers now ac-
count for 29% of Autoliv’s sales globally compared 
to 20% in 1997. Honda and Hyundai-KIA have be-
come our fastest growing customers. 

Autoliv’s earlier relatively high dependence on 
Ford, General Motors and Chrysler has declined, 
particularly in North America. These customers ac-
counted globally for 26% of our consolidated sales 
in 2008 (and for 22% excluding Volvo) compared 
to 42% in 1997 (and their North  American busi-
nesses for 12% in 2008 of our total global sales 
compared to close to 24% in 1997). This evolution 
is partly a reflection of the fact that their share of 
the global light vehicle production has declined 
from 33% in 1997 to 21% in 2008.  

The fact that premium vehicles are especially 
important for Autoliv is evidenced by Volvo and 
BMW which account for 0.6% and 2.2%, respec-
tively of the global vehicle production but for 4% 
and 6%, respectively, of our sales. 

Diversified Customer Base
With operations in 31 countries and one of the broadest customer bases of any automotive supplier,  
Autoliv has a strong foundation for both the present market turmoil and long-term growth.

Customers

1) Light motor vehicles (i.e. with a weight of less than 6 tons) are 
by far, the most important market for Autoliv’s products. Heavy 
trucks have seatbelts but rarely airbags. In addition, there were 
66 million light vehicles produced in 2008, but less than 2 million 
heavy trucks.
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Growing Market Share

Superior Global Presence

 Autoliv TRW TAKATA 

   SB AB SW EL   SB AB SW EL   SB AB SW EL
North America   n	 n	 n	 n	 	 	 n	 n	 n	 n	 	 	 n	 n	 n	 n	 	
Europe   n	 n	 n	 n	 	 	 n	 n	 n	 n	 	 	 n	 n	 n	 n	 	
Japan   n	 n	 n	 n	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 n	 n	 n	 n
Asia other   n	 n	 n	 n	 	 	 n	 n	 n	 	 	 	 n	 n	 n	 	 	  
South America   n	 n	 n	 	 	 	 n	 n	 n	 n	 	 	 n	 n	 n	 	
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Share of north America Europe Japan Rest of the World

Global restraint market 24% 40% 18% 18%

Autoliv’s sales 24% 53% 11% 12%

Autoliv’s headcount 25% 45% 5% 25%

Light vehicle production 19% 32% 16% 33%

Change in Competition
The growth in emerging markets and the slowdown 
of growth in Western Europe and North America 
are also changing the competitive landscape in our 
industry. Generally, Autoliv’s major competitors are 
TRW and Takata which each account for approx-
imately one fifth of the global automotive occupant 
restraint market, while Autoliv accounts for more 
than one third of the market.

TRW is an American company, listed on the 
New York Stock Exchange, with strong market po-
sitions in North America and Western Europe. 

Takata is a family dominated company with 
25% of its shares listed on the Tokyo Stock Ex-
change. Takata is strong in North America and 
its domestic market in Japan. 

Autoliv in the World

In North America, there are also two smaller com-
petitors: Delphi and KSS. Consequently, both the 
North American and the Western European mar-
kets are relatively well consolidated.

However, in Japan, Korea and China there are 
a number of local manufacturers that often have 
close ties with the domestic vehicle manufactur-
ers in these countries. Toyota, for instance, has in-
house suppliers for seatbelts, airbags and steer-
ing wheels that receive the majority of the Toyota 
business in Japan for these products. Consequent-
ly, these safety product suppliers are often the 
toughest competitors in these markets. 

However, as vehicle manufacturers increasing-
ly compete with safer vehicles, export them and 
eventually set up global manufacturing, they of-

ten want to increase their business with compa-
nies like Autoliv with superior global presence and 
technological leadership. 

Our traditional customers are also increasing-
ly turning to global contracts rather than regional 
contracts as before. Consequently, we believe 
these trends in the vehicle industry tend to strength-
en Autoliv’s competitive position long-term. 
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Safety – A Sales Driver for Our Customers
Safety, together with low fuel consumption, is one 
of the strongest sales drivers for new cars. In vir-
tually all inquiries about what consumers want in 
their next vehicle, new safety products rank very 
high or at the top of their priority lists. 

By staying at the forefront of technology, 
crash-testing more vehicles than any other safe-
ty company and working as a development part-
ner for new vehicles, Autoliv has not only assist-
ed vehicle manufacturers in meeting these 
evolving safety trends but also enabled them to 
capitalize on our experience to become the lead-
ers of several safety trends. Over the years, we 
have contributed to: 

Volvo becoming the first company in the  •	
world to introduce side airbags (in 1994).
KIA becoming the first company with  •	
knee airbags (in 1995).
BMW becoming the first company with  •	
side airbags for head protection (in 1997).
Volvo and Mercedes becoming the first •	
companies with side curtain airbags (in 1998).
Renault becoming the first company to •	
receive the highest rating (i.e. five stars) in 
EuroNCAP’s crash tests (the Laguna in 2002).
BMW becoming the first company with •	
seatbelts with adaptive load limiters (in 2002).
Jaguar becoming the first company with a •	

pedestrian protection pop-up hood (in 2005).
BMW becoming the first company with a  •	
night vision system with pedestrian detection 
and warning (in 2008). 
Renault Megane becoming the first modern •	
car with a recyclable thermoplastic steering 
wheel (in 2008).

Higher Safety Value per Vehicle
By continuously developing new higher value so-
lutions, we can increase the average safety con-
tent per vehicle and thereby grow the automotive 
safety market and our company faster than the un-
derlying light vehicle production. Consequently Au-

toliv’s sales have increased at an average annual 
rate of 6% since 1997 compared to 5% for our 
market and 2% for light vehicle production. 

market by Product Line
Autoliv’s superior growth is partly a reflection of 
the fact that curtain airbags and other side air-
bags, where Autoliv commands a market share of 
approximately 40%, are the fastest growing prod-
uct lines in the market (see graph). These prod-
ucts now account for 28% of the $18 billion glo-
bal occupant restraint market.

Additionally, Autoliv has been at the techno-
logical forefront for seatbelts by introducing pre-
tensioners and load limiters. As a result of this and 
our global presence, we now have approximate-
ly 40% of the global seatbelt market which ac-
counts for 28% of the global market. 

The market value for frontal airbags has, on 
the other hand, remained at around $5 billion dur-
ing the last five years despite increasing volumes. 
The stagnation is a reflection of pricing pressure. 
For Autoliv, these products represent less than 
20% of 2008 revenues. 

Safety electronics have grown in line with the 
general market and continue to account for close 
to 20% of the market. However, in this product 
line, Autoliv has more than doubled its market 
share to 18% in 2008 from 8% in 1997. This has 
been achieved both through a major acquisition of 
Visteon Restraints Electronics and by customers 
taking full advantage of our highest-value safety 
system solutions by sourcing electronics and air-
bags from the same supplier.

Highest-Value System Solutions
Providing our customers with the highest-value system solutions means delivering the most advanced 
products with flawless quality (see page 19) and low environmental impact (page 23) at competitive prices. 

Customers
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Technology
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Strong Position in Patents
Our commitment to technological leadership is ev-
idenced by our strong position in patent statistics. 
According to the latest year with official statistics, 
i.e. 2005, Autoliv accounted for 4% of all new au-
tomotive safety filings, and for 7% of all subse-
quent filings. Subsequent filings are a good indi-
cation of the patents’ quality since it means that 
the patent owner has deemed it worthwhile to seek 
a broader market protection.

Autoliv holds more than 4,800 patents cover-
ing a wide range of innovations and products in 
automotive safety and key technologies. 

Global Technical Presence
With our eleven technical centers worldwide we 
have one of the best global footprints in the in-
dustry to support our customers’ development 
of new vehicles. 

We are also the only safety supplier with ded-
icated resources for crash testing of complete 
vehicles rather than just vehicle bodies in sled 
tests. Autoliv has eight crash tracks for full-scale 
tests (in Australia, France, Germany, Japan, 
Spain, Sweden and the U.S.). The experience 
our experts gather from these full scale tests 
gives Autoliv a unique capability to work as a 
“safety consultant” to develop partnerships with 
the vehicle manufacturers.

Corporate research is conducted by some 30 
technical specialists at our Swedish safety cent-
er, while most of the corporate development 
projects are assigned to our technical centers in 
France, Germany, Japan, Sweden and the  U.S. 
Application engineering projects are completed 
locally in each major subsidiary. 

In 2008, Autoliv started the construction of a 
new larger technical center in Shanghai, China. 
This facility is expected to be completed by early 
2009 and will eventually host over 200 engineers.

In total, we have 4,000 engineers and related 
support people in R,D&E. This corresponds to 
more than 10% of total headcount.

Investment in R, D & E
During 2008, gross expenditures for Research, De-
velopment and Application Engineering (R,D&E) 
amounted to $513 million which corresponds to 
7.9% of sales, compared to 7.6% in 2007 and 
8.2% in 2006 (see graph). 

Of the amounts, $146 million in 2008, $116 million in 
2007 and $106 million in 2006 were related to cus-
tomer-funded engineering projects and crash tests. 

Net of this income, R,D&E expenditures de-
clined by 7% to $367 million compared to $396 
million in 2007, and declined slightly to 5.7%, in 
relation to sales, from 5.8% in 2007. 

Of the $367 million in 2008, 80% was for 
projects and programs for which we have custom-
er orders, typically related to vehicle models in de-
velopment. The remaining 20% is not only for 
completely new innovations but also for improve-
ment of existing products, standardization and 
cost reduction projects.

In 2008, we started a series of R&D projects to 
support our customers’ efforts to make small cars 
as safe as bigger ones (see page 17).

Technological Leadership
In our quest to reduce traffic accidents, fatalities and injuries, Autoliv continues to research automotive 
safety problems beyond the existing regulatory and rating requirements around the world. These initiatives 
allow us to sustain our technical leadership position.

Today’s Best Growth Driver
The curtain airbag for head protection in side im-
pacts is the fastest growing product on the mar-
ket. One reason for this strong demand is the fact 
that these airbags will be mandated by a new fed-
eral law for all new light vehicles sold in the Unit-
ed States. The regulation will be phased in during 
a three-year period starting in 2010. 

Curtain airbags are approximately twice as ef-
ficient in side impacts as frontal airbags are in fron-
tal crashes. As a result, there is a strong market 
demand for these products not only in the U.S., 
but all over the world. 

 
Product with Long-term Potential
Market demand for knee airbags is growing due 
to new crash-test requirements and the fact that 
lower leg injuries are receiving much more at-
tention now as more people survive frontal 
crashes thanks to airbags and seatbelts. 

 

Curtain airbags make up the fastest growing product segment on the market. They can reduce the risk of fatal 
head injuries by as much as 50%.

Knee airbags can help prevent long-term disabling injuries which 
is very important for the increasing number of occupants now sur-
viving crashes.  
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Technology

Integration of Electronics
In 2008, Autoliv became the first company in the 
world to produce an airbag electronic control 
unit (ECU) with integrated stability control sens-
ing (ESC). By integrating such sensing features, 
our customer estimates that they will save al-
most 50% of the cost for one of these control 
units. As a result, we have received additional 
contracts. Since Autoliv was not previously pro-
ducing any products for the ESC market, our 
sales will increase due to the higher value pro-
vided by integrating ESC sensors into our air-
bag ECU. 

This could be a first step in a radical redesign 
of electronic safety control architecture in vehi-
cles. Over time, we expect that an increasing 
number of safety functions will be migrated into 
the airbag ECU from other ECUs, making more 
electronic components redundant and providing 
additional savings for the vehicle manufacturers 
and more sales for Autoliv. 

Active Safety Systems
Thanks to passive safety systems such as seat-
belt pretensioners and airbags, vehicle safety has 
substantially improved over the recent decades. 
The next step to further reduce road traffic acci-
dents could be active safety and driver assistance 
systems based on infrared sensors, radars or vi-
sion systems. We now have business or firm con-
tracts for all three of these sensor technologies.
 
Night Vision
Studies have shown that the risk for fatal pedes-
trian accidents is almost four times higher at night 
than during the day. Our Night Vision system, first 
introduced in 2005, displays an image of the road 
scene ahead. The system is sensitive to the in-
frared (IR) light (i.e. heat emission) from objects 
and living beings. The driver’s field of vision is 
therefore not dependent on or limited to the beam 
of the headlights. 

The second generation Night Vision, launched 
in 2008, can detect pedestrians up to two times 
further than the typical headlight range. The sys-
tem analyzes the scene content and vehicle dy-
namics to determine if a pedestrian is at risk of 
being hit by the vehicle. The driver is then alert-
ed to give him or her approximately four seconds 
to react and avoid an accident. 

Complete System Capabilities
Autoliv is now looking to further reduce accidents, injuries and fatalities by developing new and complementary 
active safety products and systems. As a market leader in airbags and seatbelts, we have a competitive edge 
when integrating such passive safety technologies with active technologies into complete safety systems. 

Radar
Autoliv’s short and medium range radar system 
provides all-weather object detection and track-
ing to improve safety and to provide assistance to 
the driver. For instance, the radar could be used 
for blind spot detection, lane change assist, adap-
tive cruise control, collision mitigation by braking 
as well as for back-up and park assist functions. 
The radar could also provide front and side pre-
crash sensing that scans up to 30 meters around 
the vehicle to provide an advanced warning of an 
imminent collision. This additional time could be 
used to prime airbags, active seatbelts (see below) 
or for other injury mitigation strategies. Autoliv is 
already in production with radar sensors for eight 
vehicles and three different customers (and has 
additional contracts for two new customers that 
will go into production within the next few years).

Vision systems
Using one or two forward-looking cameras, Au-
toliv’s vision system is continuously checking 
the road ahead for visible and potentially dan-
gerous objects. 

Vision systems can also be used for many driv-
er-assist systems such as lane change assist and 
parking aid and are less expensive than infrared 
systems and radars (but are more affected by 
weather and require daylight conditions). The func-
tionality of the system is illustrated to the right. Pro-
duction is estimated to start in 2011.

Active Seatbelts 
An example of our capability to integrate airbags 
and seatbelts with new active safety technolo-
gies is active seatbelts. These seatbelts make 
use of the information available in active safety 
systems such as radar, cameras and/or the elec-
tronic stability control (ESC) system to warn and 
restrain the occupant.

An active seatbelt has an electrically driven pre-
tensioner that tightens the belt as a precaution in 
hazardous situations. The belt system then releas-
es some webbing if the driver manages to avoid 
the traffic hazard. This function could also be used 
to warn the driver by letting the pretensioner vi-
brate the seatbelt webbing. 

Already, Autoliv delivers active seatbelts to 
four premium brand vehicle models for three 
different customers. 

Speed Sign Recognition

Collision Mitigation

High-Beam, Low-Beam, automatic light

Pedestrian Detection

Road Lane Departure

Forward Collision Warning

VISIOn CAmERA APPLICATIOnS
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Field data from both the U.S. and Western Europe 
indicate that small cars have at least twice the fa-
tality rate of large cars. Consequently, there is a 
risk that the current vehicle consumer trend could 
result in a reversal in the automotive safety im-
provements achieved over the past 20 years. In 
order to prevent this from happening, we now de-
vote approximately 30% of Autoliv’s research 
budget to enhancing the safety of small vehicles 
for both the traditional and emerging markets.

“Virtual Crash Zone” 
Today, it can be very difficult to manage the short-
er “crush zones” of small vehicles. However, by us-
ing our 24GHz radar this deficiency could be over-
come, especially if the radar is combined with active 
seatbelts, pre-crash airbags and active vehicle 
structures. By using powerful gas generators from 
airbags, active structures could stiffen those parts 
of the vehicle body that are hit in a crash and pre-
vent the occupant compartment from collapsing. 
Active structures could also be used to distribute 
the crash forces in a more efficient manner, there-
by lowering the crash load on the occupants.

more Airbags needed
If there is less space for the occupants as in a small 
vehicle, the risk for injuries to the vehicle occu-
pants increases. Consequently, there is an evident 
need for products such as knee airbags. 

Also, the risk of an occupant hitting one of the 
front-window pillars in offset front crashes is high-
er in smaller vehicles than larger vehicles. This is 
due to the lower weight of smaller vehicles which 
makes them rotate more easily and faster when 

Enhanced Safety for Small Vehicles
With the increasing demand for lower CO2 emissions and improved fuel economy, smaller and lighter 
vehicle designs are becoming increasingly more important to our customers and the car buying public. 

only one of their front corners is engaged in the 
crash. To reduce this risk, we have developed “su-
per-coupling” airbags that “catch” the occupant 
more efficiently than traditional airbags. We are 
also exploring a new improved “anti-rotation” seat-
belt system for the occupants. 

Smaller, Lighter and Safer
In 2008, Autoliv introduced two unique airbags 

that offer significant (up to 60%) weight reduc-
tions over existing designs. In our new “light-
pack” passenger airbag, the metal or plastic con-
tainer that houses the airbag components has 
been replaced with a lighter sewn textile contain-
er. Our new anti-sliding airbag design also replac-
es metal components with textiles. In addition, 
by utilizing our latest airbag inflator design, side 
curtains can be made smaller and 5% lighter.
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Targets
Our main targets for cost efficiency are to:

Reduce direct material costs at the same rate •	
as our market prices decline, i.e. by at least 3% 
annually.
Consolidate 90% of purchased components to •	
our long-term strategic suppliers and 50% to 
low-cost countries (LCC) before 2010. 
Move manufacturing to LCC at a rate of 1,000 •	
jobs per year.
Improve labor productivity by at least 5%  •	
per year.

Reduce Impact of Raw material Prices
Approximately half of our revenues are spent on 
direct materials (DM) from external suppliers (see 
graph). The raw material content in these com-
ponents currently represents approximately 42% 
of the direct material cost, while the other 58% 
represents the value added by our supply base 
(for more details on dependence on raw materi-
als and components, see page 37). 

The raw material value portion in our costs for 
components has increased from 16% of net sales 
in 2004 to 22% in 2008, primarily due to increas-
ing raw material prices. Even if these prices start 
to drop, this percentage is likely to remain on a 
relatively high level due to shifts in our purchas-
ing mix. By shifting sourcing of components to 
LCC, we reduce labor and the cost for the value-

added by our suppliers, but the raw material cost 
is unaffected by these shifts since raw material 
prices are global. Our strategy to consolidate pur-
chasing volumes to fewer suppliers has a similar 
effect on this ratio since it affects the value-add-
ed portion of component costs but not the raw 
material portion since these prices are set at a 
global market that neither Autoliv nor our suppli-
ers can impact. 

The most efficient cost-reduction method 
is replacing existing designs and components 
with new, standardized and more cost-efficient 
ones. We particularly focus on reducing mate-
rial content. For instance, our latest passen-
ger airbag, which was introduced in 2008, has 
25% less weight than the previous product 
generation which, in turn, was 30% lighter than 
its predecessor. 

Fewer components also simplify the manufac-
turing and purchasing process, thereby reducing 
costs even more.

Supplier Consolidation
Another tool aimed at reducing direct material 
cost is our strategy to consolidate purchases to 
fewer suppliers in order to give them higher vol-
umes, thereby helping them reduce costs as well 
as their prices to us. 

In 2004, when this strategy was adopted, 35% 
of our component sourcing was with the long-

term strategic suppliers. At the end of 2008, this 
ratio had been increased to 70%. Our target is to 
reach at least 90% before the end of 2010. 

Sourcing in Low-Cost Countries 
We are also actively increasing our level of com-
ponent sourcing in LCC. During 2008, sourcing 
in these countries rose as a portion of total di-
rect material costs by 10 percentage points to 
nearly 40% from less than 15% in 2004 when 
this program was initiated. Our target is to reach 
50% before 2010 and reach towards 60% be-
fore 2011.

Through the above-mentioned strategies we 
have met our direct material cost reduction target 
of at least 3% since 1997, except in 2005 and in 
2008 when, in particular, steel prices sky-rocket-
ed. We estimate the reduction in 2008 to have been 
0.4 percentage points below our target but almost 
1.4 percentage points above the target excluding 
raw material prices. In 2009, we expect to exceed 
our target thanks to the reversal in raw material 
price trends. 

Productivity Improvements 
The second most important cost is wages, sal-
aries and other labor costs. These costs corre-
spond to a quarter of our net sales. 

LCC also offer attractive savings possibilities 
for these costs. In addition, by moving and build-
ing capacity in emerging markets in Eastern Eu-
rope and Asia Pacific, Autoliv becomes well-posi-
tioned to take advantage of growth opportunities 
in these markets. 

During 2008, headcount in HCC was reduced 
by 3,400, and headcount in LCC by 1,200 to 55% 
of total headcount, compared to only 29% five 
years ago (see graph on page 6). 

Through automation of our manufacturing 
processes, we can also achieve productivity im-
provements in HCC and thereby continue to sup-
port our customers with manufacturing close to 
their assembly plants in North America, Western 
Europe and Japan. 

Thanks to these measures, we have met our 
target to improve direct labor productivity 
(measured as a reduction of labor minutes per 
unit) by at least 5% per year. In 2008, the im-
provement was 5.7% (see graph) despite the 
sharp drop in LVP.

Efficient manufacturing and Purchasing
Through our effective total cost management in manufacturing and purchasing we  
create customer and shareholder value.

Cost Control
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ZERO DEFECTS

Eliminate non-
conforming products

Our products never get a second chance. Sup erior 
quality is therefore a “must” for a reliable, world-
class supplier of safety systems. We must always 
deliver flawless products and still meet the tough 
price conditions in the automotive industry.

Zero Defect Principle
In this pursuit of excellence we have, for many 
years, applied a zero defect principle that empha-
sizes proactive methods aimed at eliminating root 
causes, rather than screening out non-conforming 
products at the end of the manufacturing line (see 
illustration below).

Autoliv’s Product Development System (APDS) •	
ensures that all new products pass five manda-
tory checkpoints: 1) project planning, 2) concept 
definition, 3) product and process development, 
4) product and process validation, and 5) prod-
uct launch. In this way, we proactively prevent 
problems and ensure we deliver only the best 
designs to the market. 
Autoliv’s Supplier Manual (ASM) focuses on pre-•	
venting bad parts from entering our plants, and 
helps eliminate bad intermediate products as 
early as possible in our assembly lines. 
Equally important is the training of our employ-•	
ees. Through the Autoliv Production System 
(APS), emphasis is placed on ensuring that all 
Autoliv associates are aware of and understand 

the critical connection between themselves and 
our lifesaving products. 
Through the Autoliv Quality System (AQS) we •	
equip manufacturing lines with sensors, camer-
as and other instruments, at selected critical sta-
tions, for detecting errors as early as possible, 
and ultimately for preventing us from shipping 
bad products. 

We also maintain an advanced product trace ability 
system capable of tracing a product down to a 
specific vehicle provided the vehicle manufactur-
er has an equally efficient  traceability system. 

This increases the confidence people place in 
our safety systems and contributes positively to 
our net sales.

Flawless Products and Deliveries 
We register all customer deviations and include 
them in our quality measure. Reported quality 
deviations very rarely affect the performance of 
our products. Virtually all deviations are, in-
stead, due to other requirements, such as flaw-
less labeling, precise delivery of the right parts 
at the right moment, as well as correct color nu-
ance and surface texture on steering wheels 
and other products where the look and feel is 
important to the car buyer. 

All deviations are registered in our quality meas-
ure PPM (parts per million). Our target is zero PPM, 

Quality Excellence
Quality excellence is a key to our financial performance, since it is critical for winning 
new orders and it affects our scrap rates and therefore our profitability and cash flow.

in accordance with the zero defect principle. Over 
the last five-year period, we have successfully re-
duced our PPM levels by a factor of six (see graph 
above).  

ISO Certifications
At the end of 2008, all of Autoliv’s manufac-
turing facilities were certified to the automo-
tive quality standard ISO/TS 16949. 
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Attracting and Promoting People
The Company’s principal assets – talented peo-
ple – do not appear on the balance sheet. The 
creativity and ingenuity of our employees is crit-
ical to our Company’s success.

Autoliv is therefore committed to be an em-
ployer of choice. We provide challenging high-
tech career opportunities in an international en-
vironment while contributing to saving lives and 
preventing injuries.   

In addition to external recruiting, we have a 
system of identifying and promoting internal 
candidates including our vast pool of temporar-
ies. We also have close cooperation with uni-
versities providing opportunities to recruit the 
right specialists. By balancing external and in-
ternal recruitment, we have maintained a healthy 
mix of new talent and long-term experience in 
our industry. 

Developing People
We are convinced that people – on all levels in a 
company – want to do their best and have “un-
tapped” potential that could – and should – be re-
alized and further developed. By providing oppor-
tunities and encouraging our employees to grow, 
we also grow our business. Consequently, we are 
committed to continually developing their skills, 
knowledge and talents. All of our training and de-
velopment programs are aimed at enhancing mo-

bility, flexibility and diversity to strengthen our 
Company’s competitive position in a rapidly chang-
ing, challenging and increasingly global business. 
We place special priorities on selecting talented 
female professionals for our training programs to 
achieve balance and diversity in our workforce and 
management. 

For all senior and mid-level managers, we 
have a corporate succession planning program, 
which is monitored by our Board of Directors. 
During 2008, we successfully identified a sub-
stantial number of high-potential employees, in-
cluding some who could qualify as successors 
for senior positions. 

The Company has several leadership training 
programs, all based on our five leadership be-
haviors (see chart). During 2008, we launched 
two new global programs customized to meet 
the needs of our global specialists and global 
project leaders. 

Better utilization of internal trainers helped us 
to substantially reduce training expenses and still 
maintain a high level of activity and quality.

We continued offering employees internation-
al assignments and during the year we had some 
200 expatriates across the globe.

Retaining People
There are many factors that contribute to wheth-
er an employee chooses to remain with their cur-

rent employer. Financial compensation is a key 
factor for retaining the right people in every com-
pany. At Autoliv, we use the international IPE 
benchmark system for most manager positions 
globally. This ensures that our remuneration pack-
ages are competitive and comparable to similar 
positions in other companies. 

Another important factor is the opportunity for 
career and personal development. We therefore 
place an emphasis on internal recruitment and 
training programs. We strongly promote equal op-
portunity in the workplace by offering open job po-
sitions to the best candidates irrespective of, for 
instance, age, gender, and race. Thanks to our 
comprehensive research and development re-
sources, technological leadership and our ad-
vanced manufacturing processes, we can also of-
fer many interesting and meaningful job duties for 
highly qualified professionals. Our close relation-
ship with leading vehicle companies and our glo-
bal presence also makes Autoliv an attractive em-
ployer and helps retaining people. 

It is important to not only focus on retaining 
managers. Rather, it is important that all of our 
employees understand that they are contributing 
to our Company’s success. That is why Employ-
ee Involvement is one “main-pillar” in the Autoliv 
Production System (APS) and why we encourage 
employees to submit proposals for our continu-
ous improvement activities (see graph). This is 

Employees

Dedicated and motivated Employees
Our people are the foundation of our success. To find, develop and retain people with the right skills and  
talents for the right positions is therefore a top priority for us. Consequently, our Human Resource activities  
contribute to our Company’s overall long-term profitability. 
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also why feedback is continuously provided to our 
employees of key performance indicators (KPI) 
and shown at each assembly line, office and ware-
house, etc. All of these measures foster a culture 
of trust, creativity, teamwork and accountability, 
which is highly motivating. This has also made it 
possible for us to exceed, during many years, our 
productivity target of at least 5% per year (see 
page 18).  

For our employees it is also highly motivating 
that they are contributing to saving more than 
20,000 lives annually and preventing ten times 
as many severe injuries.   

Health and Safety 
Another important factor for retaining people is 
their health and well-being. We have therefore 
placed the injury levels in our plants at the top of 
our list of key performance indicators. We also 
closely monitor absenteeism levels (see graphs).

Even if our injury levels are extremely low (see 
graph), we have not yet reached our target of zero 
injuries. Consequently, we are continuously seek-
ing new ways to reduce the levels. For instance, 
we try to design our machines to better match the 
body’s natural movements, eliminate repetitive mo-
tions, reduce weight of materials, and eliminate 
awkward postures. In 2008, our leadership in this 
area was recognized when Autoliv was selected to 
participate in a prestigious study on ergonomics 
sponsored by the U.S. government. 

Our general policy on Workplace Health and 
Safety is part of our global ethical code. Compli-
ance guidance is also global, while the implemen-
tation of the policy is a local responsibility for each 
facility. This makes it possible to adapt the policy 
to various national regulatory frameworks.

Current Challenges 
The economic downturn had a sweeping impact 

on the automotive industry in 2008, causing our 
customers to substantially lower their production 
volume. Autoliv was forced to rapidly realign ca-
pacity. As a result, headcount has been reduced 
by almost 6,000 associates since July. The re-
ductions were made across the board, affecting 
all regions, countries and functions. 

From past experience our employees know 
that the automotive industry is cyclical, and that 
the more vehicle sales drop, the stronger the re-
covery will be. They also know that a rapid rea-
lignment to lower volumes is necessary to save 
costs; both to enable us to endure the recession 
and also to have the financial strength to contin-
ue to invest for the future, for instance, in small 
car safety solutions and environmentally com-
patible technologies. This should ensure that our 
Company comes out of the recession stronger 
than our competitors which is another driving and 
motivating factor for our employees.
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Every year, our products save 20,000 lives and 
help prevent at least ten times as many severe 
injuries and save tens of billions of dollars for 
 societies. This is the most important contribu-
tion from Autoliv to CSR. 

We also assume social responsibility in sev-
eral other ways, for instance, through our ethi-
cal codes, sustainable environmental develop-
ment and our core values. Other examples are 
our support and cooperation with universities, 
authorities, traffic rescue organizations and in-
surance companies.  

Autoliv’s Core Corporate Values:
Life – •	 we have a passion for saving lives.
Customers –•	  we are dedicated to providing sat-
isfaction for our customers and value for the 
driving public.
Innovation –•	  we are driven for innovation and 
continuous improvement.
Employees –•	  we are committed to the devel-
opment of our employees’ skills, knowledge and 
creative potential.
Ethics –•	  we adhere to the highest level of ethi-
cal and social behavior.
Culture –•	  we are founded on global thinking and 
local actions.

Ethical Code
We adhere to the highest level of ethical and so-
cial behavior. The standards and rules are set in 
our “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” which 
can be downloaded from www.autoliv.com. The 
Code applies to all operations and all employees 
worldwide. The local Autoliv president in each 
country is responsible for communicating the code 
to the employees in that country.

Autoliv’s ethical code draws on universal stand-
ards such as the “Global Sullivan Principles of So-
cial Responsibilities” and on the UN’s “Global 
Compact”. As a result, we: 

Express our support for universal human rights •	
and, particularly within our sphere of influence, 
the communities within which we operate and 
parties with whom we do business.
Promote equal opportunity for our employees •	
at all levels of the Company with respect to is-
sues such as color, race, gender, age, ethnicity, 
sexual orientation or religious beliefs, and do 
not tolerate unacceptable worker treatment such 

as the exploitation of children, physical punish-
ment, female abuse, involuntary servitude, or 
other forms of abuse.
Respect our employees’ voluntary freedom of •	
association. 
Compensate our employees to enable them to, •	
at least, meet their basic needs and provide the 
opportunity to improve their skills and capabil-
ity in order to raise their social and economic 
opportunities.
Provide a safe and healthy workplace, protect •	
human health and the environment and promote 
sustainable development.
Promote fair competition, uphold the highest •	
standard in business ethics and integrity and 
not offer, pay or accept bribes.

 
Our code is also an integrated part of the Autoliv 
Supplier Manual (ASM). All new and existing sup-
pliers are required to sign an acknowledgement 
letter where they confirm that they will comply with 
the ASM requirements, including the code.

  
Compliance monitoring
Each regional president, business director and cer-
tain other managers are obliged to report violations 

Social Responsibility
For a company that makes products that save lives and reduce traffic injuries, Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) is not new. It has been our core business for more than 50 years.

Society

of regulations and our codes as a requirement in 
their monthly letters to the Autoliv CEO.

 In addition, our employees are encouraged 
to report any violation of law or Autoliv codes. It 
can be done anonymously by using a special 
hotline number in each country.

In 2006, we initiated a Social responsibility self 
assessment review of Autoliv facilities. This study 
assessed the compliance with and the standards 
for working conditions, work hours, work rules, 
work practices, health & safety status, union rep-
resentation, wages & salaries, benefits and insur-
ance coverage. 

We started this social responsibility assess-
ment in the Asian countries where Autoliv oper-
ates, since every second Autoliv associate works 
in a low-cost country and since we will contin-
ue to expand operations in these countries. The 
assessments show that all of our plants in these 
emerging markets maintain good overall stand-
ards and practices. In 2007, we continued the 
assessment in Eastern Europe, with similarly 
good results. 

Our leading suppliers are monitored as part of 
our regular quality audits.

South Africa is currently experiencing one of the most severe AIDS epidemics in the world. As part of our CSR activities, Autoliv Southern  
Africa started an AIDS program already in 2000 and we are now fortunate to have one of the lowest ratios of HIV positive employees 
in the country. The program includes education for our employees and their spouses with the objective of achieving no new infections. 
The Company actively supports AIDS orphaned children, some of them orphans to our ex-employees. We have also extended the 
program into our local supply base in South Africa. (The person on the picture is not directly related to the Autoliv’s Aids program).
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Certification of Excellence “ISO 14001” “Green as a Bank”

%

0

20

40

60

80

100

080706050403020100999897

% of sales% of facilities

0

2

4

6

8

10

Service 
Companies

Engineering
Industry

Ton CO2 /MSEK

A Competitive Tool  
Autoliv’s environmental management goes beyond 
the legal requirements, since recyclable and envi-
ronmentally friendly products have become a com-
petitive tool in the automotive industry. 

Most of our products are produced from steel 
and other metals, or plastics and other oil-based 
materials. The products are installed in vehicles 
where their weight will affect the fuel consumption 
and emissions during the entire life of the vehicle. 
Our products could also affect the environment 
when the vehicle is scrapped if careful attention is 
not paid to the material selection. 

As a result, we consider all phases of a prod-
uct’s life in a Life Cycle Analysis (LCA) rather than 
just the manufacturing phase that has in our case 
the least environmental impact. 

Before manufacturing  
The most significant contribution to the environ-
ment Autoliv can make before manufacturing starts 
is to design products that minimize the use of raw 
materials and resources, thereby limiting the envi-
ronmental impact from steel mills and other man-
ufacturers in our supply chain. 

We also work closely with our suppliers in sev-
eral other respects and encourage them to imple-
ment an international environmental management 
standard, preferably ISO 14001. We also require 
them to adhere to our environmental policy.  

Internal Improvements
It is our policy that every Autoliv facility should 
be certified according to ISO 14001 (see graph). 
The few remaining non-certified plants are es-
sentially new manufacturing facilities that have 
not yet been certified. 

We continuously monitor a number of other en-
vironmental indicators such as energy and water 
consumption and emissions. Because all indica-
tions point to our efficient use of these resources, 
we can focus on other improvements such as re-
ducing freight and packaging materials where we 
have the highest savings potential.

Carbon Dioxide (CO2) Emissions 
The emission level (measured in relation to sales) 
of the “greenhouse” gas CO2 from our produc-
tion is four to five times less than for an aver-
age engineering industry company making our 
level comparable to a bank or a service company  
(see graph). 

The most important contribution we can make 
to the environment is therefore to continue to de-
sign and develop low-weight environmentally 
friendly safety systems similar to the new innova-
tive products launched during 2008. 

For instance, the passenger airbag design 
launched in 2008 reduces weight by up to 25%. 
This is accomplished by using a unique fabric con-
tainer for the folded airbag, instead of a conven-
tional steel or plastic housing. Such weight sav-

Sustainable Development 
We actively contribute to a sustainable society through continuous 
improvements of the environmental impact of our operations and products.

ings will help car companies meet the stringent 
CO2 and CAFE (Corporate Average Fuel Econo-
my) requirements. 

After Delivery 
For our customers, our products contribute to 
the environment through lower weight that gen-
erates fuel and emission savings throughout the 
entire life of a vehicle.  

We actively support our customers in their en-
vironmental programs. We are, for instance, rep-
resented in the Ford Supplier Sustainability Forum 
together with ten other leading Ford suppliers who 
have a track record of being at the forefront of en-
vironmental management.

End of Life of Vehicle
Since 2006, the European directive End of Life of 
Vehicle (ELV) requires that 85% of all material in 
new vehicle models must be recoverable. The lev-
el will be raised to 95% by 2015.  

Although ELV only specifies recovery levels for 
the whole vehicle and not for individual compo-
nents, we make sure that our products meet or ex-
ceed the legal requirements. This is part of our 
strategy for sustainable development which also 
gives us a competitive advantage.  

In 2008, for instance, we introduced a new re-
cyclable material that can replace polyurethane as 
covering material for steering wheels.
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Capital Efficiency Cash Flow vs. Shareholder ReturnsCash Flow vs. Capital Expenditure
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Cash Flow Generation
During the last five years, Autoliv’s average oper-
ating cash generation has been $623 million per 
year with the highest level in 2007 of $781 million 
and the lowest in 2005 of $479 million. Operating 
cash flow has always exceeded capital expendi-
tures, even during the earlier market slow-down in 
2000 and 2001 (see graph). 

Autoliv’s strong cash flow reflects both the 
Company’s earnings performance as well as im-
provements in capital efficiency. This is illustrated 
by the fact that we have been able to grow sales 
faster than capital employed. As a result, our cap-
ital turnover rate (i.e. sales in relation to capital em-
ployed) has improved from 1.3 times in 1997 when 
the Company started operations to 1.9 times for 
2008 (see graph). This improvement is in spite of 
the sudden drop in light vehicle production in 2008 
that led to lower plant utilizations.

The improvement in capital efficiency reflects 
a number of initiatives such as plant consolida-
tions, outsourcing, simplification of manufacturing 
processes by product redesign and moving to low-
cost countries where less capital-intensive manu-
facturing processes can be utilized. Furthermore, 
growth has been achieved without any major ac-
quisitions. 

As a result, goodwill and other intangibles now 
correspond to 27% of net sales as compared to 
52% when the Company started operations. It is 
possible that this ratio could continue to improve 
long-term, because our total market is forecast to 

grow long term (including cyclical swings) driven 
by global light vehicle production and safer vehi-
cles. Consequently, acquisitions should not be re-
quired to grow Autoliv’s sales, although they can 
be beneficial as a means of accelerating growth 
(see “Acquisitions” below).  

Our Cash Flow model
When analyzing how to best use our operating 
cash flow ($614 million in 2008), the Autoliv 
Board uses the model on page 25 to create 
shareholder value.

 The model takes all important variables into ac-
count such as the cost of marginal borrowing, the 
return on marginal investments and the price of the 
Autoliv shares. When evaluating the various uses of 
cash, the Company weighs these decisions against 
the need for financial stability due to the cyclical na-
ture of the automotive industry.

Investing in Operations
To create long-term value for shareholders, cash 
flow from operations should only be used to fi-
nance investments in operations until the point 
when the return on investment no longer exceeds 
the cost of capital. Autoliv’s return on capital em-
ployed has during the last six years, except for 
2008, exceeded 12% and therefore exceeded the 
Company’s estimated cost of capital. 

During the last five years, this approach has re-
sulted in an average cash generation after capital 
expenditures of $309 million per year with the high-

est level in 2007 of $457 million and the lowest of 
$164 million in 2005. This cash flow measure has 
been affected by significant capacity expansions 
during 2004-07 when capital expenditures exceed-
ed depreciation and amortization and correspond-
ed to around 5% of sales. However, in 2008, these 
expenditures were $68 million less than deprecia-
tion and amortization, and corresponded to 4% of 
sales. We expect capital expenditure to continue 
at this lower level due to the low vehicle produc-
tion volumes expected. Therefore, we will benefit 
from this favorable cash flow effect during the next 
few years, although cash flow in 2009 will be neg-
atively impacted by lower sales, restructuring 
costs, low accounts receivable at the start of the 
year and cash outlays for provisions made in 2008 
for the action program. 

In addition, we expect to continue to meet our 
target of operating working capital by not exceed-
ing 10% of sales. At the end of 2008, this ratio was 
unusually low at 8.0%.

Acquisitions
Autoliv also invests in operations through acquisi-
tions. In recent years, our focus has been on ac-
quisitions in Asia and in the fast growing segment 
of active safety and safety electronics. 

During 2008, Autoliv acquired the automotive ra-
dar business of Tyco Electronics to become a mar-
ket leader in this segment of active safety systems. 
In 2008, the Company paid $49 million for acquisi-
tions (including a $7 million cash outlay from 2007).

Shareholders

Value-Creating Cash Flow
By creating customer satisfaction, maintaining tight cost control and developing new products with our dedi-
cated and motivated employees, we generate cash for long-term growth, competitive returns to shareholders 
and financial stability.
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Autoliv’s Model for Creating Shareholder Value
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Share Buybacks
Share repurchases are a more flexible way to re-
turn funds to shareholders than quarterly divi-
dends. For instance, when the credit markets are 
tight and the preservation of cash is prudent, hav-
ing the flexibility to reduce or suspend the share 
buybacks contributes to a company’s financial 
strength and stability. 

Consequently, during 2006 when cash flow 
from operations amounted to $560 million, we re-
turned $221 million to shareholders through share 
repurchases. In 2007, when the cash flow in-
creased to $781 million, we raised the return 
through share buybacks to $380 million, while in 
2008, we reduced the buyback return to $174 mil-
lion when operating cash flow was $614 million. In 
this way, Autoliv can achieve high financial stabil-
ity even in the cyclical automotive industry and ad-
just to even sudden changes in the credit market 
as we did during the autumn of 2008.

Autoliv tries to buy back shares opportunisti-
cally, i.e. more shares when there is deemed to be 
a dip in the share price and fewer shares when the 
share price is higher, because stock repurchases 
only create value if the share is undervalued.

Since the inception of the repurchase program in 
2000, 34 million shares have been repurchased for 
$1.5 billion at an average cost of $42.93 per share. 
Although this is more than the share price of $21.46 
at the end of 2008, due to the general plummeting 
of stock prices, management believes that the re-
turns will be favorable over a business cycle. 

Dividend
In 2008, Autoliv increased the dividend from 39 
cents per share for the second quarter to 41 cents 
per share for the third and fourth quarters, result-
ing in a total amount of $115 million for the year. 
The total cash dividends during 2008 of $1.60 per 
share represented a 3.9% return on the average 
share price during the year of $41.27. 

In December, the Autoliv Board decided to re-
duce the dividend for the first quarter 2009 to 21 
cents per share and in February to suspend fur-
ther dividend payments to preserve cash in re-
sponse to the deteriorating vehicle production 
outlook for 2009, continued constrains on the 
credit market, and the increased risk of custom-
er and supplier defaults

Dividend Policy
Since Autoliv uses both dividend payments and 
share buybacks to create shareholder value, the 
Company has no set dividend policy. Instead, the 
Board of Directors regularly analyzes which meth-
od is most efficient, at a given time, to create 
shareholder value. Management believes that such 
recurring analyses have the potential to generate 
more value for Autoliv’s shareholders than a pre-
defined dividend policy. 

Optimal Capital Structure
The final element in our shareholder value crea-
tion model is to ensure that Autoliv’s capital struc-
ture is optimal, especially for the Company’s own-

ers. Autoliv’s leverage ratio was 1.5 at the 
beginning of 2008 and the Company’s interest 
coverage ratio was 9.8, compared to our “Debt 
Policy” targets of significantly below 3.0 and sig-
nificantly above 2.75, respectively. Until the Leh-
man Brothers bankruptcy in September, when the 
interest rate on the Company’s marginal debt was 
around 5% or not even half of Autoliv’s long-term 
return on equity of at least 12%, it was still prof-
itable to increase leverage. Hence, net debt was 
increased modestly or by 8% or $97 million to 
$1,279 million at the end of September but then 
net debt was decreased by $84 million during just 
one quarter. The fact that net debt during the full 
year did not increase more despite dividends, 
share buybacks and acquisitions totalling $336 
million creates a debt protection buffer for the 
Company going forward.

Total Funds Returned to Shareholders
In 2008, the use of our Shareholder Value Crea-
tion Model resulted in a total return to the Auto-
liv shareholders of $289 million. This corresponds 
to a total yield of 9.8%, i.e. total returns in rela-
tion to Autoliv’s average market capitalization dur-
ing 2008. 

Share Price Performance
As a result of these value creating strategies, the 
Autoliv stock has outperformed most of its auto-
motive industry peers on the New York Stock Ex-
change (see next page). 
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Shareholders

Share Performance
Over the past five years the Autoliv stock has out-
performed its industry peers in the S&P 1500 
Auto Components index. 

new York
Between the beginning of 2004 and until the end 
of 2008, the Autoliv share declined by 43% to 
$21.46 on the primary market for the Autoliv se-
curities, i.e. the New York Stock Exchange 
(NYSE). However, the S&P 1500 Auto  Components 
index dropped by 55%. The S&P 500 index de-
creased by 19% during the same period. 

During 2008, the S&P 500 fell by 38%, and 
the S&P 1500 Auto Components Index by 54% 
while the Autoliv stock declined by 60%. 

The average daily trading volume in Autoliv 
shares was 387,152 in New York (compared to 
340,566 in 2007). 

Stockholm
In Stockholm, the price of the Autoliv Swedish De-
pository Receipt (SDR) declined by 42% to 158 
SEK during the five-year period 2004 through 2008. 
Compared to the new automotive index that was 
commenced at the end of 2006, Autoliv’s SDR has 
declined in line with its peers in Sweden.  

The average daily trading volume in Stock-
holm was 200,200 during 2008 compared to 
219,238 during 2007. 

In 2008, the Autoliv SDR was the 43rd most 
traded security in Stockholm, accounting for 0.3% 
of the trading compared to 0.3% during 2007. In 
Stockholm, Autoliv’s SDRs are traded on the stock 
exchange’s list for large market capitalization 
companies .

number of Shares
Due to Autoliv’s share repurchase program the 
number of shares outstanding, net of treasury 
shares, decreased during 2008 by 8% to 70.3 
million from 73.8 million on December 31, 
2007. 

The weighted average numbers of shares 
outstanding (assuming dilution) was 72.1 million 
during 2008 and 78.3 million during 2007. Dur-
ing 2008, the Company repurchased 3,709,460 
shares for $174 million corresponding to an av-
erage cost per share of $46.77. 

Stock options and granted Restricted Stock Units 
(RSUs) could, if exercised, increase the number of 
shares outstanding by 1,213,977 and 234,259 re-
spectively (see Note 15 on page 58). This would 
increase the total number of shares by 2.0% to 
73.5 million. 

In November 2007, the Board of Directors au-
thorized a fourth Share Repurchase Program for 
up to 7.5 million of the Company’s shares. On 
December 31, 2008, 3.2 million shares remained 
of this mandate for repurchases.

number of Shareholders
Autoliv estimates that the total number of bene-
ficial Autoliv owners on December 31, 2008, ex-
ceeded 70,000 and that approximately 80% of 
the Autoliv securities were held in the U.S. and 
approximately 5% in Sweden. Most of the re-
maining  Autoliv securities were held in the U.K. 
and Central Europe. 

On December 31, 2008, Autoliv’s U.S. stock 
registrar had nearly 3,500 holders of Autoliv 
stock, and according to our soliciting agent, there 
were over 60,000 beneficial holders that held Au-
toliv shares in a “street name” through a bank, 
broker or other nominee. 

According to the depository bank in Sweden, 
there were 3,000 record holders of the Autoliv 
SDRs and according to the Swedish soliciting 
agent nearly 6,000 “street holders” of the SDRs. 
Many of these holders are nominees for other, 
non-Swedish nominees.

The largest shareholders known to the Com-
pany are shown in the table on the next page.

Stock Incentive Plan
Under the Autoliv, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan 
adopted by the Shareholders and as further 
amended, awards have been made to selected 
executive officers of the Company and other key 
employees in the form of:

Stock options •	
Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) •	

All options are granted for ten-year terms, have 
an exercise price equal to the fair market value 
of the share at the date of the grant, and become 
exercisable after one year of continued employ-
ment following the grant date. Each RSU repre-
sents a promise to transfer one of the Compa-

ny’s shares to the employee after three years of 
service following the date of grant or upon retire-
ment (see Note 1 on page 47 and Note 15 on 
page 58).

Dividends
If possible, quarterly dividends are paid on the first 
Thursday in the last month of each quarter. The 
record date is usually one month earlier and the ex 
date (when the stock trades without the right to 
the dividend) is typically two days before the record 
date. Quarterly dividends are declared separately 
by the Board, announced in press releases and 
published on Autoliv’s corporate website. 

The dividends paid in the first two quarters 
of 2008 were 39 cents per share and in the oth-
er two quarters 41 cents. Total cash dividends 
of $115 million were paid in 2008, a decrease of 
4.5% compared to 2007 due to the share repur-
chase program. 

On December 16, 2008, the Company de-
clared a dividend of 21 cents per share for the 
first quarter 2009 and on February 17, 2009, sus-
pended further dividend payments due to the fi-
nancial turmoil and market uncertainty.

Annual General meeting
Autoliv’s next Annual General Meeting of Share-
holders will be held on Wednesday, May 6, 2009, 
at The Four Seasons Hotel, 120 East Delaware 
Place, Chicago, Illinois, 60611 USA.

Shareholders are urged to vote on the  Internet 
whether or not they plan to attend the meeting. 

Public Information Disclosure
We report significant events to shareholders, an-
alysts, media and interested members of the pub-
lic in a timely and transparent manner and give 
all constituencies the information simultaneous-
ly. All relevant public information is reported ob-
jectively. Information given by Investor Relations 
is authorized by the Management. 

Financial Calendar
April 21, 2009 Q1 Report
May 6, 2009 Shareholders AGM
July 21, 2009 Q2 Report
October 20, 2009 Q3 Report

Share Performance and Shareholder Information
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ABG SUnDAL COLLIER 

Erik Pettersson

R.W. BAIRD 

David Leiker

BUCkInGHAm RESEARCH

Joseph Amaturo

CARnEGIE 

Björn Enarson

CHEUVREUX 

Patrik Sjöblom

DAnSkE

Carl Holmquist

DEUTSCHE BAnk 

Rod Lache

EnSkILDA SECURITIES 

Anders Trapp

EVLI 

Michael Anderson

GOLDmAn SACHS 

Stefan Burgstaller

HAGSTRÖmER & QVIBERG 

Patric Lindqvist

HAnDELSBAnkEn 

Hampus Engellau

J P mORGAn 

Himanshu Patel

kEY BAnC 

Brett Hoselton

mERRILL LYnCH 

Thomas Besson

mOnnES, CRESPI, HARDT & CO 

Nick Pantazis

mORGAn STAnLEY 

David Cramer

nOmURA 

Dorothee Helmuth

ÖHmAn 

Fredrik Nilhov

PEnSER

Kenneth Toll

SIDOTI & COmPAnY 

Adam Brooks

SOCIÉTÉ GÉnÉRALE 

Eric Michelis

STAnDARD & POOR’S 

Poors Marnie 

SWEDBAnk 

Anders Bruzelius

Analysts

 % no. of Shares Holder name
 12.2 8,541,816 Alliance Bernstein LP 
 6.4 4,482,525 Lord Abbett & Co. LLC 
 5.4 3,810,100 LSV Asset Management 
 5.1 3,560,206 Morgan Stanley
 4.4 3,070,722 Barclays Global Investors NA 
 0.9 906,751 Management/Directors  
   as a group2,3)                                            
 100.0 70,302,000 Total December 31, 2008

1) Known to the Company, out of more than 70,000 shareholders 2) As of 
February 20, 2009. 3) Includes 413,545 shares issuable upon exercise of 
options that are exercisable within 60 days.

The Largest Shareholders1)Key Stock Price Data

Share Price and Dividends

new York Price ($) Date
Opening 53.07 Jan 2, 2008
Year high 62.63 May 1, 2008
Year low 14.49 Nov 21, 2008
Closing 21.46 Dec 31, 2008
All-time high 65.09 Oct 19, 2007
All-time low 13.25 Sep 21, 2001

Stockholm Price (SEk) Date
Opening 345.50 Jan 2, 2008
Year high 374.00 May 2, 2008
Year low 122.75 Nov 20, 2008
Closing 158.00 Dec 30, 2008
All-time high 451.00 Mar 24, 2006 
All-time low 122.75 Nov 20, 2008

Contact Information
Board Contact/Corporate 
Compliance  Counsel
c/o Vice President Legal Affairs Autoliv, Inc. / 
Box 70381, SE-107 24 Stockholm, Sweden,  
Tel +46 (0)8 58 72 06 00, Fax +46 (0)8 58 72 06 
33, legalaffairs@autoliv.com

The Board, the independent directors, as well 
as the committees of the Board can be contact-

ed using the address above. Contact can be 
made anonymously and communication with 
the independent directors is not screened. The 
relevant chairman receives all such communi-
cation after it has been determined that the con-
tent represents a message to such chairman.

Stock Transfer Agent & Registrar
Internet: www.computershare.com 
(formerly Equiserve)

Investor Requests north America
Autoliv, Inc., c/o Autoliv Electronics America, 
26545 American Drive, Southfield, MI 48034.  
Tel +1 (248) 475-0427, Fax +1 (801) 625-6672, 
ray.pekar@autoliv.com

Investor Requests Rest of the World
Autoliv, Inc., Box 70381, SE-107 24, Stock-
holm, Sweden. Tel +46 (0)8 58 72 06 23, Fax 
+46 (0)8 411 70 25, mats.odman@autoliv.com

     
 new York (US$) Stockholm (SEk) Dividend Dividend
Period  High Low Close  High Low Close Declared Paid
Q1 2008  $53.77 $44.00 $50.20  346 279 296.5 $0.39 $0.39
Q2 2008  62.63 46.45 46.62  374 280 282.5 0.41 0.39
Q3 2008  47.03 32.91 33.75  286 219.5 231.5 0.41 0.41
Q4 2008  33.19 14.50 21.46  232.5 122.75 158 0.21 0.41

Q1 2007  62.12 55.50 57.11  438 385 399 0.39 0.37
Q2 2007  61.83 56.04 56.87  417 379 391 0.39 0.39
Q3 2007  60.29 51.32 59.75  407 359 389 0.39 0.39
Q4 2007  $65.09 $52.50 $52.71  421 338 350 $0.39 $0.39



28    AUTOLIV ANNUAL REPORT 2008

management’s Discussion 
and Analysis

Light Vehicle Production
The most important growth driver for Autoliv’s sales 
is global light vehicle production (LVP). 

Both during 2006 and 2007, the long-term 
trend of increasing global LVP continued. The 
growth rates recorded were approximately 5% 
and 6%, respectively. However, in the second half 
of 2008 this trend came to a sudden pause due 
to the credit crunch. This resulted in a decline in 
global LVP of 2% in the third quarter and of 21% 
in the fourth quarter, leading to an overall decline 
of 4% for the full year. 

The declines were particularly severe in West-
ern Europe and North America where Autoliv gen-
erates more than 70% of its sales. In Western Eu-
rope, LVP declined by 9% in 2008 after having 
increased by 3% in 2007 and declined by 2% in 
2006. In North America, LVP dropped by 16% in 
2008, significantly more than the declines of 2% 
in 2007 and of 3% in 2006. 

There has also been an accelerating decline in 
production of premium cars and light trucks. Dur-
ing these years, global production for these vehi-
cle segments has dropped by 20% from the 2005 
level compared to an overall increase of global LVP 
of almost 6%. Since premium cars and light trucks 
generally have more safety systems – and more 
advanced safety systems – than the global aver-
age safety value per vehicle of $275, the effect of 
the mix shift was significant. 

In addition, the global market share for General 
Motors, Ford and Chrysler, which accounted for 22% 
(excl. Volvo’s 4%) of Autoliv’s net sales in 2008, has 
shrunk to 21% in 2008 from 27% in 2005.  

In response to these trends we have, for many 
years, strengthened Autoliv’s position globally with 
the Japanese and other Asian vehicle manufactur-
ers which have increased their output by 16% from 
the 2005 levels. As a result, these customers ac-
counted for 29% of consolidated sales in 2008 
compared to 27% in 2005. For additional informa-
tion on Autoliv’s dependence on certain custom-
ers and vehicle models, see page 38.

We have also made substantial investments in 
Korea, Thailand, China and India – as well as in 
Eastern Europe – to take advantage of strong LVP 
growth in emerging markets. In our Rest of the 

World Region (RoW) which includes, for instance, 
Korea and the Asian emerging markets, LVP has 
risen by 32% since 2005, which has primarily driv-
en demand for seatbelts. As a result, the Rest of 
the World accounted for 12% of net sales in 2008 
compared to 9% in 2005, and seatbelt sales ac-
counted for 36% of our total net sales in 2008 
compared to 34% in 2005.

These investments in emerging markets, along 
with growing business with Asian customers and 
strong demand for side curtain airbags, enabled 
Autoliv to keep its organic sales (non-US GAAP 
measure, see page 31) at the 2005 level both in 
2006 and 2007 despite pricing pressure from cus-
tomers and weak LVP in our major markets in North 
America and Western Europe. However, in the sec-
ond half of 2008, the outbreak of the credit crisis 
caused organic sales to drop by 7% in the third 
quarter and by 26% in the fourth quarter, resulting 
in an overall decline of 10% for the year. 

Safety Content per Vehicle
Historically, safety content per vehicle has in-
creased by 3% per year since 1997. However, dur-
ing the last three years, the average safety value 

has stood virtually unchanged at approximately 
$270 per vehicle despite the introduction of new 
safety technologies, regulations and various rat-
ing programs of crash performance. This stagna-
tion is caused by the combined effects of pricing 
pressure in the automotive industry and of the 
above-mentioned mix changes in global LVP to-
wards smaller, less-equipped vehicles, often for 
the emerging markets. 

However, the safety standards of vehicles in 
the emerging markets are improving. China, for 
instance, introduced in 2006 a rating program 
for crash performance of new vehicles. In addi-
tion, both NHTSA in the U.S. and the Euro NCAP 
are currently in the process of upgrading their 
crash-test rating programs. The growth in the av-
erage global value of safety systems is, there-
fore, expected to resume, albeit at a lower rate 
than historically. 

Cost Challenges 
During 2006, Autoliv was forced to absorb $20 mil-
lion in higher costs due to increasing raw material 
prices and, in 2007, an additional $20 million. In 
2008, these costs accelerated and increased by 

Important Trends
Autoliv, Inc. (“the Company”) provides advanced technology products for the automotive market. In the 
three-year period 2006-2008 (the time period required by the SEC to be reviewed in this analysis), a  
number of trends have influenced the Company’s operations. The most significant trends have been in:
– Changes in global light vehicle production
– Pause in growth of the average safety content per vehicle 
– Costs for raw materials and distressed suppliers
– Action program started in 2008 and other restructuring activities
– Increased financial turmoil 

Years ended Dec. 31 
(U.S. Dollars) 20082) 20072,3) 20062,4) 
Consolidated net sales (million) $6,473 (4)% $6,769 +9% $6,188 0%
Global light vehicle production     
    (in thousands)  66,090 (4)% 68,876 +6% 65,242 +5%
Gross profit (million)1) $1,124 (16)% $1,331 +5% $1,265 0%
Gross margin 17.4% (2.3)% 19.7% (0.7)% 20.4% 0% 
Operating income (million) $306 (39)% $502 (3)% $520 +1%
Operating margin 4.7% (2.7)% 7.4% (1.0)% 8.4% +0.1%
Net income (million) $165 (43)% $288 (28)% $402 +37%
Net margin 2.5% (1.8)% 4.3% (2.2)% 6.5% +1.8%
Earnings per share $2.28 (38)% $3.68 (25)% $4.88 +50%
Return on equity 7% (5)% 12% (5)% 17% +5%

1) In 2008, affected by $8 million for fixed asset impairment associated with restructuring (see Note 10). 
2) In 2008, 2007 and 2006, severance and restructuring costs reduced operating income by $80, $24 and $13 million and net 

income by $55, $16 and $9 million. This corresponds to 1.2%, 0.4% and 0.2% on operating margins, and 0.8%, 0.2% and 
0.1% on net margins. The impact on EPS was $0.76, $0.21 and $0.11, while return on equity was reduced by 2.3%, 0.6% 
and 0.4% for the same three year period (see page 29 and Note 10). 

3) In 2007, a court ruling reduced operating income $30 million, net income $20 million, operating margin by 0.5%, net margin 
by 0.3%, EPS by $0.26 and return on equity by 0.8% (see page 30).

4) In 2006, a release of tax reserves and other discrete tax items boosted net income by $95 million, net margin by 1.5%, EPS 
by $1.15 and return on equity by 3.9% (see page 30).
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another $59 million from 2007, primarily due to 
higher steel and magnesium prices. For addition-
al information on the Company’s exposure to raw 
materials and component costs refer to page 37. 

These increasing raw material prices have, in 
combination with the pricing pressure in the auto-
motive industry – and, in 2008, the credit crisis – 
caused severe problems for some Autoliv suppli-
ers. As a result, we had to absorb approximately 
an extra $14 million in 2008 in higher costs for fi-
nancially distressed suppliers. This was $2 million 
more than in 2007 which, in turn, was $12 million 
more than in 2006. In response to these trends, we 
have further expanded our global sourcing pro-
grams, consolidated Autoliv’s supplier base, 
phased-out unprofitable products and increased 
component sourcing in low-cost countries.

However, the underlying commodity inflation 
has been so strong during the last few years that 
the former positive trend of lower direct materi-
al costs in relation to sales reversed and, as a 
consequence, direct material cost rose to 52.4% 
of net sales in 2008 from 51.0% in 2007 and 
49.6% in 2006. 

Restructuring
In response to the sudden LVP cuts by custom-
ers and accelerating cost for raw materials, we 
announced in July 2008 an action program (“The 
Action Program”) that stepped up our restruc-
turing efforts significantly. Restructuring costs 
therefore increased to $80 million for 2008        
(i.e. 1.2% of net sales), from $24 million in 2007 
(i.e. 0.4% of net sales) and $13 million in 2006 
(i.e. 0.2% of net sales). 

Of the 2008 restructuring cost, $74 million was 
specifically related to The Action Program, of which 
$33 million was recorded in the third quarter and 
the rest in the fourth quarter. 

During the fall 2008, the combined effect of 
The Action Program as well as of other activities 
in response to the market development reduced 
headcount by nearly 5,900. The Action Program 
and other actions taken in response to the mar-
ket turmoil, generated estimated cost savings of 
nearly $30 million. See also Note 10 to Consoli-
dated Financial Statements included herein for 
further information on restructuring and The Ac-
tion Program. 

Labor Cost Improvements 
The previously mentioned expansion in emerging 
markets has also enabled Autoliv to move produc-
tion and take advantage of lower costs in these 
low-cost countries (LCC). 

In high-cost countries (HCC), headcount has 
been cut by nearly 6,500 or 28% during the three-
year period to 16,900 at the end of 2008, while 
headcount in LCC increased by 4,900 or 32% since 
2005 to 20,400. These shifts of production are es-

timated to have generated labor cost savings in the 
magnitude of $20 million in 2008, $120 million in 
2007, and $100 million in 2006 or approximately 
one quarter of a billion dollars during the full three-
year period 2006 through 2008. 

As a result, cost for direct labor has been re-
duced, despite annual wage increases to our em-
ployees, to 9.6% of sales in 2008 from levels above 
10% in the previous three-year period. This im-
provement also reflects annual productivity im-
provements of 6% in 2008, 7% in 2007 and 8% in 
2006, well in line with Autoliv’s target of at least 
5% per year.

However, there was also a temporary negative 
impact on margins from the expansion in emerg-
ing markets, primarily in China. This was due to 
costs for training new line operators as well as for 
depreciation of new buildings and manufacturing 
equipment since capacity in these new facilities 
was not planned to reach full utilization until 2009, 
at the earliest. As a result, in 2007, start-up costs 
jumped to $23 million and remained above the $20 
million level during 2008. This corresponds to a 
negative margin effect of 0.3% for both years. 

Increased financial turmoil
During 2008, the credit markets became increas-
ingly tighter resulting in a liquidity crisis in the fall. 
Towards the end of the year, General Motors, and 
Chrysler announced that they were approaching 
the minimum liquidity levels required for contin-
uing operations and asked for government finan-
cial assistance. Also Ford said it might need such 
assistance, though not immediately. Both GM and 
Chrysler received temporary financial assistance 
to enable them to develop and submit restructur-
ing plans by mid-February 2009 for a final deci-
sion on federal assistance. Autoliv’s two commer-
cial paper programs were also affected by the 
credit crisis during the fall of 2008 in terms of 
higher interest rate margins, shorter terms and 
less available volume. 

In response to these trends, we have increased 
Autoliv’s focus on preserving cash and strengthen-
ing the Company’s cash position. After the Lehman 

Brothers bankruptcy and in response to the market 
uncertainties, Autoliv raised SEK 1,950 million (US 
$250 million) in credit facilities and notes (both me-
dium-term), drew $500 million from its existing re-
volving credit facility (RCF) and suspended buying 
back shares. As with the existing RCF, the new fa-
cilities and notes were made available to us without 
any financial covenants i.e. no performance related 
restrictions (see Note 12).

Thanks to these precautionary measures and 
continued strong cash flow in 2008, Autoliv had 
$489 million in cash on hand at December 31, 
2008. We currently believe that this cash position, 
plus $664 million in unutilized credit facilities, 
should be adequate to cover upcoming capital 
market debt maturities during 2009 of $399 mil-
lion, expected negative cash flows during the be-
ginning of the year, and potential customer defaults 
during 2009 (for further information see Customer 
Payment Risks on page 38). These funds and cred-
it lines should be adequate, we currently believe, 
even if the Company’s major short-term refinanc-
ing source – i.e. commercial paper market – does 
not provide adequate refinancing for Autoliv dur-
ing 2009. However, as an additional precaution, 
the Company’s Board of Directors decided on De-
cember 16, 2008 to reduce the quarterly dividend 
to 21 cents per share for the first quarter 2009 from 
41 cents for the previous quarter and, on Febru-
ary 17, 2009 to suspend further dividend payments 
in order to preserve cash.

One way for Autoliv to maintain a stable position 
stems from our flexible way of returning funds to 
shareholders. During 2006, when cash flow from op-
erations amounted to $560 million, we returned $222 
million to shareholders through share repurchases 
(in addition to $112 million through dividends). In 
2007, when cash flow improved to $781 million, we 
raised the return through share buybacks to $380 
million (plus $121 million in dividends), while we re-
duced the buyback return to $174 million during 
2008 (plus $115 million in dividends) when cash flow 
from operations shrunk to $614 million. 

At the end of 2008, the Company was in compli-
ance with all its financial policies (see page 39-40).    

Selected Consolidated Data for Autoliv Inc. in Swedish krona (SEk)
  Change  Change 
 2008 2008/2007 2007 2007/2006 2006
Net sales (million) 42,637 (6.8)% 45,748 0.2% 45,647
Income before income
   taxes (million) 1,638 (46)% 3,014 (15)% 3,552
Net income (million) 1,085 (44)% 1,946 (34)%  2,968
Earnings per share 15.02 (40)% 24.87 (31)% 35.97

(Average exchange rates: $1 = SEK 6.59 for 2008; $1 = SEK 6.76 for 2007; and $1 = SEK 7.38 for 2006)
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The following items have affected the compara-
bility of reported results from year to year. We be-
lieve that, to assist in understanding trends in Au-
toliv’s operations, it is useful to consider certain 
U.S. GAAP measures exclusive of these items. 
Accordingly, the accompanying tables reconcile 
from U.S. GAAP numbers to the equivalent non-
U.S. GAAP measure.

Court ruling
Following a ruling in the second quarter 2007 by the 
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, we in-
creased Autoliv’s legal reserves by $30 million to cov-
er damages and interest expense to a former sup-
plier. An amount of $36 million, including the original 
reserve of $6 million, was paid in the fourth quarter 
for this commercial dispute that was finally closed in 
2008 (see note 16) without any additional damages 
or interest expenses for Autoliv. 

The unexpected incremental cost in 2007 of $30 
million reduced operating margin by 0.5 percentage 
points, net income by $20 million, earnings per 
share (assuming dilution) by 26 cents, operating 
working capital by $20 million and return on equity 
by 0.8 percentage points. Cash flow was reduced 
by $36 million. All figures are approximates.

Discrete Tax Items
The third and the fourth quarters of 2006 were affect-
ed by a total of $95 million from releases of tax reserves 

Effects in 2007 of Court Ruling  
 Reported Effects Adjusted
Operating income (million) $502 $30 $532
Operating margin  7.4% 0.5% 7.9%
Income before taxes (million) $446 $30 $476
Net income (million) $288 $20 $308
Capital employed $3,531 $20 $3,551
Earning per share (assuming dilution) $3.68 $0.26 $3.94
Equity per share $31.83 $0.28 $32.11
Return on equity 12.0% 0.8% 12.8%

Effects in 2006 of Discrete Tax Items
 Reported Effects Adjusted
Net income (million) $402 $951) $307
Net margin 6.5% 1.5% 5.0%
Operating working capital/sales 11.7% 1.4% 10.3%
Earnings per share (assuming dilution) $4.88 $1.15 $3.73
Return on equity 17.1% 3.9% 13.2%
Effective tax rate 12.2% 19.7% 31.9%

1) Consisting of $69 million from release of tax reserves and $26 million from other discrete tax items. 

Items Affecting Comparability

and other discrete items (see Note 4 on page 51). 
Consequently, as shown in the table above, the ef-
fective tax rate was reduced by 19.7 percentage 
points, which boosted net income by $95 million, 
earnings per share (assuming dilution) by $1.15 and 
return on equity by 3.9 percentage points. In addi-
tion, operating working capital was boosted by 1.4 

percentage points in relation to sales. In 2007, the 
Company’s effective tax rate was 33.7%, and was 
negatively impacted by 1.8 percentage points for 
discrete tax items. 

In 2008, the Company’s effective tax rate was 
30.7%, and the impact of discrete tax items was 
not material.

This Annual Report contains statements that are not 
historical facts but rather forward-looking state-
ments within the meaning of the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-look-
ing statements are those that address activities, 
events or developments that Autoliv, Inc. or its man-
agement believes or anticipates may occur in the 
future, including statements relating to industry 
trends, business opportunities, sales contracts, 
sales backlog, on-going commercial arrangements 
and discussions, as well as any statements about 
future operating performance or financial results.

In some cases, you can identify these state-
ments by forward-looking words such as “esti-
mates,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “projects,” 
“plans,” “intends,” “believes,” “might,” “will,” 
“should,” or the negative of these terms and oth-
er comparable terminology, although not all for-
ward-looking statements are so identified. 

All such forward-looking statements, includ-
ing without limitation, management’s examina-
tion of historical operating trends and data, are 
based upon our current expectations and vari-
ous assumptions or data from third parties and 
apply only as of the date of this report. Our ex-

pectations and beliefs are expressed in good faith 
and we believe there is a reasonable basis for 
them. However, there can be no assurance that 
such forward-looking statements will materialize 
or prove to be correct as these assumptions are 
inherently subject to significant uncertainties and 
contingencies which are difficult or impossible to 
predict and are beyond our control. 

Because these forward-looking statements 
involve risks and uncertainties, the outcome 
could differ materially from those set out in the 
forward-looking statements for a variety of rea-
sons, including without limitation, changes in and 
the successful execution of The Action Program 
discussed herein and the market reaction there-
to, changes in general industry and market con-
ditions, increased competition, higher raw mate-
rial, fuel and energy costs, changes in consumer 
preferences for end products, customer losses 
and changes in regulatory conditions, customer 
bankruptcies, consolidations or restructuring, di-
vestiture of customer brands, the economic out-
look for the Company’s markets, fluctuation of 
foreign currencies, fluctuation in vehicle produc-
tion schedules for which the Company is a sup-

plier, continued uncertainty in program awards 
and performance, the financial results of compa-
nies in which Autoliv has made technology in-
vestments, pricing negotiations with customers, 
increased costs, supply issues, product liability, 
warranty and recall claims and other litigations, 
possible adverse results of pending or future lit-
igation or infringement claims, legislative or reg-
ulatory changes, tax assessments by govern-
mental authorit ies, pol it ical condit ions, 
dependence on customers and suppliers, as well 
the risks identified in the section “Risks and Risk 
Management” on page 37-40 and in Item 1.A, 
“Risk Factors” in our 10-K filed with the SEC. Ex-
cept for the Company’s ongoing obligation to dis-
close information under the U.S. federal securi-
ties laws, the Company undertakes no obligation 
to update publicly any forward-looking state-
ments whether as a result of new information or 
future events. 

For any forward-looking statements contained 
in this or any other document, we claim the pro-
tection of the safe harbor for forward-looking 
statements contained in the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

“Safe Harbor Statement”
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non-U.S. GAAP Performance measures
In this Annual Report we sometimes refer to non-
U.S. GAAP measures that we and securities ana-
lysts use in measuring Autoliv’s performance. 

We believe that these measures assist inves-
tors in analyzing trends in the  Company’s busi-
ness for the reasons given below. Investors 

should not consider these non-U.S. GAAP meas-
ures as substitutes, but rather as additions to fi-
nancial reporting measures prepared in accord-
ance with U.S. GAAP.

These non-U.S. GAAP measures have been 
identified, as applicable, in each section of this An-

nual Report with tabular presentations on this 
page, page 30 and page 40, reconciling them to 
U.S. GAAP.

It should be noted that these measures, as de-
fined, may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures used by other companies.

Organic Sales
We analyze the Company’s sales trends and perform-
ance as changes in “organic sales growth”, because 
the Company generates more than 80% of net sales 
in other currencies than in the reporting currency (i.e. 
U.S. dollars) and currency rates have proven to be 

Components in Sales Increase/Decrease (Dollars in millions)
 Europe n. America Japan RoW Total
2008 vs. 2007 % $ % $ % $ % $ % $
Organic change (12.3) (449.6) (11.7) (199.6) 3.3 20.7 (2.2) (17.1) (9.5) (645.6)
Currency effects 6.1 223.4 (0.3) (5.1) 14.7 92.1 (1.4) (10.8) 4.4 299.6
Acquisitions/divestitures 0.1 4.1 0.2 3.2 – – 5.6 42.9 0.7 50.2
Reported change (6.1) (222.1) (11.8) (201.5) 18.0 112.8 2.0 15.0 (4.4) (295.8)

 Europe n. America Japan RoW Total
2007 vs. 2006 % $ % $ % $ % $ % $
Organic sales growth 3.6 115.5 (0.6) (9.8) 13.5 75.3 10.5 68.6 4.0 249.6
Effect of exchange rates  9.0 294.0 0.0 0.0 (1.4) (7.4) 5.5 36.3 5.3 322.9
Impact of acquisitions – – – – – – 1.3 8.5 0.1 8.5
Reported net sales change 12.6 409.5 (0.6) (9.8) 12.1 67.9 17.3 113.4 9.4 581.0

Reconciliation of “Operating working capital” to U.S. GAAP measure
(Dollars in millions)
 December 31 December 31 December 31 
 2008 2007 2006
Total current assets $2,086.3 $2,095.2 $2,098.4
Total current liabilities (1,380.7) (1,663.3) (1,531.6)
Working capital 705.6 431.9 566.8
Cash and cash equivalents (488.6) (153.8) (168.1)
Short-term debt 270.0 311.9 294.1
Derivative asset and liability, current 15.9 (4.4) 1.2
Dividends payable 14.8 28.8 29.6
Operating working capital $517.7 $614.4 $723.6

Reconciliation of “net debt” to U.S. GAAP measure
(Dollars in millions)
 December 31 December 31 December 31 
 2008 2007 2006
Short-term debt $270.0 $311.9 $294.1
Long-term debt 1,401.1 1,040.3 887.7
Total debt 1,671.1 1,352.2 1,181.8
Cash and cash equivalents (488.6) (153.8) (168.1)
Debt-related derivatives 12.8 (16.5) (3.3)
net debt $1,195.3 $1,181.9 $1,010.4

Operating Working Capital
Due to the need to optimize cash generation to 
create value for shareholders, management fo-
cuses on operating working capital as defined in 
the table to the right. 

The reconciling items used to derive this meas-
ure are, by contrast, managed as part of our over-
all management of cash and debt, but they are not 
part of the responsibilities of day-to-day operations’ 
management. 

net Debt
As part of efficiently managing the Company’s over-
all cost of funds, we routinely enter into “debt-re-
lated derivatives” (DRD) as part of our debt man-
agement. The most notable fair-value DRD’s were 
in connection with the 2007 issue of U.S. Private 
Placements (see page 36). 

Creditors and credit rating agencies use net debt 
adjusted for DRD’s in their analyses of the Compa-
ny’s debt. This non-U.S. GAAP measure was used, 
for instance, in certain covenants for the Company’s 
Revolving Credit Facility when it still had covenants. 

By adjusting for DRD’s, the total economic l iability 
of net debt is disclosed without grossing it up with 
currency or interest fair market values that are offset 
by DRD’s reported in other balance sheet captions.

very volatile. Another reason for using organic sales 
is the fact that the Company has historically made 
several acquisitions and divestitures. 

Organic sales presents the increase or decrease 
in the overall U.S. dollar net sales on a comparable 

basis, allowing separate discussions of the impact 
of acquisitions/divestitures and exchange rates. 

The tabular reconciliation below presents chang-
es in “organic sales growth” as reconciled to the 
change in total U.S. GAAP net sales. 
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Year Ended December 31, 2008 Versus Year Ended December 31, 2007
net Sales
Net sales for 2008 decreased by 4% or by $296 
million to $6,473 million due to a $646 million de-
cline in organic sales (non-U.S. GAAP measure, see 
page 31), partly offset by currency effects of $300 
million or 4% and acquisitions (see page 34) which 
added $50 million or less than 1% of net sales. 

Organic sales declined by 9.5%, in line with 
the overall decline in North American and Europe-
an LVP of 9.4%. 

Organic sales decreased by 3% in the first 
quarter compared to the same period in 2007, by 
1% in the second, by 7% in the third and by 26% 
in the fourth quarter when the credit crisis hit ve-
hicle  demand. 

Organic sales of airbag products decreased by 
10%, primarily due to a 16% drop in North Amer-
ican and a 9% decline in Western European LVP. 
Despite the tough market, sales of side curtain air-
bags continued to increase organically through 
introductions of the product into an increasing 
number of vehicle models globally. 

Organic sales of seatbelt products declined 
by 9% despite market share gains in North Amer-
ica and strong LVP during most of the year in 
emerging markets. However, this was not enough 
to offset the LVP declines in established markets 
throughout the year, exacerbated by a sudden 
drop in LVP in the emerging markets towards the 
end of the year. There was also a negative vehi-
cle model mix shift due to the sharp decline in 
Western European LVP.  

In Europe, where Autoliv generates more than 
half of net sales, organic sales declined by 12%, 
which was due to the 9% decline in LVP in West-
ern Europe where Autoliv generates 90% of its 
European revenues. Sales were also affected by 
a negative vehicle model mix due to the change-
over of some important vehicle models such as 
the Renault Megane and the Volkswagen Golf. 
Sales to Eastern Europe (e.g. Avtovaz in Russia) 
and with respect to small cars (e.g. BMW’s Mini 
and Ford’s Kuga) performed well until demand 
succumbed to the credit crisis in the fall.  

In North America, which accounts for almost one 
quarter of net sales, organic sales declined by 12%. 
This was less than the 16% decrease in North Amer-
ican LVP thanks to Autoliv’s relatively low exposure 
to SUVs and other light trucks which dropped by 
25% in production volumes. Instead, Autoliv bene-
fited from increasing demand for some smaller cars 
such as Chevrolet’s Malibu and Traverse; Buick’s 
Enclave; and Saturn’s Aura.

In Japan, which accounts for just over one 
tenth of net sales, organic sales grew by 3% 
compared to the Japanese light vehicle produc-
tion that declined by 1%. Autoliv’s strong per-
formance reflects rapidly growing installation 
rates for side curtain airbags.  

In the Rest of the World (RoW), which generates 
more than one tenth of net sales, organic sales de-
clined by 2% primarily due to a 6% decrease in LVP 
in Korea, which is the dominant market for airbags 
and other safety systems in our RoW-region.

Gross margin
In 2008, gross profit decreased by 15% or $206 
million to $1,124 million and gross margin to 
17.4% from 19.7% in 2007. This was due to sev-
eral reasons, primarily lower sales caused by the 
sharp LVP cuts, especially towards the end of the 
year. Gross profit and margin were also negative-
ly affected by continued pricing pressure from 
customers, higher raw material prices in the sup-
ply chain, costs related to financially distressed 
suppliers and $12 million in fixed asset impair-
ment write-offs. 

These negative effects were partially offset 
by the move of production to LCC and by oth-
er benefits of the Company’s cost reduction pro-
grams. 

Operating Income
Operating income amounted to $306 million com-
pared to $502 million in 2007 and operating mar-
gin to 4.7% compared to 7.4%. In 2007, operat-
ing income and margin were affected by a $30 
million cost for a court ruling (see page 30). 

The declines in 2008 were primarily due to $206 
million lower gross profit and $56 million higher sev-
erance and restructuring costs totalling $80 million, 
partly offset by $29 million lower R,D&E expense 
and $6 million lower S,G&A expenses. These im-
provements reflect primarily higher engineering in-
come and the Company’s cost-savings actions. 

Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net increased by 12% or $7 mil-
lion to $60 million in 2008 as a result of an 11% 
higher average net debt (non-U.S. GAAP measure, 
see page 31). 

Interest expense, net also increased as a result 
of precautionary borrowing in the latter part of 
2008 which also raised the level of cash. This cash 
was primarily invested in Swedish and U.S. gov-
ernment notes which carry interest rates that are 
significantly lower than Autoliv’s cost of funds. The 

weighted annual average interest rate, net in-
creased to 5.0% in 2008 from 4.9% in 2007.

Average net debt increased by $122 million to 
$1,213 million during 2008 from $1,091 million dur-
ing the previous year. 

However, net debt at the end of 2008 in-
creased by only $13 million to $1,195 million from 
$1,182 million at December 31, 2007, despite 
capital expenditures net of $279 million, share re-
purchases of $174 million, dividend payments of 
$115 million and acquisitions of $49 million (in-
cluding a $7 million cash payment related to ac-
quisitions in 2007). 

The modest increase in net debt was thanks to 
strong operating cash flow of $614 million. 

In the fourth quarter, the refinancing of a major 
part of the Company’s U.S. commercial paper (see 
Treasury Activities, page 35) increased interest ex-
pense by approximately $1 million due to tempo-
rary elevated LIBOR interest rates. 

Income Taxes
Income before taxes amounted to $249 million 
compared to $446 million in 2007. 

The effective tax rate decreased to 30.7% from 
33.7% in 2007 when the tax rate was increased by 
1.8 percentage points for discrete tax items. In 
2008, discrete tax items were not material.

net Income and Earnings per Share
Net income amounted to $165 million compared 
to $288 million in 2007 and net margin to 2.5% 
compared to 4.3%. The declines were primarily 
due to a $197 million lower income before taxes, 
partly offset by a $7 million favorable effect from a 
lower effective tax rate. 

Earnings per share (assuming dilution) amount-
ed to $2.28 compared to $3.68 in 2007. Lower pre-
tax income had a $1.69 negative effect on earn-
ings per share, including 76 cents due to severance 
and restructuring costs which was 30 cents more 
than in 2007 including the increase in legal re-
serves. Earnings per share was favorably impact-
ed by 21 cents from currency effects, 24 cents 
from the stock repurchase program and 14 cents 
from the lower effective tax rate. 

The weighted average number of shares out-
standing decreased by 8% to 72.1 million. 

 Airbag Seatbelt
Component of Change in net Sales in 2008  Products1) Products Total
Organic sales growth (9.9)% (8.8)% (9.5)%
Effect of exchange rates 4.1% 5.0% 4.4%
Impact of acquisitions 0.2% 1.8% 0.7%
Reported net sales change (5.6)% (2.0)% (4.4)%

1) Includes safety electronics, steering wheels, inflators and initiators
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 Airbag Seatbelt
Component of net Sales Increase in 2007  Products1) Products Total
Organic sales growth 2.5% 7.1% 4.0%
Effect of exchange rates 4.6% 6.3% 5.3%
Impact of acquisitions     — 0.4%  0.1%
Reported net sales change 7.1% 13.8% 9.4%

1) Includes safety electronics, steering wheels, inflators and initiators

for acquisitions, partly offset by cash flow from op-
erations of $781 million. 

The Company refinanced $400 million of U.S. 
commercial paper with a $400 million U.S. private 
placement with no material effect on interest ex-
pense (see page 35). Higher expenses, partly due 
to factoring agreements, caused other financial 
items net to rise to $9 million from $6 million. 

Income Taxes
Income before taxes amounted to $446 million 
compared to $481 million. 

The effective tax rate increased to 33.7% in 
2007 from 12.2% in 2006 due to a favorable 19.7 
percentage point impact of discrete tax items in 
2006 and a negative 1.8 percentage point im-
pact in 2007.

net Income and Earnings per Share
Net income declined by $114 million to $288 mil-
lion in 2007 from $402 million in 2006 when net 
income was boosted by $95 million of discrete 
tax items, while the cost for the court ruling had 
a negative after-tax impact of $20 million in 2007. 
Excluding these effects, net income would have 
been $308 million compared to $307 million in 
2006 (non-U.S. GAAP measures, see page 30), 
despite the stock repurchase program that re-
sulted in higher interest expense.

Primarily due to acquisitions (see page 34), in-
come allocated to minority interest in subsidiaries 
was reduced by $12 million. 

Earnings per share (assuming dilution) declined 
to $3.68 from $4.88 in 2006 when discrete tax 
items added $1.15, while earnings per share was 
reduced by $0.26 in 2007 by the cost for the court 
ruling. Excluding these effects, earnings per share 
would have risen by 21 cents or 6% to $3.94 from 
$3.73 (non-U.S. GAAP measures, see page 30). 
Currency effects had a favorable impact of 18 
cents, the share repurchase program of 17 cents 
and the 2007 discrete tax items of 10 cents. 

Net income in 2007 of $288 million represent-
ed 4.3% of sales, including a 0.3% negative effect 
from the cost for the court ruling. In 2006, net in-
come of $402 million represented 6.5% of sales, 
of which 1.5 percentage points were due to dis-
crete tax items. 

net Sales
Net sales for 2007 increased by 9% or by $581 
million to $6,769 million, including currency effects 
of $323 million or 5% and $9 million from an ac-
quisition in India (see page 34). 

Consequently, organic sales (non-U.S. GAAP 
measure, see page 31) grew by 4% or by $250 mil-
lion, despite price reductions to customers. The 
sales increase was mainly due to strong perform-
ance in seatbelts and higher global vehicle pro-
duction. Sales were also driven by strong demand 
for curtain airbags and higher market shares for 
safety electronics and steering wheels.

Organic sales increased by 4% in the first 
quarter compared to the same period in 2006, 
by 3% in the second, by 6% in the third and by 
4% in the fourth quarter. 

Organic sales of airbag products increased by 
2%, mainly due to the introduction of side curtain 
airbags into an increasing number of vehicle mod-
els. Airbag product sales were also driven by high-
er market share for safety electronics and steering 
wheels. Sales were negatively affected by price 
erosion and the expiration of certain frontal airbag 
contracts. Organic sales of seatbelt products rose 
by 7% due to strong vehicle production in the Rest 
of the World and strong demand for upgraded 
seatbelt systems with pretensioners. 

In Europe, where Autoliv generates approxi-
mately 50% of net sales, organic sales rose by 4% 
compared to a 2% increase in light vehicle pro-
duction in Western Europe which accounts for 
90% of Autoliv’s European revenues. Eastern Eu-
rope also contributed to the growth of the safety 
market and Autoliv’s sales, despite a lower aver-
age safety value per vehicle, by raising its light ve-
hicle production rapidly or by 18%. 

In North America, which generates nearly a 
quarter of net sales, organic sales declined by less 
than 1% due to a 1.5% decline in light vehicle pro-
duction. Autoliv’s relatively strong performance 
was due to rapidly increasing demand for curtain 
airbags, and market share gains in safety electron-
ics and steering wheels. These effects were par-
tially offset by price erosion and the expiration of 
certain frontal airbag contracts.

In Japan, which accounts for almost 10% of 
net sales, organic sales grew by 13% which was 
significantly faster than the 1% growth in Japa-
nese light vehicle production. Organic sales growth 
was recorded in all product lines and was partic-
ularly strong in seatbelt. 

In the Rest of the World, which generates near-
ly 15% of net sales, organic sales rose by 10% 
driven by a 13% increase in the Region’s light ve-
hicle production.  

Gross margin
Gross profit increased by 5% or $65 million to 

$1,331 million as a result of currency effects and 
higher organic sales. However, gross margin de-
clined to 19.7% in 2007 from 20.4% in 2006 due 
to pricing pressure from customers in combina-
tion with higher raw material prices in the supply 
chain, costs related to financially distressed sup-
pliers and exceptionally high start-up activities, 
primarily in China.

These negative effects were partially offset 
by the move of production to LCC and by oth-
er benefits of the Company’s cost reduction 
programs.   

Operating Income
Operating income declined by $18 million to $502 
million and operating margin to 7.4% from 8.4% 
in 2006. 

The decline in operating income was entirely 
due to a $30 million cost for a court ruling (see 
page 30), which had 0.5 percentage point nega-
tive margin effect. Excluding the cost for the court 
ruling, operating income in 2007 would have been 
$532 million and operating margin 7.9% (non-U.S. 
GAAP measure, see page 30). 

Operating margin was negatively impacted by 
the 0.7 percentage points decline in gross margin, 
partially offset by R,D&E expense declining to 
5.8% of net sales from 6.4% due to better utiliza-
tion of R,D&E resources and moves of certain 
R,D&E activities to LCC. 

Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net increased by 40% or $15 
million to $54 million in 2007 from $38 million in 
2006 as a result of a 17% higher average net debt 
(non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 31) and high-
er floating market interest rates. 

Higher average net debt primarily reflects the 
return of $501 million to shareholders during 2007 
(see page 34) and acquisitions for $121 million. 

The weighted annual average interest rate, net 
increased to 4.9% in 2007 from 4.1% in 2006.

Average net debt increased by $159 million to 
$1,091 million at December 31, 2007 from $932 
million one year earlier. Net debt was affected by 
$380 million from the share repurchase program, 
$314 million from capital expenditures, $121 mil-
lion from quarterly dividends and by $121 million 

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Versus Year Ended December 31, 2006



34    AUTOLIV ANNUAL REPORT 2008

management’s Discussion 
and Analysis

Cash from Operations
Cash flow from operations, together with avail-
able financial resources and credit facilities, are 
expected to be adequate to fund Autoliv’s antic-
ipated working capital requirements, capital ex-
penditures, potential strategic acquisitions and 
dividend payments.

Cash provided by operating activities was 
$614 million in 2008, $781 million in 2007 and 
$560 million in 2006. 

While management of cash and debt is impor-
tant to the overall business, it is not part of the re-
sponsibilities of operations’ day-to-day manage-
ment. We therefore focus on operationally derived 
working capital and have set the target that this key 
ratio should not exceed 10% of the last 12-month 
net sales. At December 31, 2008, operating work-
ing capital (non-U.S. GAAP measure see page 31) 
stood at $518 million corresponding to 8.0% of net 
sales compared to $614 million or 9.1% at Decem-
ber 31, 2007, and $724 million and 11.7% at the 
end of 2006 when this ratio was boosted by 1.8 per-
centage points from the release of tax reserves and 
tax payments made before year-end. The 2008 
number was favorably impacted by the sales of 
$104 million worth of receivables due to factoring 
agreements (see below). For 2007, this impact was 
$116 million and for 2006, $95 million.

Days receivables outstanding (see page 70 for 
definition) decreased to 49 at December 31, 2008 
from 64 one year earlier due to the sharp sales 
drop in December 2008. Factoring agreements 
did not have any material effect on days receiva-
bles outstanding for 2008 or 2007. 

Days inventory on-hand (definition on page 
70) increased to 39 days at  December 31, 2008 
from 33 at December 31, 2007. The increase was 
due to higher raw material prices, higher safety 
stock for distressed suppliers and more products 
in transit as a reflection of production moves to 
low-cost countries. 

See Notes 10 and 11 to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for information concerning cash pay-
ments associated with restructuring and product-
related liabilities. 

Capital Expenditures
Cash generated by operating activities continued 
to be adequate to cover capital expenditures for 
property, plant and equipment.

Capital expenditures, gross, were $293 million 
in 2008, $324 million in 2007 and $328 million in 
2006, corresponding to 4.5% of net sales in 2008, 
4.8% in 2007, and of 5.3% in 2006. 

In 2008 capital expenditures, net of $279 mil-
lion were $68 million less than depreciation and 
amortization of $323 million and $24 million, re-
spectively. This difference is due to three reasons:  
First, active decisions to reduce manufacturing 

capacity expansion in response to lower LVP-lev-
els. Second, most of the depreciation stems from 
capital expenditures in high-cost countries, while 
current capital expenditures are to a higher de-
gree focused in emerging markets where con-
struction costs and cost for machinery are gen-
erally lower. Third, in LCC it is possible to use 
less automation, which reduces capital expendi-
tures for manufacturing lines even more. 

After a strong capacity build-up during the 
last few years, especially in China and India, cap-
ital expenditures during 2009 are expected to 
continue to decline and stay within the range of 
$200 million to $250 million. 

Acquisitions 
From time to time, the Company makes acquisi-
tions. The cost of acquisitions (including cash ac-
quired) amounted to $42 million in 2008 (excluding 
cash outlays of $7 million for an acquisition in 2007), 
$130 million in 2007 and to $3 million in 2006. 

As of September 26, 2008, Autoliv acquired 
a part of the automotive radar sensors business 
of Tyco Electronics for $42 million. This acquisi-
tion added $7 million to Autoliv’s consolidated 
sales in 2008.

In December 2007, Autoliv acquired the remain-
ing 41% of the shares in the consolidated Chinese 
subsidiary Autoliv (Changchun) Maw Hung Vehicle 
Safety Systems for nearly $14 million. 

As of October 31, 2007, Autoliv acquired the re-
maining 50.01% of the shares in Autoliv IFB Private 
Ltd for $36 million and began to consolidate this In-
dian seatbelt company. This added $9 million dur-
ing the two remaining months of 2007 or 0.1% to 
consolidated sales and $43 million in 2008 (corre-
sponding to 0.7% of sales). 

At the beginning of 2007, Autoliv acquired the 
remaining 35% of the shares in Autoliv-Mando in 
Korea for $80 million. This strategic acquisition in-
creased amortization related to additional intangi-
bles by $4 million, but reduced cost for minority in-
terests by $12 million.

In 2006, Autoliv increased its holding to 70% 
from 50% in Nanjing Hongguang Autoliv Safety Sys-
tems, which was already consolidated, for approx-
imately $3 million. 

Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities amounted 
to $105 million during 2008. Cash and cash 
equivalents increased by $335 million to $489 
million at December 31, 2008 from December 31, 
2007. This was the result of precautionary bor-
rowing (See Treasury Activities on page 35) due 
to the financial turmoil in the fall of 2008. 

Net debt (non-U.S. GAAP measure see page 31) 
increased by $13 million to $1,195 million and net-
debt-to-capitalization ratio (see page 70) increased 

to 36% at December 31, 2008, from 33% at 
 December 31, 2007. The marginally higher net debt 
was a result of stock repurchases and dividend pay-
ments totalling $289 million, capital expenditures, 
net of $279 million and acquisitions totalling $49 mil-
lion which was almost fully offset by the Company’s 
operating cash generation in 2008 of $614 million. 

In line with the Company’s conservative debt 
policy and in response to the financial turmoil, short-
term debt to total debt was reduced to 16% during 
2008 from 23% at December 31, 2007 (See Treas-
ure Activities on page 35). 

 
Income Taxes 
The Company has reserves for taxes that may 
become payable in future periods as a result of 
tax audits. 

At any given time, the Company is undergoing 
tax audits in several tax jurisdictions and covering 
multiple years. Ultimate outcomes are uncertain but 
could, in future periods, have a significant impact 
on the Company’s cash flows. See discussions of 
income taxes under “Accounting Policies” on page 
41 and also Note 4 to Consolidated Financial State-
ments included herein.  

Pension Arrangements
The Company has non-contributory defined ben-
efit pension plans covering most U.S. employ-
ees, although the Company has frozen participa-
tion in the U.S. plans for all employees hired after 
December 31, 2003. 

The Company’s non-U.S. employees are also 
covered by pension arrangements. See Note 18 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
herein by reference for further information about re-
tirement plans.

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s recog-
nized liability (i.e. the actual funded status) for its 
U.S. plans was $54 million and the U.S. plans had 
a net unamortized actuarial loss of $65 million re-
corded in Accumulated other comprehensive in-
come (loss) in the Equity  Statement. The amortiza-
tion of this loss is not expected to have any 
material impact for any of the nine-year estimated 
remaining service lives of the plan participants. 

Pension expense associated with these plans 
was $4 million in 2008 and is expected to be $13 
million in 2009. The Company contributed $15 
million to its U.S. defined benefit plan in 2008 and 
$9 million in 2007. 

The Company expects to contribute $6 mil-
lion to its plans in 2009 and is currently project-
ing a yearly funding at the same level in the years 
thereafter. 

Dividends
The dividend paid in the first and the second 
quarters of 2008 was 39 cents per share. The div-

Liquidity, Resources and Financial Position



AUTOLIV ANNUAL REPORT 2008    35

management’s Discussion 
and Analysis

idend for the third quarter was raised by 5% to 
41 cents per share and remained at 41 cents for 
the fourth quarter. 

Total cash dividends of $115 million were paid 
in 2008 and $121 million in 2007. In addition, the 
Company returned $174 million to shareholders 
in 2008 and $380 million in 2007 through repur-
chases of shares. 

The Company reduced the dividend to 21 cents 
per share for the first quarter 2009 on December 
16, 2008 and on February 17, 2009, suspended 
further dividend payments since the Company be-
lieves it is prudent to preserve cash in order to 
maintain a strong cash position in the current un-
certain business environment.

Equity
During 2008, equity decreased by $233 million to 
$2,117 million due to share repurchases and quar-
terly dividends totaling $275 million net, currency 
effects of $101 million and higher pension liabili-
ties of $32 million. Equity was favorably impacted 
by net income of $165 million and by $10 million 
from the issuance of shares and other effects re-
lated to stock compensation. 

In the first quarter 2007, Autoliv adopted FIN-48 
(see page 48), which resulted in a release of tax re-
serves and an increase of equity of $10 million.

Impact of Inflation
Except for raw materials, inflation has generally not 
had a significant impact on the Company’s finan-
cial position or results of operations. However, in-
creases in the prices of raw materials in the supply 
chain had a negative impact of close to $60 million 
in 2008 on top of $20 million impacts, in both 2007 
and 2006, resulting in an aggregate increase of ap-
proximately $100 million from the 2005 level. 

Inflation is currently expected to remain low in 
all of the major countries in which the Company 
operates. 

Raw material prices are expected to decline dur-
ing 2009. Changes in most raw material prices af-
fect the Company with a time lag, which is usually 
six to twelve months for most materials (See Com-
ponent Costs on page 37).

Personnel
During 2008, total headcount decreased by 4,600 
to 37,300 despite an acquisition in September 
that added 115. The headcount reduction of 11% 
was even slightly faster than the 9.5% decline in 
organic sales. 

Headcount increased by 1,100 during the first 
quarter due to expansion in low-cost countries 
(LCC). Headcount stood almost unchanged in the 
second quarter. Headcount then declined by 1,700 
in the third quarter and by 4,000 in the fourth quar-
ter, resulting in a gross headcount reduction of 

nearly 5,900 since July when the Company’s Ac-
tion Program was announced. 

During 2007, headcount increased by 100 due 
to the acquisition of Autoliv IFB in India. However, 
excluding the acquisition, headcount declined by 
1% which compares favorably with the organic 
sales increase in 2007 of 4%.

During 2008, headcount was reduced by 3,400 
in high-cost countries (HCC) and by 1,200 in low-
cost countries, while 1,300 were permanent em-
ployees and 3,300 temporary labor. As a result, 55% 
of total headcount at December 31, 2008 were in 
LCC compared to 52% one year earlier and less 
than 10% when these programs began in 1999. 

To maintain flexibility in the cyclical automo-
tive industry, 9% of total headcount – corre-
sponding to 3,300 people – were temporary hour-
ly workers at December 31, 2008 and 16% one 
year earlier. In high-cost countries, these ratios 
were 10% and 18%, respectively. The decline in 
these ratios during 2008 reflects the effects of 
the Company’s Action Program and other pro-
duction cuts, which have affected the number of 
temporary personnel more – and earlier – than 
the number of permanent employees. 

Compensation to Directors and executive offic-
ers is reported, as customary for U.S. public com-
panies, in Autoliv’s proxy statement.

Significant Litigation
In 1997, Autoliv AB (a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Autoliv, Inc.) acquired Marling Industries plc (“Mar-
ling”). At that time, Marling was involved in a liti-
gation relating to the sale in 1992 of a French sub-
sidiary. In May 2006, a French court ruled that 
Marling (now named Autoliv Holding Limited) and 
another entity, then part of the Marling group, had 
failed to disclose certain facts in connection with 
the 1992 sale and appointed an expert to assess 
the losses suffered by the plaintiff. 

The acquirer of the French subsidiary has made 
claims for damages of €40 million (approximately 
$56 million) but has not yet provided the court ap-
pointed expert with the materials needed to eval-
uate its claims. 

Autoliv, which has appealed the May 2006 court 
decision, believes it has meritorious grounds for 
such appeal. In the opinion of the Company’s man-
agement, it is not possible to give any meaningful 
estimate of any financial impact that may arise from 
the claim but it is possible (while management does 
not believe it is probable) that the final outcome of 
this litigation will result in a loss that will have to be 
recorded by Autoliv, Inc.

Treasury Activities
Credit Facilities
After the Lehman Brothers bankruptcy in Septem-
ber 2008 and the outbreak of the global credit cri-
sis, Autoliv’s two commercial paper programs were 
affected in terms of higher interest rate margins, 
shorter terms and less available volume. We there-
fore chose to reduce the Company’s dependence 
on the commercial paper markets. 

Accordingly, in October and November, Autoliv 
Inc. entered into two new revolving credit facilities 
maturing in 2010. The total amount of these facili-
ties is SEK 1.5 billion ($193 million). Loans under 
these facilities carry a margin of 1.3-1.5 percentage 
points on the applicable inter-bank reference rate. 

Also in the fall of 2008, the Company issued 
floating-rate medium-term notes of SEK 450 million 
($58 million) with a term of 2 and 3 years, while SEK 
1,250 million ($161 million) of medium-term notes 
matured. This refinancing had a short-term nega-
tive effect of $1 million on interest expense in the 
fourth quarter due to temporary elevated LIBOR in-
terest rates. There are no financial covenants (i.e. 
performance related restrictions) for these new cred-
it agreements nor for any other substantial financ-
ing of Autoliv (See Note 12).

    Weighted Additional 
Type of facility Amount Amount average amount 
  (Dollars in millions) of facility outstanding interest rate available
Revolving credit facilities $1,293 $629 4.7% $664
U.S. commercial paper program 1,000 50 4.8% 9501)

Swedish commercial paper program 903 206 6.0% 6971) 
Other short-term debt 270 126 4.0% 144
Swedish medium-term notes 645 229 4.2% 416
US private placement carrying fixed rates 340 340 5.5% –
US private placement carrying floating rates   75 75 3.4% –
Other long-term debt, including current portion  22 16 2.8% 0
Total debt as reported n/a $1,671 n/a $8082)

1) Total outstanding commercial paper programs (“CP”) should not exceed total undrawn revolving credit facilities (“RCF”) 
 according to the Company’s financial policy. 

2) Unutilized credit facilities (long-term revolving credit facilities and other short-term debt) excluding capital market programs.
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To remain compliant with its interest rate risk poli-
cy (see page 39), the Company cancelled during 
2008 some of the interest rate swaps relating to its 
$400 million U.S. private placement from 2007. As 
a result, $340 million of these notes now carry fixed 
rates varying between 4.6% to 5.8% and $60 mil-
lion carry floating rates at three-months LIBOR + 
1.0%. The notes consist of four tranches of varying 
sizes, maturing between 2012 and 2019. 

Of the $1,100 million revolving credit facility 
(“RCF”), $500 million was utilized at December 31, 
2008. The terms of the agreement remained un-
changed but the costs increased marginally (See 
page 40). In 2007, one bank sold its participation 
to another bank in the syndicate. The RCF is since 
then syndicated among 14 banks. This unsecured 
facility, which remains available until November 
2012, is not subject to financial covenants (i.e. 
performance- related restrictions) and has no for-
ward-looking material adverse change clause (See 
Note 12). 

The weighted average interest rate on the 
$1,671 million of debt outstanding at December 
31, 2008, was 4.7% compared to 5.0% one year 
earlier. The lower interest rate relates to lower 
floating rates at year end 2008 compared to year 

end 2007, partially offset by temporarily elevated 
LIBOR interest rates in the fall of 2008.

During 2008, the Company sold receivables, 
without resource, related to select customers with 
high credit worthiness. Since the Company uses 
the cash received to repay debt, these factoring 
arrangements have the effect of reducing net debt 
and accounts receivable. At December 31, 2008, 
the Company had received $104 million for sold 
receivables with a discount of $4 million during the 
year, compared to $116 million in 2007 with a dis-
count of $4 million recorded as Other financial 
items, net.

Shares and Share Buybacks
In 2000, the Board authorized a share repurchase 
program for up to 10 million Autoliv shares. The pro-
gram was expanded by an additional 10 million 
shares, both in 2003 and in 2005, and by an addi-
tional 7.5 million in November 2007. At December 
31, 2008, 3.2 million shares remained of this man-
date for repurchases.

Purchases can be made from time to time as 
market and business conditions warrant in open mar-
ket, negotiated or block transactions. There is no ex-
piration date for the mandate, which enables man-

agement to buy back shares opportunistically. During 
2006, when cash flow from operations amounted 
to $560 million, we returned $221 million to share-
holders through share repurchases of 3,976,900 
shares at an average cost of $55.69 per share. In 
2007, when the cash flow increased to $781 mil-
lion, we raised the return through share buyback 
to $380 million by buying back 6,625,595 shares 
at an average cost of $57.35 per share. On the oth-
er hand, in 2008, when cash flow from operations 
declined to $614 million, we reduced the buyback 
return to $174 million by repurchasing 3,709,460 
shares at an average cost of $46.77 per share. By 
adjusting its returns to shareholders in this way to 
the changes in the annual cash flow generation 
levels and to the changes in the credit markets, 
the Company achieve high financial stability even 
in the cyclical automotive industry. 

Since the inception of the program, the Com-
pany has returned $1,473 million to shareholders 
by repurchasing 34.3 million shares at an average 
cost of $42.93 per share.  

At December 31, 2008, there were 70.3 mil-
lion shares outstanding, net of treasury shares, 
a 5% reduction compared to 73.8 million one 
year earlier. 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Aggregate Contractual Obligations1)

   Payments due by Period 

  Less than 1-3 3-5 more than 
(Dollars in millions) Total 1 year years years 5 years
Debt obligations including DRD2) $1,684 $286 $230 $877 $291
Fixed-interest obligations including DRD2) 113 20 40 33 20
Operating lease obligations 91 20 32 22 17
Unconditional purchase obligations – – – – –
Other non-current liabilities reflected
   on the balance sheet 14 – 2 2 10
Total $1,902 $326 $304 $934 $338

1) Excludes contingent liabilities arising from litigation, arbitration, income taxes or regulatory actions.
2) Debt-Related Derivatives, see Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contractual obligations include lease and pur-
chase obligations that are enforceable and legal-
ly binding on the Company. Minority interests, 
post-retirement benefits and restructuring obli-
gations are not included in this table. The major 
employee obligations as a result of restructuring 
are disclosed in Note 10. 

Debt obligations including DRD: For material 
contractual provisions, see Note 12. The debt obli-
gations include capital lease obligations, which 
mainly refer to property and plants in Europe, as 

well as the impact of revaluation to fair value of 
Debt-Related Derivatives (DRD).

Fixed-interest obligations including DRD: These 
obligations include interest on debt and credit 
agreements relating to periods after December 31, 
2008, as adjusted by DRD, excluding fees on the 
revolving credit facility and interest on debts with 
no defined amortization plan. 

Operating lease obligations: The Company 
leases certain offices, manufacturing and re-
search buildings, machinery, automobiles and 

data processing and other equipment. Such op-
erating leases, some of which are non-cancela-
ble and include renewals, expire at various dates 
(see Note 17). 

Unconditional purchase obligations: There are 
no unconditional purchase obligations other than 
short-term obligations related to inventory, servic-
es, tooling, and property, plant and equipment pur-
chased in the ordinary course of business.

Purchase agreements with suppliers entered 
into in the ordinary course of business do not 
generally include fixed quantities. Quantities and 
delivery dates are established in “call off plans” 
accessible electronically for all customers and 
suppliers involved. Communicated “call off 
plans” for production material from suppliers are 
normally reflected in equivalent commitments 
from Autoliv customers.

Other non-current liabilities reflected on the bal-
ance sheet: These liabilities consist mainly of local 
governmental loans.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet 
arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to 
have, a material current or future effect on its finan-
cial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Risks and Risk management 
The Company is exposed to several categories of risks. They can broadly be categorized as operational risks, strate-
gic risks and financial risks. Some of the major risks in each category are described below. There are also other risks 
(see Form 10-K filed with the SEC) that could have a material effect on the Company’s results and financial position. 
Consequently, the description below does not claim to be complete but should be read with our Form 10-K. 

As described below, the Company has taken several mitigating actions, applied many strategies, adopted 
policies, and introduced control and reporting systems to reduce and mitigate these risks.

Operational Risks

Light Vehicle Production
Since approximately 30% of Autoliv’s costs are rel-
atively fixed, short-term earnings are highly depend-
ent on capacity utilization in the Company’s plants 
and are, therefore, sales dependent. 

Global light vehicle production is an indicator of 
the Company’s sales development, but it is the pro-
duction levels for the individual vehicle models that 
Autoliv supplies which are critical (see Dependence 
on Customers). The Company’s sales are split over 
several hundred contracts covering at least as many 
vehicle platforms or models which generally mod-
erates the effect of changes in vehicle demand of 
individual countries and regions.

It is also the Company’s strategy to reduce this 
risk by using a high number of temporary employ-
ees instead of permanent employees. During 2008, 
temporary workers in relation to total headcount 
varied between 9% and 16%. 

However, when there is a dramatic reduction in 
the level of production of the vehicle models sup-
plied by the Company as occurred during the fall 
of 2008, it takes time to reduce the level of perma-
nent employees and even longer time to reduce 
fixed production capacity. As a result, our margins 
could drop significantly and materially impact earn-
ings and cash flow. 

Pricing Pressure
Pricing pressure from customers is an inherent part 
of the automotive components business. The ex-
tent of pricing reductions varies from year to year, 
and takes the form of reductions in direct sales pric-
es as well as of discounted reimbursements for en-
gineering work. 

In response, Autoliv is continuously engaged in 
efforts to reduce costs and in providing customers 
added value by developing new products. 

The various cost-reduction programs are, to a 
considerable extent, interrelated. This interrelation-
ship makes it difficult to isolate the impact of any 
single program on costs, and management does 
not generally attempt to do so, except for the 2008 
action program. Instead, it monitors key measures 
such as costs in relation to margins and geograph-
ical employee mix. But generally speaking, the 
speed by which these cost-reduction programs 
generate results will, to a large extent, determine 
the future profitability of the Company. 

Component Costs
Since the cost of direct materials is approximately 
52% of net sales, changes in these component 
costs could have a major impact on margins. 

Of these costs, approximately 42% (correspond-
ing to 22% of net sales) are comprised of raw ma-
terials and the remaining 58% are value added by 
the supply chain. Currently, 37% of the raw mate-
rial cost (or 8% of net sales) is based on steel pric-
es; 34% on oil prices (i.e. nylon, polyester and en-
gineering plastics (7% of net sales); 9% on zinc, 
aluminum and other non-ferrous metals (2% of net 
sales); and 13% on electronic components, such 
as circuit boards (3% of net sales). 

Except for magnesium and small quantities of steel 
and plastic resins, the Company does not buy any raw 
materials but only manufactured components. As a 
result, changes in most raw material prices affect the 
Company with a time lag, which is usually six to twelve 
months for most materials, but one to three months 
for magnesium, zinc and aluminum. 

The Company’s strategy is to offset price in-
creases on cost of materials by taking several ac-
tions such as material standardization, consolidat-
ing volumes to fewer suppliers and moving 
components sourcing to low-cost countries. Should 
we fail to do so, our earnings could be materially 
impacted.

Product Warranty and Recalls
The Company is exposed to various claims for dam-
ages and compensation, if our products fail to per-
form as expected. Such claims can be made, and 
result in costs and other losses to the Company, 
even where the relevant product is eventually found 
to have functioned properly. Where a product (ac-
tually or allegedly) fails to perform as expected, we 
may face warranty and recall claims. Where such 
actual or alleged failure results, or is alleged to re-
sult, in bodily injury and/or property damage we may 
in addition face product-liability and other claims. 

There can be no assurance that the Company 
will not experience any material warranty, recall or 
product-liability claim or loss in the future or that the 
Company will not incur significant cost to defend 
against such claims. The Company may be required 
to participate in a recall involving its products. Each 
vehicle manufacturer has its own practices regard-
ing product recalls and other product-liability actions 
relating to its suppliers. As suppliers become more 
integrally involved in the vehicle design process and 

assume more of the vehicle assembly functions, ve-
hicle manufacturers are increasingly looking to their 
suppliers for contribution when faced with recalls and 
product-liability claims. Also, as our products increas-
ingly use global platforms (are based on or utilize the 
same or similar parts, components or solutions) the 
risk that any given failure or defect will result in Au-
toliv incurring material cost is increasing.

A warranty, recall or a product-liability claim 
brought against the Company in excess of the 
 Company’s insurance may have a material ad-
verse effect on its business. Vehicle manufac-
turers are also increasingly requiring their ex-
ternal suppliers to guarantee or warrant their 
products and bear the costs of repair and re-
placement of such products under new vehicle 
warranties. A vehicle manufacturer may attempt 
to hold the Company responsible for some or 
all of the repair or replacement costs of defec-
tive products under new vehicle warranties 
when the product supplied did not perform as 
represented. 

Accordingly, the future costs of warranty claims 
by the Company’s customers may be material. 
However, we believe our established reserves are 
adequate to cover potential warranty settlements, 
typically seen in our business. 

The Company’s warranty reserves are based 
upon management’s best estimates of amounts 
necessary to settle future and existing claims. Man-
agement regularly evaluates the appropriateness of 
these reserves, and adjusts them when they believe 
it is appropriate to do so. However, the final amounts 
determined to be due could differ materially from 
the Company’s recorded estimates. 

The Company’s strategy is to follow a strin-
gent procedure when developing new products 
and technologies and to apply a proactive “zero-
 defect” quality policy (see page 19). In addition, 
the Company carries product-liability and prod-
uct-recall insurance at levels that management 
believes are generally sufficient to cover the risks. 
However, such insurance may not always be 
available in appropriate amounts or in all mar-
kets. Further, the cost for such insurance impacts 
management’s decision regarding what insurance 
to procure. As a result, the Company may face 
material losses in excess of the insurance cover-
age procured. A substantial recall or liability in 
excess of coverage levels could therefore have a 
material adverse effect on the Company.
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Environmental
While the Company’s businesses from time to time 
are subject to environmental investigations, there 
are no material environmental-related cases pend-
ing against the Company. In addition, Autoliv does 
not incur (or expect to incur) any material costs or 
capital expenditures associated with maintaining 
facilities compliant with U.S. or non-U.S. environ-
mental requirements. Since most of the Company’s 
manufacturing processes consist of the assembly 
of components, the environmental impact from the 
Company’s plants is generally modest. 

To reduce environmental risk, the Company has 
implemented an environmental management sys-
tem (see page 23) and has adopted an environmen-
tal policy (see corporate website  www.autoliv.com) 
that requires, for instance, that all plants should be 
ISO-14001 certified. 

However, environmental requirements are com-
plex, change and have tended to become more 
stringent over time. Accordingly, there can be no 
assurance that these requirements will not change 
or become more stringent in the future, or that we 
will at all times be in compliance with all such re-
quirements and regulations, despite our intention 
to be. The Company may also find itself subject, 
possibly due to changes in legislation, to environ-
mental liabilities based on the activities of its pred-
ecessor entities or of businesses acquired. Such li-
ability could be based on activities which are not at 
all related to the Company’s current activities.

Strategic Risks

Regulations
In addition to vehicle production, the Company’s 
market is driven by the safety content per vehicle, 
which is affected by new regulations and new crash-
test rating programs, in addition to consumer de-
mand for new safety technologies. 

The most important regulation is the U.S. feder-
al law that, since 1997, requires frontal airbags for 
both the driver and the front-seat passenger in all 
new vehicles sold in the U.S. Seatbelt installation 
laws exist in all vehicle-producing countries. Many 
countries also have strict enforcement laws on the 
wearing of seatbelts. The U.S. has adopted new 
regulations for side-impact protection to be phased-
in during a three-year period beginning in 2010. Chi-
na introduced a crash-test rating program in 2006. 
Europe introduced a new more stringent Euro NCAP 
rating system in 2009, and the National Highway 
and Safety Administration (NHTSA) has decided to 
upgrade the equivalent U.S. crash-test rating pro-
gram. There are also other plans for improved au-
tomotive safety, both in these countries and many 
countries that could affect the Company’s market.

There can be no assurance, however, that chang-
es in regulations could not adversely affect the de-
mand for the Company’s products or, at least, result 
in a slower increase in the demand for them. 

Dependence on Customers
The five largest vehicle manufacturers account for 
54% of global light vehicle production and the ten 
largest manufacturers for 80%. 

As a result of this highly consolidated market, 
the Company is dependent on a relatively small 
number of customers with strong purchasing 
power. 

The Company’s five largest customers account 
for 53% of revenues and the ten largest custom-
ers account for 81% of revenues. For a list of the 
largest customers, see Note 19 on page 63. 

The largest contract accounted for 5% of sales 
in 2008. This contract expires in 2012.

Although business with every major customer is 
split into several contracts (usually one contract per 
vehicle platform), the loss of all business of a ma-
jor customer, the consolidation of one or more ma-
jor customers or a bankruptcy of a major custom-
er could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company. 

In addition, a significant disruption in the indus-
try, a significant decline in demand or pricing, or a 
dramatic change in technology could have a mate-
rial adverse effect. 

Customer Payment Risk
Another risk related to our customers is the risk 
that one or more customers will be unable to pay 
invoices that become due. The probability that 
this will occur has increased lately as more cus-
tomers have increasingly faced financial difficul-
ties and we expect this risk to increase even fur-
ther in 2009. 

We seek to limit Autoliv’s customer payment 
risks by invoicing major customers through their 
local subsidiaries in each country, even for global 
contracts. We thus try to avoid having Autoliv’s re-
ceivables with a multinational customer group ex-
posed to the risk that a bankruptcy or similar event 
in one country puts all receivables with the cus-
tomer group at risk. In each country, we also mon-
itor invoices becoming overdue. 

Even so, if a major customer would be una-
ble to fulfill its payment obligations, it is likely that 
the Company will be forced to record a substan-
tial loss. 

Autoliv’s receivables with GM in North Ameri-
ca, at quarter-ends, tend to vary between approx-
imately $50-100 million; with Ford in North Amer-
ica between $25-50 million and with Chrysler in 
North America between $25-60 million. 

Dependence on Suppliers
Autoliv, at each stage of production, relies on inter-
nal or external suppliers in order to meet its deliv-
ery commitments. In some cases, customers re-
quire that the suppliers are qualified and approved 
by them. Autoliv’s supplier consolidation program 
seeks to reduce costs but increases our depend-
ence on the remaining suppliers. As a result, the 

Company is dependent, in several instances, on a 
single supplier for a specific component.

Consequently, there is a risk that disruptions in 
the supply chain could lead to the Company not 
being able to meet its delivery commitments and, 
as a consequence, to extra costs. This risk increas-
es as suppliers are being squeezed between high 
raw material prices and the continuous pricing 
pressure in the automotive industry. This risk has 
also increased during 2008 and is likely to contin-
ue to increase during 2009 as a result of signifi-
cantly lower LVP levels and a much tighter liquid-
ity market.  

The Company’s strategy is to reduce these 
supplier risks by seeking to maintain multiple sup-
pliers in all significant component technologies, by 
standardization and by developing alternative sup-
pliers around the world. 

However, for various reasons including costs 
involved in maintaining alternative suppliers, this 
is not always possible. As a result, difficulties with 
a single supplier could impact more than one cus-
tomer and product, and thus materially impact our 
earnings.

new Competition
The market for occupant restraint systems has un-
dergone a significant consolidation during the past 
ten years and Autoliv has strengthened its position 
in this passive safety market. 

However, in the future, the best growth oppor-
tunities may be in safety electronics and active safe-
ty systems markets, which include and are likely to 
include other and often larger companies than Au-
toliv’s traditional competitors. Additionally, there is 
no guarantee our customers will adopt our new 
products or technologies.

Autoliv is reducing the risk of this trend by uti-
lizing its leadership in passive safety to develop a 
strong position in active and especially integrated 
safety (see pages 15-16).

Patents and Proprietary Technology
The Company’s strategy is to protect its innova-
tions with patents, and to vigorously protect and 
defend its patents, trademarks and know-how 
against infringement and unauthorized use. At 
the end of 2008, the Company held more than 
4,800 patents. The patents expire on various 
dates during the period 2009 to 2028. The expi-
ration of any single patent is not expected to 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
financial results.

Although the Company believes that its prod-
ucts and technology do not infringe upon the pro-
prietary rights of others, there can be no assurance 
that third parties will not assert infringement claims 
against the Company in the future. Also, there can 
be no assurance that any patent now owned by the 
Company will afford protection against competitors 
that develop similar technology. 
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Financial Risks
The Company is exposed to financial risks through 
its international operations and debt-financed ac-
tivities. These financial risks are caused by varia-
tions in the Company’s cash flows resulting from 
changes in exchange rates and interest rate levels, 
as well as from refinancing and credit risks. 

In order to reduce the financial risks and to take 
advantage of economies of scale, the Company has 
a central treasury department supporting operations 
and management. The treasury department handles 
external financial transactions and functions as the 
Company’s in-house bank for its subsidiaries. 

The Board of Directors monitors compliance 
with the financial policy on an on-going basis. At 
December 31, 2008, the Company was compliant 
with all of its financial policies. 

However, as of February 19, 2009, the Compa-
ny did not meet its objective of maintaining a 
strong investment grade rating, following Stand-
ard and Poor’s decision to change Autoliv’s rating 
to BBB- (see page 40).

Currency Risks 
1. Transaction Exposure
Transaction exposure arises because the cost of a 
product originates in one currency and the product 
is sold in another currency. 

The Company’s gross transaction exposure fore-
casted for 2009 is approximately $1.6 billion. A part 
of the flows have counter-flows in the same curren-
cy pair, which reduces the net exposure to approxi-
mately $1.2 billion per annum. In the three largest net 
exposures, Autoliv expects to sell U.S. dollars against 
Mexican Peso for the equivalent of $218 million, Jap-
anese Yen against Thai Baht for $108 million and Eu-
ros against Swedish Krona for $102 million. Togeth-
er these currencies will account for approximately 
one third of the Company’s net exposure. 

Since the Company can only effectively hedge 
these flows in the short term, periodic hedging 
would only reduce the impact of fluctuations tem-
porarily. Over time, periodic hedging would post-
pone but not reduce the impact of fluctuations. In 
addition, the net exposure is limited to less than one 
quarter of net sales and is made up of 51 different 
currency pairs with exposures in excess of $1 mil-
lion each. Consequently, the income statement ef-
fect related to transaction exposures is modest. As 
a result, Autoliv does not hedge these flows. 

2. Translation Exposure in the  
Income Statement
Another effect of exchange rate fluctuations aris-
es when the income statements of non-U.S. sub-
sidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars. Outside 
the U.S., the Company’s most significant curren-
cy is the Euro. Close to 55% of the Company’s 
net sales is denominated in Euro or other Euro-
pean currencies, while 18% of net sales is de-

nominated in U.S. dollars. The Company esti-
mates that a one-percent increase in the value of 
the U.S. dollar versus the European currencies 
would have decreased reported U.S. dollar net 
annual sales in 2008 by approximately $35 mil-
lion or by roughly 0.5%. Reported operating in-
come for 2008 would also have declined by 0.5% 
or by approximately $2 million. The fact that both 
sales and operating income is impacted at the 
same rate (i.e. 0.5%) is due to the fact that most 
of the Company’s production is local. According-
ly, most revenues and costs are matched in the 
same currencies.

The Company’s policy is not to hedge this type 
of translation exposure since there is no cash flow 
effect to hedge.

3. Translation Exposure in the  
Balance Sheet
A translation exposure also arises when the bal-
ance sheets of non-U.S. subsidiaries are trans-
lated into U.S. dollars. The policy of the Compa-
ny is to finance major subsidiaries in the country’s 
local currency. 

Consequently, changes in currency rates relat-
ing to funding have a small impact on the Compa-
ny’s income.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that interest rate 
changes will affect the Company’s borrowing 
costs. Autoliv’s interest rate risk policy states that an 
increase in floating interest rates of one percentage 
point should not increase the annual net interest ex-
pense by more than $10 million in the following year 
and not by more than $15 million in the second year. 

The Company estimates, given its debt struc-
ture at the end of 2008, that a one percentage point 
interest rate increase would increase net interest 
expense in 2009 and 2010 by $8.1 million and $8.2 
million, respectively.

The fixed interest rate debt is achieved both by 
issuing fixed rate notes and through interest rate 
swaps. The most notable debt carrying fixed inter-
est rates is $340 million of the $400 million private 
placement issued in 2007 (see page 57,  Note 12).

 The entire placement was issued carrying fixed 
interest rates. In order to benefit from a potential 
future decrease in interest rates, $200 million of 
this placement was initially swapped into floating 

interest rates. As fixed U.S. dollar rates decreased 
in 2008, $140 million of the $200 million swaps 
were cancelled and lower fixed rate debt has thus 
been achieved. 

The table below shows the maturity and com-
position of the Company’s net borrowings.

Refinancing Risk
Refinancing risk or borrowing risk refers to the 
risk that it could become difficult to refinance out-
standing debt. 

The severe financial turmoil beginning in Sep-
tember 2008 has increased this risk for all debt-
financed companies. However, Autoliv’s finan-
cial position remained strong, which was 
evidenced by a successful issuance of bank and 
capital market debt without financial covenants 
(i.e. performance-related restrictions) in the midst 
of the credit crisis in the fall of 2008. The total 
amount of this new medium-term debt was 
equivalent to $250 million. 

The Company also has a syndicated revolv-
ing credit facility with a group of banks, which 
backs its short-term commercial paper pro-
grams. The committed facility of $1.1 billion ma-
tures in November 2012. In October, as a pre-
cautionary measure in response to the credit 
crisis, the Company drew $500 million of this fa-
cility for six months. 

As Autoliv’s credit rating was changed to BBB- 
by Standard and Poor’s on February 19, 2009, it 
will become more difficult to issue commercial pa-
per both in the Swedish and US markets. At year-
end 2008, Autoliv had $256 million of commercial 
paper outstanding in these markets. 

In 2007, the Company issued a $400 million 
U.S. private placement. This transaction de-
creases the refinancing risk as note maturities 
are spread out between 2012 and 2019. 

The Company’s policy is that total net debt 
(non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 31) shall be 
issued as or covered by long-term facilities with 
an average maturity of at least three years. At 
December 31, 2008, net debt was $1,195 million 
and total available long-term facilities were 
$1,795 million with an average life of 4.2 years.

Credit Risk in Financial markets
Credit risk refers to the risk of a counterparty be-
ing unable to fulfill an agreed obligation. This risk 

 % of % with fixed % with floating maturity of 
December 31, 2008 total interest interest fixed rate part
U.S. Dollars (USD) 70 41 59 6 years
Euros (EUR) 15 0 100 –
Japanese Yen (JPY) 12 40 60 2 years
Other 3 0 100 –
Total 100 33 67

Given this interest rate profile, a 1% change in interest rates on the Company’s floating rate debt would change net interest 
expense by $8.1 million during the first year and by $8.2 million during the second year.
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has increased for all companies as a result of the 
deterioration of the credit quality of many banks. 

In the Company’s financial operations, this risk 
arises when cash is deposited with banks and when 
entering into forward exchange agreements, swap 
contracts or other financial instruments. 

The policy of the Company is to work with banks 
that have a high credit rating and that participate in 
the Company’s financing.

In order to further reduce credit risk, deposits 
and financial instruments can only be entered into 
with a limited number of banks up to a calculated 
risk amount of $75 million per bank. In addition, 
deposits can be made in U.S. and Swedish gov-
ernment short-term notes and certain AAA-rated 

Reconciliations to U.S. GAAP

Interest Coverage Ratio  Leverage Ratio 
Full Year 2008  December 31, 2008
Operating income $306.5 Net debt3) $1,195.3
Amortization of intangibles1) 23.6 Pension liabilities 111.0
  Debt per the Policy $1,306.3
Operating profit per the Policy $330.1 Income before income taxes $248.7
Interest expense net2): $60.1 Plus: Interest expense net2) 60.1
  Depreciation and amortization of 
Interest coverage ratio 5.5     intangibles1)  346.9
  EBITDA per the Policy $655.7 
  Leverage ratio 2.0
1) Including impairment write-offs, if any. 
2) Interest expense net is interest expense less interest income. 
3) Net debt is short- and long-term debt and debt-related derivatives (see Note 12) less cash and cash equivalents.

money market funds as approved by the Compa-
ny’s Board. At year-end 2008, the Company was 
compliant also with this policy and held $225 mil-
lion in AAA-rated money market funds. 

Debt Limitation Policy
To manage the inherent risks and cyclicality in the 
Company’s business, the Company maintains a rel-
atively conservative financial leverage. 

The Company’s policy is to always maintain a 
leverage ratio significantly below three and an in-
terest coverage ratio significantly above 2.75. At the 
end of 2008, these ratios were 2.0 times and 5.5 
times, respectively. For details on leverage ratio and 
interest-coverage, refer to the tables on this page 

which reconcile these two non-U.S. GAAP meas-
ures to U.S. GAAP measures.

In addition, it is the objective of Autoliv to have a 
strong investment grade rating. However, Autoliv’s 
long-term credit rating was changed in November 
2008 from A- to BBB+ and further changed in Feb-
ruary 2009 to BBB-. Although this does not fully meet 
our objective of a strong investment grade, Autoliv’s 
credit rating remains investment grade. The recent 
rating changes increase the annual commitment fee 
for the revolving credit facility (RCF) by 0.02 percent-
age points and the interest rate for any future draw 
downs from the RCF to LIBOR interest rates +0.25% 
from LIBOR interest rates +0.175% compared to the 
level when the rating was A-.

Outlook for 2009 
During 2009, global light vehicle production is cur-
rently expected to decrease by 17% as an average 
for the year. In North America and Western Europe, 
where Autoliv generates more than 70% of revenues, 
LVP is currently expected to decline by approximate-
ly 27% and 23%, respectively, but our customer keep 
adjusting their production schedules. 

We expect to offset some of the negative effects 
from lower LVP primarily through further introduc-
tions of curtain airbags and by market share gains 
in electronics, partly thanks to a new cost-efficient 
safety electronic control unit (see page 16). Conse-
quently, we expect Autoliv’s organic sales during 
2009 to track, or slightly outperform, the combined 
LVP in North America and Western Europe. The de-
clines in organic sales are expected to gradually 
abate during the year, mainly because of the tough 

comparisons against the same periods 2008, espe-
cially in the first quarter when LVP also will be af-
fected by severe reductions in vehicle inventories. 

Currency effects could have a negative im-
pact of 7% on consolidated sales for the full 
year, provided that the mid-February 2009 ex-
change rates prevail. 

Given the current price trends for steel and oth-
er raw materials, we currently expect to benefit 
from lower component costs compared to 2008 
by approximately $50 million, virtually all of it in the 
latter part of the year. We also expect the unusu-
ally high startup costs in Asia to subside during 
the year. In addition, The Action Program and oth-
er restructuring measures should generate increas-
ingly higher cost savings. 

Consequently, we expect 2009 to start on a  very 

weak note with a negative cash flow. Excluding ma-
jor customer defaults and provided that the current 
LVP and raw material trends prevail, it could be pos-
sible to report a positive operating income exclud-
ing restructuring costs later in the year, and poten-
tially for the full year 2009. There could be 
substantial restructuring activities and costs during 
2009, possibly in the same magnitude as in 2008. 

The negative effect of higher interest expense 
due to an expected higher average net debt dur-
ing 2009 than during 2008 is expected to be off-
set by the current trend of lower floating market 
interest rates. 

It should be noted that all forecasts and as-
sumptions are currently very uncertain due to cus-
tomer and supplier financial viability, see “Safe Har-
bor Statement” on page 30.

Debt Maturity Profile
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Accounting Policies Company assumes a long-term rate of return on 
U.S. plan assets of 7.5% for calculating the 2008 
expense as in 2007. At December 31, 2008, 57% 
of plan assets was invested in equities, compared 
to the target of 65%. 

A 1% decrease in the long-term rate of return 
on plan assets would result in an increase in the 
U.S. annual pension expense of $1 million. A 1% 
decrease in the discount rate would have increased 
the 2008 U.S. pension expense by $6 million and 
would have increased the December 31, 2008 ben-
efit obligation by $38 million. A 1% increase in the 
expected rate of increase in compensation levels 
would have increased 2008 pension expense by $2 
million and would have increased the December 31, 
2008 benefit obligation by $8 million.

Income Taxes
Significant judgment is required in determining the 
worldwide provision for income taxes. In the ordi-
nary course of a global business, there are many 
transactions for which the ultimate tax outcome is 
uncertain. Many of these uncertainties arise as a 
consequence of inter-company transactions and 
arrangements. 

Although the Company believes that its tax re-
turn positions are supportable, no assurance can 
be given that the final outcome of these matters will 
not be materially different than that which is reflect-
ed in the historical income tax provisions and ac-
cruals. Such differences could have a material ef-
fect on the income tax provisions or benefits in the 
periods in which such determinations are made. 

In fact, adjustments to reserves for income taxes did 
have a material impact during 2006. See Note 4. 

Contingent Liabilities
Various claims, lawsuits and proceedings are pend-
ing or threatened against the Company or its sub-
sidiaries, covering a range of matters that arise in 
the ordinary course of its business activities with re-
spect to commercial, product liability or other mat-
ters. See Note 16 to the  Consolidated Financial 
Statements included herein. 

The Company diligently defends itself in such 
matters and, in addition, carries insurance cov-
erage to the extent reasonably available against 
insurable risks. 

The Company records liabilities for claims, law-
suits and proceedings when they are identified and 
it is possible to reasonably estimate the cost. 

The Company believes, based on currently avail-
able information, that the resolution of outstanding 
matters, after taking into account recorded liabili-
ties and available insurance coverage, should not 
have a material effect on the Company’s financial 
position or results of operations. 

However, due to the inherent uncertainty associ-
ated with such matters, there can be no assurance 
that the final outcomes of these matters will not be 
materially different than currently estimated. 

new Accounting Pronouncements
The Company has evaluated the recently issued ac-
counting guidance. 

The Company adopted FASB Statement No 157, 
Fair Value Measurements (FAS-157) for all financial 
assets and liabilities required to be measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis, prospectively from Jan-
uary 1, 2008. The application of FAS-157 for finan-
cial instruments which are periodically measured at 
fair value did not have a significant impact on earn-
ings nor the financial position. 

Application of Critical Accounting Policies
The Company’s significant accounting policies are 
disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated  Financial 
Statements included herein. 

Senior management has discussed the devel-
opment and selection of critical accounting esti-
mates and disclosures with the Audit Committee of 
the Board of Directors. The application of account-
ing policies necessarily requires judgments and the 
use of estimates by a company’s management. Ac-
tual results could differ from these estimates. 

Management considers it important to assure 
that all appropriate costs are recognized on a time-
ly basis. In cases where capitalization of costs is re-
quired (e.g., certain pre-production costs), stringent 
realization criteria are applied before capitalization 
is permitted. The depreciable lives of fixed assets 
are intended to reflect their true economic life, tak-
ing into account such factors as product life cycles 
and expected changes in technology. Assets are 
periodically reviewed for realizability and appropri-
ate valuation allowances are established when ev-
idence of impairment exists. Impairment of long-
lived assets has generally not been significant.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when there is evidence of 
a sales agreement, delivery of goods has occurred, 
the sales price is fixed and determinable and the 
collectibility of revenue is reasonably assured. The 
Company records revenue from the sale of manu-
factured products upon shipment. 

Accruals are made for retroactive price adjust-
ments if probable and can be reasonably estimat-
ed. Net sales include the sales value exclusive of 
added tax.

Bad Debt and Inventory Reserves
The Company has reserves for bad debts as well 
as for excess and obsolete inventories.  

The Company has guidelines for calculating pro-
visions for bad debts based on the age of receiva-
bles. In addition, the accounts receivable are eval-
uated on a specific identification basis. In 
determining the amount of a bad debt reserve, man-
agement uses its judgment to consider factors such 
as the prior experience of the debtor, the experi-

ence of other enterprises in the same industry, the 
debtor’s ability to pay and/or an appraisal of cur-
rent economic conditions. 

Inventories are evaluated based on individual or, 
in some cases, groups of inventory items. Reserves 
are established to reduce the value of inventories to 
the lower of cost or market, with market generally 
defined as net realizable value for finished goods and 
replacement cost for raw materials and work-in-proc-
ess. Excess inventories are quantities of items that 
exceed anticipated sales or usage for a reasonable 
period. The Company has guidelines for calculating 
provisions for excess inventories based on the 
number of months of inventories on hand compared 
to anticipated sales or usage. Management uses its 
judgment to forecast sales or usage and to deter-
mine what constitutes a reasonable period. 

There can be no assurance that the amount ul-
timately realized for receivables and inventories will 
not be materially different than that assumed in the 
calculation of the reserves.

Goodwill Impairment
The Company performs an annual impairment re-
view of goodwill in the fourth quarter of each year 
following the Company’s annual forecasting proc-
ess. The estimated fair market value of goodwill is 
determined by the discounted cash flow method. 
The Company discounts projected operating cash 
flows using its weighted average cost of capital.

To supplement this analysis, the Company 
compares the market value of its equity, calculat-
ed by reference to the quoted market prices of its 
shares, with the book value of its equity. There 
were no goodwill impairments in 2006-2008. See 
in Note 1, under “Impairment of Goodwill”.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans
The Company has defined benefit pension plans 
covering most U.S. employees and some non-U.S. 
employees most of which are in high-cost coun-
tries, see Note 18. 

The Company, in consultation with its actuarial ad-
visors, determines certain key assumptions to be used 
in calculating the projected benefit obligation and an-
nual pension expense. For the U.S. plans, the assump-
tions used for calculating the 2008 pension expense 
were a discount rate of 6.4%, expected rate of increase 
in compensation levels of 4.0%, and an expected long-
term rate of return on plan assets of 7.5%. 

The assumptions used in calculating the U.S. ben-
efit obligations disclosed as of December 31, 2008 
were a discount rate of 6.4% and an expected rate of 
increase in compensation levels of 4.0%. The discount 
rate is set based on the yields on long-term high-grade 
corporate bonds and is determined by reference to fi-
nancial markets on the measurement date. 

The expected rate of increase in compensation 
levels and long-term return on plan assets are de-
termined based on a number of factors and must 
take into account long-term expectations. The 
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management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the company is responsible for es-
tablishing and maintaining adequate internal con-
trol over financial reporting. 

Internal control over financial reporting is de-
fined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 
as a process designed by, or under the supervi-
sion of, the company’s principal executive and 
principal financial officers and effected by the 
company’s board of directors, management and 
other personnel to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for exter-
nal purposes in accordance with generally ac-
cepted accounting principles and includes those 
policies and procedures that:  

pertain to the maintenance of records that in •	
reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect 

the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company;
provide reasonable assurance that transactions •	
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authoriza-
tions of management and directors of the com-
pany; and  
provide reasonable assurance regarding preven-•	
tion or timely detection of unauthorized acquisi-
tion, use or disposition of the company’s assets 
that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control 
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Projections of any evaluation of effective-

ness to future periods are subject to the risks that 
controls may become inadequate because of chang-
es in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Au-
toliv’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2008. In making this assessment, we 
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-
mission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework. 

Based on our assessment, we believe that, as 
of December 31, 2008, the Company’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting is effective.

The Company’s independent auditors – Ernst & 
Young AB, an independent registered public account-
ing firm – have issued an audit report on the effective-
ness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting, which is included herein, see page 65.

The certification required pursuant to Section 303A 12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual has been filed with the New York Stock 
Exchange.

The Company has also filed the CEO/CFO certifications required pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibit 31.1 and 31.2 to the 
form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
            Years ended December 31 
(Dollars and shares in millions, except per share data)    2008 2007 2006

Net sales    Note 19 $6,473.2 $6,769.0 $6,188.0
Cost of sales     (5,349.0) (5,438.4) (4,922.8)
Gross profit     1,124.2 1,330.6 1,265.2

Selling, general and administrative expenses       (354.3) (359.8) (325.5)
Research, development and engineering expenses, net    (367.2) (395.7) (397.6)
Amortization of intangibles    Note 9 (23.6) (20.3) (15.1)
Other income (expense), net    Note 10,16 (72.6) (52.8) (7.0)
Operating income      306.5 502.0 520.0

Equity in earnings of affiliates     3.9 6.4 5.2
Interest income    Note 12 12.8 9.0 8.6
Interest expense    Note 12 (72.9)  (62.5) (46.9)
Other financial items, net     (1.6) (8.7) (5.5)
Income before income taxes     248.7 446.2 481.4

Income taxes    Note 4 (76.3) (150.3) (58.9)
Minority interests in subsidiaries      (7.7) (8.0) (20.2)
net income      $164.7 $287.9 $402.3

Earnings per common share
   – basic     $2.29 $3.70 $4.90
   – assuming dilution     $2.28 $3.68 $4.88
Weighted average number of shares (in millions) 
   – basic     71.8 77.9   82.1
   – assuming dilution     72.1 78.3 82.5
Number of shares outstanding, net of treasury shares (in millions)    70.3 73.8 80.1
Cash dividend per share – declared     1.42 1.56 1.41 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
                                                              At December 31 
(Dollars and shares in millions)      2008 2007
Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents      $488.6 $153.8
Receivables (net of allowances of $9.9 and $10.9)    Note 5 838.5 1,230.7
Inventories, net     Note 6 592.4 561.3
Income tax receivables     Note 4 46.3 32.2
Prepaid expenses      50.1 57.5
Other current assets      70.4 59.7
Total current assets      2,086.3 2,095.2

Property, plant and equipment, net     Note 8 1,158.2 1,259.8
Investments and other non-current assets     Note 7 215.9 190.9
Goodwill     Note 9 1,607.8 1,613.4
Intangible assets, net      Note 9 137.4 146.1
Total assets      $5,205.6 $5,305.4

 
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Short-term debt     Note 12 $270.0 $311.9
Accounts payable      613.4 834.0
Accrued expenses     Note 10,11 324.3 315.4
Other current liabilities      134.6 155.4
Income tax payable     Note 4 38.4 46.6
Total current liabilities       1,380.7 1,663.3

Long-term debt     Note 12 1,401.1 1,040.3
Pension liability     Note 18 111.0 63.3
Other non-current liabilities      139.0 137.2
Total non-current liabilities      1,651.1 1,240.8

Minority interests in subsidiaries      57.3 52.2
Commitments and contingencies     Note 16,17
Common stock1)       102.8 102.8
Additional paid-in capital      1,954.3 1,954.3
Retained earnings      1,402.8 1,339.3
Accumulated other comprehensive income       54.3 187.5
Treasury stock (32.5 and 29.0 shares)      (1,397.7) (1,234.8)
Total shareholders’ equity     Note 13 2,116.5 2,349.1

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity      $5,205.6 $5,305.4
 

1) Number of shares: 350 million authorized, 102.8 million issued for both years, and 70.3 and 73.8 million outstanding for 2008 and 2007, respectively.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

              Years ended December 31 
(Dollars in millions)     2008 2007 2006
Operating activities
Net income      $164.7 $287.9 $402.3
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net 
   cash provided by operating activities:
      Depreciation and amortization     346.9 320.8 302.6
      Deferred income taxes     (12.2)  (1.0)  (21.1)
      Undistributed earnings from affiliated companies    (3.6) (6.6) (4.4)
      Net change in:
            Receivables and other assets     352.9 110.8 (10.3)
            Inventories gross     (66.1) 11.9 (31.5)
            Accounts payable and accrued expenses    (206.4) 36.7 (35.1)
            Income taxes     (7.1) 9.7 (79.7)
      Other, net      44.5  10.6  37.0
net cash provided by operating activities     613.6 780.8 559.8

Investing activities
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment     (293.4) (323.6) (328.3)
Expenditures for intangible assets     (0.6) (2.3) (2.5)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    14.9 11.7 35.9
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired    Note 14 (49.3) (120.6) –
Investments in affiliated companies     2.2 1.1 8.5
Other     (1.6) 2.6 (2.0)
net cash used in investing activities     (327.8) (431.1) (288.4)

Financing activities
Net decrease in short-term debt     (22.5) (33.8) (320.1)
Issuance of long-term debt     737.4 648.4 369.1
Repayments and other changes in long-term debt    (322.5) (498.9) (158.5)
Minority interest share of dividends paid     (3.3) (1.2) (2.8)
Dividends paid     (115.2) (120.6) (112.1)
Shares repurchased      (173.5) (380.0) (221.5)
Common stock options exercised    Note 15 4.9 11.4 7.7 
net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     105.3 (374.7) (438.2)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    (56.3) 10.7 39.0
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    334.8 (14.3) (127.8)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     153.8 168.1 295.9
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     $488.6 $153.8 $168.1

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity 

     Accumulated  Total1) 
   Additional  other com-  share- 
 number Common  paid in Retained prehensive Treasury holders’ 
(Dollars and shares in millions) of shares stock  capital earnings income (loss) stock equity
Balance at December 31, 2005 102.8 $102.8 $1,954.3 $900.9 $37.7 $(679.6) $2,316.1

Comprehensive Income:    
    Net income    402.3   402.3
    Net change in cash flow hedges     (1.2)  (1.2)
    Foreign currency translation     41.6  41.6
    Pension liability     (1.5)  (1.5)
Total Comprehensive Income        441.2
Cumulative effect of the adoption of FAS-1582)      (18.7)  (18.7)
Common stock incentives3)      27.6 27.6
Cash dividends    (141.8)   (141.8)
Repurchased treasury shares      (221.5) (221.5)
Balance at December 31, 2006 102.8 $102.8 $1,954.3 $1,161.4 $57.9 $(873.5) $2,402.9 

Comprehensive Income:    
    Net income    287.9   287.9
    Net change in cash flow hedges     (0.2)  (0.2)
    Foreign currency translation     108.1  108.1
    Pension liability     21.7  21.7
Total Comprehensive Income        417.5
Cumulative effect of the adoption of FIN-484)     9.7   9.7
Common stock incentives3)      18.7 18.7
Cash dividends declared    (119.7)   (119.7)
Repurchased treasury shares      (380.0) (380.0)
Balance at December 31, 2007 102.8 $102.8 $1,954.3 $1,339.3 $187.5 $(1,234.8) $2,349.1

Comprehensive Income:    
    Net income    164.7   164.7
    Net change in cash flow hedges     0.0  0.0
    Foreign currency translation     (100.7)  (100.7)
    Pension liability     (32.5)  (32.5)
Total Comprehensive Income        31.5
Common stock incentives3)      10.6 10.6
Cash dividends declared    (101.2)   (101.2)
Repurchased treasury shares      (173.5) (173.5)
Balance at December 31, 2008 102.8 $102.8 $1,954.3 $1,402.8 $54.3 $(1,397.7) $2,116.5

1) See Note 13 for further details – includes tax effects where applicable.
2) See Notes 1 and 18 for further details – includes tax effects.
3) See Notes 1 and 15 for further details – includes tax effects.
4) See Notes 1 and 4 for further details.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

nature of Operations
Autoliv is a global automotive safety supplier with sales to all the leading car 
manufacturers. 

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and include 
Autoliv, Inc. and all companies over which Autoliv, Inc. directly or indirectly ex-
ercises control, which generally means that the Company owns more than 
50% of the voting rights. Consolidation is also required when the Company is 
subject to a majority of the risk of loss from or is entitled to receive a majority 
of the residual returns or both from a variable interest entity’s activities. 

All intercompany accounts and transactions within the Company have 
been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

Investments in affiliated companies in which the Company exercises sig-
nificant influence over the operations and financial policies, but does not con-
trol, are reported according to the equity method of accounting. Generally, the 
Company owns between 20 and 50 percent of such investments.

Business Combinations
The purchase price of an acquired entity is allocated to the assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of ac-
quisition following the measurement requirements in Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 141, Business Combinations 
(“FAS-141”). The acquisition cost in a business combination includes direct 
and indirect acquisition costs and any contingent consideration. 

Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the re-
ported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of 
net sales and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when there is evidence of a sales agreement, deliv-
ery of goods has occurred, the sales price is fixed and determinable and the 
collectibility of revenue is reasonably assured. The Company records revenue 
from the sale of manufactured products upon shipment. 

Accruals are made for retroactive price adjustments if probable and can 
be reasonably estimated. 

Net sales include the sales value exclusive of added tax.

Cost of Sales
Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales. Contracts to supply 
products which extend for periods in excess of one year are reviewed when 
conditions indicate that costs may exceed selling prices, resulting in losses. 
Losses on long-term supply contracts are recognized when estimable.

Research, Development and Engineering (R,D&E)
Research and development and most engineering expenses are expensed as 
incurred. These expenses are reported net of royalty income and income from 
contracts to perform engineering design and product development services. 
Such income is not significant in any period presented. 

Certain engineering expenses related to long-term supply arrangements 

are capitalized when the defined criteria, such as the existence of a contractu-
al guarantee for reimbursement, are met. The aggregate amount of such as-
sets is not significant in any period presented.

Tooling is generally agreed upon as a separate contract or a separate com-
ponent of an engineering contract, as a pre-production project. Capitalization 
of tooling costs is made only when the criteria in EITF 99-5 “Accounting for 
Pre-Production Costs Related to Long Term Supply Arrangements” for cus-
tomer-funded tooling or the criteria for capitalization as property, plant & 
equipment (PP&E) for tools owned by Autoliv are fulfilled. Depreciation on Au-
toliv’s own tools is recognized in the income statement as cost of sales.

Stock Based Compensation 
Under the Autoliv, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) adopted by the 
Shareholders, and as further amended, awards have been made to selected 
executive officers of the Company and other key employees in the form of 
stock options and Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”). All options are granted for 
10-year terms, have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the 
share at the date of grant, and become exercisable after one year of contin-
ued employment following the grant date. Each RSU represents a promise to 
transfer one of the Company’s shares to the employee after three years of 
service following the date of grant or upon retirement, whichever is earlier. The 
source of the shares issued upon share option exercise or lapse of RSU serv-
ice period is generally from treasury shares. The Plan provides for the issu-
ance of up to 5,085,055 common shares for awards. At December 31, 2008, 
3,943,038 of these shares have been issued for awards. For stock options 
and RSUs outstanding and options exercisable at year end, see Note 15. 

The compensation costs for all of the Company’s stock-based compen-
sation awards are determined based on the fair value method, using FASB 
Statement No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“FAS-123(R)”). 
The Company records the compensation expense for RSUs and stock op-
tions over the vesting period. 

The fair value of the RSUs is calculated as the fair value of the shares at the 
RSU grant date. The grant date fair value for RSUs granted in 2005, 2004 and 
2003 (vested in 2008, 2007 and 2006) was $4.7 million, $4.0 million and $2.8 
million respectively. 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2008, 2007 and 
2006 was estimated at $9.65, $15.11 and $13.83 per share, respectively, using 
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the following assumptions:

 2008 2007 2006
Risk-free interest rate 3.0% 4.7% 4.3%
Dividend yield 2.8% 2.5% 2.5%
Expected life in years 5.5 5.5 5.5
Expected volatility 23.0% 26.8% 31.0%

Autoliv used the simplified method for determining the expected life assump-
tion. The simplified method is an expected term based on the midpoint be-
tween the grant date and the end of the contractual term. Expected volatility is 
based on historical volatility.

The total stock (RSUs and stock options) compensation cost recognized 
in the income statement for 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $6.5 million, $8.7 mil-
lion and $7.5 million, respectively. 

The total compensation cost related to nonvested awards not yet recog-
nized is $4.8 million for RSUs and the weighted average period over which 
this cost is expected to be recognized is close to two years. There is no signif-
icant compensation cost not yet recognized for stock options.

Income Taxes
Current tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated taxes payable 
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or refundable on the tax returns for the current year. Deferred tax liabilities or as-
sets are recognized for the estimated future tax effects attributable to temporary 
differences and carry-forwards that result from events that have been recog-
nized in either the financial statements or the tax returns, but not both. The meas-
urement of current and deferred tax liabilities and assets is based on provisions 
of enacted tax laws. Deferred tax assets are reduced by the amount of any tax 
benefits that are not expected to be realized. Current and non-current compo-
nents of deferred tax balances are reported separately based on financial state-
ment classification of the related asset or liability giving rise to the temporary dif-
ference. If a deferred tax asset or liability is not related to an asset or liability that 
exists for financial reporting purposes, including deferred tax assets related to 
carry forwards, the deferred tax asset or liability would be classified based on the 
expected reversal date of the temporary differences. Tax assets and liabilities are 
not offset unless attributable to the same tax jurisdiction and netting is possible 
according to law and expected to take place in the same period.

The Company uses FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertain-
ty in Income Taxes (“FIN-48”) for determining the liability recorded for unrecog-
nized tax benefits. Tax benefits associated with tax positions taken in the Com-
pany’s income tax returns are initially recognized and measured in the financial 
statements when it is more likely than not that those tax positions will be sus-
tained upon examination by the relevant taxing authorities. The Company’s 
evaluation of its tax benefits is based on the probability of the tax position being 
upheld if challenged by the taxing authorities (including through negotiation, 
appeals, settlement and litigation). Whenever a tax position does not meet the 
initial recognition criteria, the tax benefit is subsequently recognized and meas-
ured if there is a substantive change in the facts and circumstances that cause a 
change in judgment concerning the sustainability of the tax position upon ex-
amination by the relevant taxing authorities. In cases where tax benefits meet 
the initial recognition criterion, the Company continues, in subsequent periods, 
to assess its ability to sustain those positions. A previously recognized tax ben-
efit is derecognized when it is no longer more likely than not that the tax position 
would be sustained upon examination. Liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits 
are classified as non-current unless the payment of the liability is expected to be 
made within the next 12 months. 

Earnings per Share
The Company calculates earnings per share (“EPS”) by dividing income avail-
able to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period (net of treasury shares). The EPS also re-
flects the potential dilution that could occur if common stock were issued for 
awards under the Stock Incentive Plan. 

Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investment instruments purchased 
with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Receivables
The Company has guidelines for calculating the allowance for bad debts. In 
determining the amount of a bad debt allowance, management uses its judg-
ment to consider factors such as the age of the receivables, the Company’s 
prior experience of the debtor, the experience of other enterprises in the same 
industry, the debtor’s ability to pay, and/or an appraisal of current economic 
conditions. Collateral is typically not required. There can be no assurance that 
the amount ultimately realized for receivables will not be materially different 
than that assumed in the calculation of the allowance.

Financial Instruments
The Company uses derivative financial instruments, “derivatives”, as part of 
its debt management to mitigate the market risk that occurs from its exposure 
to changes in interest and foreign exchange rates. The Company does not en-
ter into derivatives for trading or other speculative purposes. The use of such 

derivatives is in accordance with the strategies contained in the Company’s 
overall financial policy. The derivatives outstanding at year-end are either in-
terest rate swaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps or foreign exchange 
swaps. All swaps principally match the terms and maturity of the underlying 
debt and no swaps have a maturity beyond 2019.

All derivatives are recognized in the statement of financial position at fair 
value. The derivatives are designated either as fair value hedges or cash flow hedg-

es in line with the hedge accounting criteria under FASB Statement No. 133, Ac-

counting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“FAS-133”) as amend-

ed by FASB Statement No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and 

Certain Hedging Activities (“FAS-138”). However, in certain cases hedge account-

ing is not applied either because non hedge accounting treatment creates the same 

accounting result or that the hedge does not meet the hedge accounting require-

ments, although entered into applying the same rationale concerning mitigating 

market risk that occurs from changes in interest and foreign exchange rates. The 

mark-to-market adjustment of the latter category of derivatives was $0.1, $0.3 and 

$(0.1) million and was recorded within interest expense for the year ended Decem-

ber 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

When a hedge is classified as a fair value hedge, the change in the fair value of 

the hedge is recognized in the income statement along with the off-setting change in 

the fair value of the hedged item. When a hedge is classified as a cash flow hedge, 

any change in the fair value of the hedge is initially recorded in equity as a component 

of Other Comprehensive Income, (OCI), and reclassified into the income statement 

when the hedge transaction effects net earnings. There were no material reclassifi-

cations from OCI to the income statement in 2008 and, likewise, no material reclassi-

fications are expected in 2009. Any ineffectiveness has been immaterial. 

The fair value of the debt-related derivatives are reported in “Other current as-

sets”, “Investments and other non-current assets”, “Other current liabilities” and 

“Other non-current liabilities” depending on whether they have a positive or a nega-

tive value and depending on their maturity.

For further details on the Company’s valuation of financial instruments, 
see Note 3.

Inventories
The cost of inventories is computed according to the first-in, first-out method 
(FIFO). Cost includes the cost of materials, direct labor and the applicable 
share of manufacturing overhead. Inventories are evaluated based on individ-
ual or, in some cases, groups of inventory items. Reserves are established to 
reduce the value of inventories to the lower of cost or market, with the market 
generally defined as net realizable value for finished goods and replacement 
cost for raw materials and work-in process. Excess inventories are quantities 
of items that exceed anticipated sales or usage for a reasonable period. The 
Company has guidelines for calculating provisions for excess inventories 
based on the number of months of inventories on hand compared to anticipat-
ed sales or usage. Management uses its judgment to forecast sales or usage 
and to determine what constitutes a reasonable period. There can be no assur-
ance that the amount ultimately realized for inventories will not be materially 
different than that assumed in the calculation of the reserves.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at historical cost. Construction in 
progress generally involves short-term projects for which capitalized interest 
is not significant. The Company provides for depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment computed under the straight-line method over the assets’ es-
timated useful lives. Depreciation on capital leases is recognized in the in-
come statement over the shorter of the assets’ expected life or the lease con-
tract terms. Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of net as-
sets of businesses acquired. Subsequent to acquisition the Company accounts 
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for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with FASB Statement 
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“FAS-142”). Goodwill is not am-
ortized, but subject to at least an annual review for impairment. Other intangible 
assets, principally related to acquired technology and contractual relationships, 
are amortized over their useful lives which range from 5 to 25 years and 3 years, 
respectively. 

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets
As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had recorded goodwill of ap-
proximately $1.6 billion where-of approximately $1.5 billion is associated with 
the reporting unit: Airbags and Seatbelts.  Approximately $1.2 billion is goodwill 
associated with the 1997 merger of Autoliv AB and the Automotive Safety Prod-
ucts Division of Morton International, Inc. The Company accounts for impair-
ment of goodwill, in accordance with FAS-142, and long-lived assets in 
accordance with FASB Statement No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or 
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“FAS-144”). Goodwill is not amortized since 
2002 but the Company performs annual impairment testing in the fourth quarter 
of each year. Impairment testing is required more often than annually if an event 
or circumstance indicates that an impairment, or decline in value, may have oc-
curred. The impairment testing of goodwill is based on three different reporting 
units: 1) Airbags and Seatbelts, 2) Electronics and 3) Seat Sub-Systems. The 
goodwill allocated to Electronics was $43 million for 2008 and $24 million for 
2007 and the goodwill for Seat Sub-Systems was entirely written-off in 2001. 

In conducting its impairment testing, the Company compares the estimat-
ed fair value of each of its reporting units to the related carrying value of the re-
porting unit. If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying 
value, goodwill is considered not to be impaired. If the carrying value of a re-
porting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment loss is measured 
and recognized. 

The estimated fair market value of the reporting unit is determined by the 
discounted cash flow method taking into account expected long-term operat-
ing cash-flow performance. The Company discounts projected operating cash 
flows using its weighted average cost of capital, including a risk premium to ad-
just for market risk. The estimated fair value is based on automotive industry 
volume projections which are based on third-party and internally developed 
forecasts and discount rate assumptions. Significant assumptions include ter-
minal growth rates, terminal operating margin rates, future capital expenditures 
and working capital requirements. 

To supplement this analysis, the Company compares the market value of its 
equity, calculated by reference to the quoted market prices of its shares includ-
ing control premium assumptions, to the book value of its equity. 

There were no impairments of goodwill in 2006-2008.
The Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets other than 

goodwill when indications of impairment appear. Impairment testing is primarily 
done by using the cash flow method based on undiscounted future cash flows.

Insurance Deposits
The Company has entered into liability and recall insurance contracts to mitigate 
the risk of costs associated with product recalls. These are accounted for under 
the deposit method of accounting based on the existing contractual terms.

Warranties and Recalls
The Company records liabilities for product recalls when probable claims are 
identified and it is possible to reasonably estimate costs. Recall costs are 
costs incurred when the customer decides to formally recall a product due to 
a known or suspected safety concern. Product recall costs typically include 
the cost of the product being replaced as well as the customer’s cost of the re-
call, including labor to remove and replace the defective part.

Provisions for warranty claims are estimated based on prior experience 
and likely changes in performance of newer products and the mix and volume 
of products sold. The provisions are recorded on an accrual basis.

Restructuring provisions
The Company defines restructuring expense to include costs directly associ-
ated with exit or disposal activities accounted for in accordance with FASB 
Statement No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal 
Activities (“FAS-146”) and employee severance costs incurred as a result of 
an exit or disposal activity accounted for in accordance with FASB Statement 
No. 88, Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and curtailments of Defined 
Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits (“FAS-88”) and FASB 
Statement No. 112, Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits 
(“FAS-112”). Impairment charges directly associated with exit or disposal ac-
tivities are accounted for in accordance with FAS-144. 

Estimates of restructuring charges are based on information available at 
the time such charges are recorded. In general, management anticipates that 
restructuring activities will be completed within a timeframe such that signifi-
cant changes to the exit plan are not likely. Due to inherent uncertainty in-
volved in estimating restructuring expenses, actual amounts paid for such ac-
tivities may differ from amounts initially estimated.

Pension Obligations
The Company provides for both defined contribution plans and defined benefit 
plans. A defined contribution plan generally specifies the periodic amount that 
the employer must contribute to the plan and how that amount will be allocated 
to the eligible employees who perform services during the same period. A de-
fined benefit pension plan is one that contains pension benefit formulas, which 
generally determine the amount of pension benefit that each employee will re-
ceive for services performed during a specified period of employment. 

The obligations for pensions are recognized and measured under FASB 
Statement No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions (“FAS-87”) and FASB 
Statement No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and 
Other Postretirement Plans (“FAS-158”) (see Note 18). The amount recog-
nized as a defined benefit liability is the net total of projected benefit obliga-
tion (PBO) minus the fair value of plan assets (if any). The input to the fair value 
measurement of the plan assets is mainly quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets. The plan assets are measured in accordance with FASB 
Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“FAS-157”).

Translation of non-U.S. Subsidiaries
The balance sheets of subsidiaries with functional currency other than U.S. 
dollars are translated into U.S. dollars using year-end rates of exchange. 

Income statements are translated into U.S. dollars at the average rates of 
exchange for the year. Translation differences are reflected in other compre-
hensive income as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Receivables and Liabilities in non-Functional Currencies
Receivables and liabilities not denominated in functional currencies are con-
verted at year-end rates of exchange. Net transaction gains/(losses), reflect-
ed in income amounted to $7.4 million in 2008, $(9.9) million in 2007 and 
$(14.7) million in 2006.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
New accounting pronouncements issued are the following: 

FASB Statement No.157, Fair Value Measurements (“FAS-157”), establish-
es a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP, clarifies the definition of fair 
value within that framework, and expands disclosures about the use of fair val-
ue measurements. FAS-157 was issued in September 2006 and is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. In February 2008, the FASB is-
sued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS-157-2, “Effective Date of FASB State-
ment No. 157”. This FSP defers the effective date of FAS-157, for all non-finan-
cial assets and non-financial liabilities that are not on a recurring basis (at least 
annually) recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements, to fis-
cal years, and interim periods, beginning after November 15, 2008. The Com-
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3 Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The Company records derivatives at fair value. Any gains and losses on 
derivatives recorded at fair value are reflected in the consolidated state-
ment of income with the exception of cash flow hedges where an immate-
rial portion of the fair value is reflected in other comprehensive income in 
the balance sheet. The degree of judgment utilized in measuring the fair 
value of the instruments generally correlates to the level of pricing observ-
ability. Under FAS-157, there is a hierarchal disclosure framework associ-
ated with the level of pricing observability utilized in measuring assets and 
liabilities at fair value. The three broad levels defined by the FAS-157 hier-
archy are as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities as of the reported date.

Level 2 - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which 
are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reported date. The nature of 
these asset and liabilities include items for which quoted prices are available 
but traded less frequently, and items that are fair valued using other financial in-
struments, the parameters of which can be directly observed.

pany adopted FAS-157 for all financial assets and liabilities required to be 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis, prospectively from January 1, 2008. 
The application of FAS-157 for financial instruments which are periodically 
measured at fair value did not have any significant impact on earnings nor the fi-
nancial position. The Company has delayed recognizing the fair value of its non-
financial assets and non-financial liabilities within the scope of FAS-157 until 
January 1, 2009, as permitted by FSP FAS-157-2. The application of FAS-157 
for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities is not expected to have a 
significant impact on earnings nor the financial position.

FASB Statement No.159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities (“FAS-159”), provides companies with an option to report 
selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The objective of FAS-159 
is to reduce both complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the 
volatility in earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differ-
ently. FAS-159 was issued in February 2007 and is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2007. The application of FAS-159 did not have 
any impact on earnings nor the financial position, because the Company did 
not elect to use the fair value option.

FASB Statement No.141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (“FAS-
141(R)”), replaces FASB Statement No. 141. FAS-141(R) applies the acquisi-
tion method to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains 
control over one or more other businesses, requires the acquirer to recognize 
the fair value of all assets and liabilities acquired, even if less than hundred 
percent ownership is acquired, and establishes the acquisition date fair value 
as the measurement date for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The 
Statement was issued in December 2007 and is effective prospectively for ac-
quisitions in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. 

FASB Statement No.160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements (“FAS-160”), amends ARB 51 to establish accounting and re-
porting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the de-
consolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a 
subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated financial statements. 
The Statement was issued in December 2007 and is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2008. The application of FAS-160 is not ex-
pected to have a significant impact on earnings nor the financial position.

FASB Statement No.161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and 
Hedging Activities, an amendment of FASB Statement No.133 (“FAS-161”), 
requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s derivative and hedging activ-
ities and thereby improves the transparency of financial reporting. The State-
ment was issued in March 2008 and is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2008. The application of FAS-160 will expand the disclosures 
in regards to the Company’s derivative and hedge activities.

FASB Final Staff Position 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intan-
gible Assets (“FSP FAS-142-3”), amends the factors that should be consid-
ered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the 
useful life of a recognized intangible asset under FASB Statement No. 142, 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The Statement was issued in April 
2008, and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and 
interim periods within those fiscal years. The guidance in this FSP for deter-
mining the useful life of a recognized intangible shall be applied prospectively 
to intangible assets acquired after the effective date. The disclosure require-
ments of FSP FAS-142-3, however, shall be applied prospectively to all intan-
gible assets recognized in the Company’s financial statements as of the effec-
tive date. The application of FSP FAS-142-3 is not expected to have a material 
impact on the earnings nor the financial position.

Reclassifications
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year 
presentation.

2 Business Acquisitions
Business acquisitions generally take place to either gain key technology or 
strengthen Autoliv’s position in a certain geographical area or with a certain 
customer. 

As of September 26, 2008, Autoliv acquired the automotive radar sensors 
business of Tyco Electronics Ltd. This radar sensor business was a “carve-
out” of the Radio Frequency and Subsystems business unit within Tyco Elec-
tronics. The transaction included a preliminary amount of $15 million for cus-
tomer relationships and intellectual property for short- and long-range radar 
products. The purchase price and the preliminary goodwill in connection with 
this acquisition were $42 million and $21 million, respectively. 

As of December 3, 2007, Autoliv acquired the remaining 41% of the shares 
in Autoliv Changchun Maw Hung Safety Systems, a consolidated entity that 
now is a wholly-owned subsidiary. The purchase price and the goodwill in con-
nection with the acquisition were $14 million and $3 million, respectively.

As of October 31, 2007, Autoliv acquired the remaining 50.01% of the shares 
in its joint venture Autoliv IFB Private Limited that became a fully consolidated 
entity from November 1, 2007. The purchase price and the goodwill in connec-
tion with the acquisition were $36 million and $23 million, respectively. 

As of January 15, 2007, Autoliv acquired the remaining 35% of the shares 
in Autoliv Mando, a consolidated entity that now is a wholly-owned subsidi-
ary. The purchase price and the goodwill in connection with the acquisition 
were $80 million and $40 million, respectively.

As of June, 2006, Autoliv acquired another 20% of the shares in Nanjing 
Honggouang-Autoliv Safety Systems Co., Ltd, a consolidated entity, and 
thereby increased its interest to 70%. As of December, 2006, Autoliv ac-
quired the remaining 9% of the shares in Autoliv Philippines Inc. and made it 
a wholly owned subsidiary. The purchase price of these acquisitions in 2006 
amounted to $3 million. 

The acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method of 
accounting and the results of operations of the entities have been consolidat-
ed since the date control was achieved. Investments in which the Company 
previously exercised significant influence, but did not control prior to these 
acquisitions, were accounted for using the equity method.

There is no goodwill that is expected to be deductible for tax purposes 
arising from these acquisitions.
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4 Income Taxes      
Income before income taxes 2008 2007 2006
U.S. $29.2 $72.6 $115.3
Non-U.S. 219.5 373.6 366.1
Total $248.7 $446.2 $481.4

Provision for income taxes 2008 2007 2006
Current
   U.S. federal $16.8 $20.0 $(19.9)
   Non-U.S. 69.7 129.7 94.8
   U.S. state and local 2.1 1.6 5.1
Deferred
   U.S. federal 1.2 2.1 (14.0)
   Non-U.S. (13.6) (3.1) (8.1)
   U.S. state and local 0.1 0.0 1.0
Total income taxes $76.3 $150.3 $58.9

Effective income tax rate 2008 2007 2006
U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Jobs Creation Act  0.0 0.0 (2.4)
Net operating loss carry-forwards (0.8) 0.0 (1.3)
Non-utilized operating losses 5.2 3.2 2.1
Foreign tax rate variances (4.3) (4.2) (3.7)
State taxes, net of federal benefit 0.8 0.5 0.8
Earnings of equity investments (0.5) (0.5) (0.4)
Export sales incentives (0.0) (0.0) (0.6)
Tax credits (10.7) (4.3) (3.9)
Changes in tax reserves (0.4) 1.9 (11.6)
Accrual to return adjustments 0.9 (1.2) (3.6)
Cost of double taxation 3.4 0.4 0.3
Other, net 2.1 2.9 1.5
Effective income tax rate 30.7% 33.7% 12.2%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences be-
tween the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting pur-
poses and the amounts used for income tax purposes. On December 31, 
2008, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards (“NOL’s”) of ap-
proximately $171 million, of which approximately $37 million have no expira-
tion date. The remaining losses expire on various dates through 2023. The 
Company also has $11.3 million of U.S. Foreign Tax Credit carryforwards, 
which expire on various dates through 2018.

 Valuation allowances have been established which partially offset the re-
lated deferred assets. The Company provides valuation allowances against 
potential future tax benefits when, in the opinion of management, based on 
the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion of 
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Such allowances are primarily pro-
vided against NOL’s of companies that have perennially incurred losses, as 
well as the NOL’s of companies that are start-up operations and have not es-
tablished a pattern of profitability.

The Company benefits from “tax holidays” in certain of its subsidiaries, 
principally in China and Korea. These tax holidays typically take the form of re-
duced rates of tax on income for a period of several years following the estab-
lishment of an eligible company. These tax holidays have resulted in income 
tax savings of approximately $5 million ($0.07 per share) in 2008, $12 million 
($0.15 per share) in 2007 and $11 million ($0.13 per share) in 2006. These spe-
cial holiday rates are expected to be available for several years, but have be-
gun to be phased out at some subsidiaries.

The Company has reserves for income taxes that may become payable in 
 future periods as a result of tax audits. These reserves represent the Compa-
ny’s best estimate of the potential liability for tax exposures. Inherent uncer-
tainties exist in estimates of tax exposures due to changes in tax law, both 

Level 3 - Assets and liabilities that have little to no pricing observability as of re-
ported date. These items do not have two-way markets and are measured us-
ing management’s best estimate of fair value, where the inputs into the determi-
nation of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation. 

The following table summarizes the valuation of the Company’s derivatives by 
the above FAS-157 pricing observability levels:
  
 
 Total Carrying Amount               Fair Value measurements at 
 in Statement of                     December 31, 2008 using: 
 Financial Position    
Description December 31, 2008  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
   
Assets   
Derivatives $27.8 – $27.8 –
Total Assets $27.8 – $27.8 –
   
Liabilities   
Derivatives   $40.5 –   $40.5 –
Total Liabilities   $40.5 –   $40.5 –

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, ac-
counts payable and short-term debt approximate their fair value because of 
the short term maturity of these instruments. The fair value of long-term debt 
is determined from quoted market prices as provided in the secondary market 
which was estimated using a discounted cash flow method based on the 
Company’s current borrowing rates for similar types of financing without a 
quoted market price. The fair value of derivatives is estimated using a dis-
counted cash flow method based on quoted market prices.  

The fair value and carrying value of debt is summarized in the table below. 
For further details on the Company’s debt, see Note 12.

Fair Value of Debt, December 31
 2008 2008 2007 2007 
 Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
Long-term debt value1) value value1) value

Commercial paper 
   (reclassified)  $255.6 $255.6 $398.8 $398.8
Revolving credit facilities 629.0 632.6 – –
U.S. Private placement 415.4 311.1 405.0 395.4
Medium-term notes  86.3 83.8 232.4 232.7
Other long-term debt 14.8 14.6 4.1 4.1
Total  $1,401.1 $1,297.7 $1,040.3 $1,031.0

Short-term debt 
Overdrafts and other 
   short-term debt $125.5 $125.5 $108.1 $108.1
Short-term portion of  
   long-term debt 144.5 144.5 203.8 202.3
Total  $270.0 $270.0 $311.9 $310.4
1) Debt as reported in balance sheet.
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legislated and concluded through the various jurisdictions’ court systems. 
The Company files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction, 
and various states and foreign jurisdictions. 

At any given time, the Company is undergoing tax audits in several tax juris-
dictions and covering multiple years. In 2006, the U.S. Internal Revenue Serv-
ice (“IRS”) completed its examination of the six tax years since the formation of 
the Autoliv, Inc. U.S. tax group in 1997. As a result, the Company recognized a 
non-cash income tax benefit in its third quarter 2006 of $57 million resulting 
from the release of certain income tax reserves. Another $12 million was re-
leased from tax reserves at the end of 2006 as a result of the closing of the stat-
ute of limitations at certain non-U.S. companies. In addition, net income in 
2006 was positively impacted by other discrete tax items of $26 million, princi-
pally adjustments related to previous years’ tax returns. The decreases in the 
reserves in 2006 were partially offset by increases in reserves for other issues 
due to revisions to the best reasonable estimate of other tax exposure liabilities 
and interest accrued. The Company is no longer subject to income tax exami-
nation by the U.S. federal tax authorities for years prior to 2003. With few ex-
ceptions, the Company is also no longer subject to income tax examination by 
U.S. state or local tax authorities for tax years prior to 2003.  In addition, with 
few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations 
by non-U.S. tax authorities for years before 2002. The Internal Revenue Serv-
ice (“IRS”) began an examination of the Company’s 2003-2005 U.S. income 
tax returns in 2006 that is anticipated to be completed during 2009. In addition, 
the Company is undergoing tax audits in several non-U.S. jurisdictions cover-
ing multiple years. As of December 31, 2008, as a result of those tax examina-
tions, the Company is not aware of any material proposed income tax adjust-
ments. The Company expects the completion of certain tax audits in the near 
term. It is reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized benefits with 
respect to certain of the unrecognized tax positions could significantly in-
crease or decrease in some future period or periods. However, at this time, an 
estimate of the range of the reasonably possible outcomes is not possible.  

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Ac-
counting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN-48”), on January 1, 2007. As a 
result of the implementation of FIN-48, the Company recognized a decrease 
of $9.9 million in the liability recorded for unrecognized tax benefits as a cumu-
lative effect of a change in accounting principle, which was accounted for as 
an increase to the January 1, 2007 balance in retained earnings. The Compa-
ny recognizes interest and potential penalties accrued related to unrecog-
nized tax benefits in tax expense. As of January 1, 2008, the Company had re-
corded $48.3 million for unrecognized tax benefits related to prior years, 
including $9.6 million of accrued interest and penalties. During 2008, the Com-
pany recorded a net decrease of $4.6 million to income tax reserves for unrec-
ognized tax benefits based on tax positions related to the current and prior 
years and recorded a decrease of $0.6 million for interest and penalties related 
to unrecognized tax benefits of prior years. The Company had $9.0 million ac-
crued for the payment of interest and penalties as of December 31, 2008. Of 
the total unrecognized tax benefits of $43.1 million recorded at December 31, 
2008, $24.5 million is classified as current tax payable and $18.6 million is 
classified as non-current tax payable on the balance sheet. Substantially all of 
these reserves would impact the effective tax rate if released into income. 

Tabular presentation of tax benefits  
unrecognized under FIn 48  2008 2007
Unrecognized tax benefits at  
    beginning of year  $38.7 $34.3
Gross amounts of increases and decreases:
    Increases as a result of tax positions 
        taken during a prior period  1.7 5.9
    Decreases as a result of tax positions 
        taken during a prior period  (0.5) (4.7)
    Increases as a result of tax positions 
        taken during the current period  2.8 1.5
    Decreases as a result of tax positions 
        taken during the current period  0.0 0.0
    Decreases relating to settlements
        with taxing authorities  (0.8) 0.0
    Decreases resulting from the lapse of 
        the applicable statute of limitations  (6.4) 0.0
    Translation Difference  (1.4) 1.7
Total Unrecognized Tax Benefits at end of year $34.1 $38.7

Deferred taxes 
December 31  2008 2007
Assets
Provisions  $67.2 $62.7
Costs capitalized for tax  2.3 1.0
Property, plant and equipment    40.7 31.5
Retirement Plans  50.1 33.7
Tax receivables, principally NOL’s  47.7 41.6
Other  0.2 1.3
Deferred tax assets before allowances   $208.2 $171.8
Valuation allowances  (37.6) (30.8)
Total  $170.6 $141.0

Liabilities
Acquired intangibles  $(40.5) $(46.5)
Statutory tax allowances  (1.8) (2.5)
Insurance deposit  (9.4) (7.3)
Distribution taxes  (9.4) (8.9)
Other  (2.0) (1.8)
Total  $(63.1) $(67.0)
net deferred tax asset    $107.5 $74.0

Valuation allowances against deferred tax assets 
December 31 2008 2007 2006
Allowances at beginning of year $30.8 $25.4 $23.8
Benefits reserved current year  6.6 9.8 12.3
Benefits recognized current year  (1.2) (2.8) (14.2)
Write-offs and other changes 4.7 (3.8) 0.8
Translation difference (3.3) 2.2 2.7
Allowances at end of year $37.6 $30.8 $25.4

U.S. federal income taxes have not been provided on $2.2 billion of undistribut-
ed earnings of non-U.S. operations, which are considered to be permanently 
reinvested. These earnings generally would not be subject to withholding taxes 
upon distribution to intermediate holding companies. The Company has deter-
mined that it is not practicable to calculate the deferred tax liability if the entire 
$2.2 billion of earnings were to be distributed to the U.S.
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6 Inventories
December 31 2008 2007 2006
Raw material $272.5 $250.4 $220.7
Finished products 148.5 136.3 128.0
Work in progress 252.1 244.0 245.4
Inventories $673.1 $630.7 $594.1

Inventory reserve at beginning of year $(69.4) $(48.7) $(42.8)
Reversal of reserve 4.9 6.7 5.6
Addition to reserve (25.4) (29.5) (16.8)
Write-off against reserve 7.9 6.0 7.7
Translation difference 1.3 (3.9) (2.4)

Inventory reserve at end of year (80.7) (69.4) (48.7)
Total inventories, net of reserve $592.4 $561.3 $545.4
 

5 Receivables
December 31 2008 2007 2006
Receivables $848.4 $1,241.6 $1,222.1
Allowance at beginning of year (10.9) (15.4) (18.1)

Reversal of allowance 3.8 6.8 4.4
Addition to allowance (9.5) (4.8) (7.3)
Write-off against allowance 5.5 3.4 6.8
Translation difference 1.2 (0.9) (1.2)

Allowance at end of year (9.9) (10.9) (15.4)
Total receivables,  
   net of allowance $838.5 $1,230.7 $1,206.7
 
Autoliv has sold receivables related to selected customers with high credit 
worthiness. The receivables were sold to various financial institutions without 
recourse, and have been accounted for in accordance with FAS-140, Ac-
counting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments 
of Liabilities. At December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 receivables 
would have been higher by $104 million and $124 million, respectively, if these 
agreements had not been entered into. Discount costs were recorded in “Oth-
er financial items, net” and amounted to $4 million for 2008, $4 million for 2007 
and $2 million for 2006.

7 Investments and Other non-current Assets 
As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had invested in five affiliat-
ed companies which it currently does not control, but in which it exercises sig-
nificant influence over operations and financial position. These investments 
are accounted for under the equity method, which means that a proportional 
share of the affiliated company’s net income increases the investment, and a 
proportional share of losses and payment of dividends decreases it. In the in-
come statement, the proportional share of the affiliated company’s net in-
come is reported as “Equity in earnings of affiliates”. The Company is apply-
ing deposit accounting for an insurance arrangement. For additional 
information on derivatives see Note 3.

December 31  2008 2007
Total investments in affiliated companies  $30.4 $29.8
Deferred income tax receivables  113.9 100.0
Derivative assets  19.0 12.2
Long-term interest bearing deposit 
   (insurance arrangement)  27.3 25.9
Other non-current assets  25.3 23.0
Investments and other non-current assets  $215.9 $190.9

The major investments in affiliated companies and percentage of ownership are:
Country Ownership % Company name
France  49%  EAK SA Composants pour 
  L’Industrie Automobile
France  49%  EAK SNC Composants pour  
  L’Industrie Automobile 
Malaysia  49%  Autoliv-Hirotako Safety Sdn Bhd  
  (parent and subsidiaries) 
China  45%  Shanghai-VOA Webbing Belt Co. Ltd.
China  30%  Changchun Hongguang-Autoliv  
  Vehicle Safety Systems Co. Ltd. 
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2008
In 2008, the employee-related restructuring provisions relate mainly to head-
count reductions throughout North America and Europe and are primarily asso-
ciated with The Action Program referred to below. The cash payments mainly 
relate to high-cost countries in North America and Europe. The changes in the 
employee-related reserves have been charged against “Other income (ex-
pense), net” in the income statement. Impairment charges mainly relate to ma-

chinery and equipment impaired in connection with The Action Program activi-
ties in North America and Europe. The fixed asset impairments have been 
charged against “Cost of sales” in the Statements of income. The table below 
summarizes the change in the balance sheet position of the restructuring re-
serves from December 31, 2007 to December 31, 2008.

 December 31 Provision/  Cash non- Translation December 31 
 2007 Charge Acquisitions payments cash difference 2008
Restructuring employee-related $16.8 $71.6 $1.1 $(31.3) $– $(2.9) $55.3
Fixed asset impairment –  8.0 – – (8.0) – –
Other – 0.4 – – – – 0.4
Total reserve $16.8 $80.0 $1.1 $(31.3) $(8.0) $(2.9) $55.7

9 Goodwill and Intangible Assets    
Unamortized intangibles  2008 2007
Goodwill 
Carrying amount at beginning of year   $1,613.4 $1,537.1
Goodwill acquired during year  17.5 65.7
Translation differences  (23.1) 10.6
Carrying amount at end of year  $1,607.8 $1,613.4

Amortized intangibles  2008 2007
Gross carrying amount  $364.4 $353.3
Accumulated amortization  (227.0) (207.2)
Carrying value  $137.4 $146.1

No significant impairments were recognized during 2008, 2007 or 2006. 
At December 31, 2008, goodwill assets include $1,208 million associated 

with the 1997 merger of Autoliv AB and the Automotive Safety Products Divi-
sion of Morton International, Inc.

The aggregate amortization expense on intangible assets was $ 23.6 million 
in 2008, $20.3 million in 2007 and $18.9 million in 2006. The estimated amorti-
zation expense is as follows (in millions): 2009: $23.5; 2010: $16.1; 2011: $11.5; 
2012 $9.7 and 2013: $9.7.

The intangible assets acquired during the year mainly relate to acquired 
technology and intellectual property. The amortization period for these intangi-
bles is 2-14 years and 6 years, respectively.

10 Restructuring and Other Liabilities
Restructuring
Restructuring provisions are made on a case by case basis and primarily include 
severance costs incurred in connection with headcount reductions and plant con-
solidations. The Company expects to finance restructuring programs over the 
next several years through cash generated from its ongoing operations or through 

8 Property, Plant and Equipment
   Estimated 
December 31 2008 2007 life
Land and land improvements $94.1 $91.1 n/a to 15
Machinery and equipment 2,580.6 2,607.5      3-8
Buildings 650.6 676.3 20-40
Construction in progress 150.1 139.8 n/a
Property, plant and equipment  $3,475.4 $3,514.7  
Less accumulated depreciation (2,317.2) (2,254.9) 
net of depreciation $1,158.2 $1,259.8 

Depreciation included in 2008 2007 2006
Cost of sales $276.6 $258.4 $246.8
Selling, general and 
   administrative expenses 20.2 16.3 14.5
Research, development and 
   engineering expenses 26.5 25.8 22.4
Total  $323.3 $300.5 $283.7

Total fixed asset impairments recognized in 2008 was $12 million, of which $8 
million is associated with restructuring activities. No significant impairments 
were recognized during 2007 or 2006.

The net book value of machinery and equipment under capital lease con-
tracts recorded as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, amounted to $0.4 million 
in both years. The net book value of buildings and land under capital lease 
contracts recorded as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, amounted to $4.7  
and $4.9 million, respectively. 

cash available under existing credit facilities. The Company does not expect that 
the execution of these programs will have an adverse impact on its liquidity posi-
tion. The tables below summarize the change in the balance sheet position of the 
restructuring reserves from December 31, 2005 to December 31, 2008.
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Action Program
In July 2008, the Company announced that it was developing an action pro-
gram (“The Action Program”) to mitigate the effects of both accelerating 
production cuts by customers and accelerating costs for raw materials. The 
program was originally estimated to generate annual pre-tax savings of ap-
proximately $120 million. The savings were expected to be realized gradual-
ly, with full effect in 2010. The main items in the program are adjustment of 
manufacturing capacity, including plant closures, due to lower expected ve-

hicle production, accelerated move of sourcing to low-cost countries, con-
solidation of supplier base and standardization of products and reductions 
in overhead costs, including consolidation of technical centers. The pro-
gram was expected to affect 3,000 employees, both temporaries and per-
manent. The pre-tax cost for this program was estimated to be $75 million 
and $74 million has been incurred to date. 

The previous table includes the activity and remaining reserves associated with the “The Action Program” and are separately disclosed in table below.

 December 31 Provision/ Cash non- Translation December 31 
 2007 Charge payments cash difference 2008
Restructuring employee-related $– $65.8 $(16.9) $– $(2.5) $46.4
Fixed asset impairment –  8.0 – (8.0) – –
Other –  0.2 – – – 0.2
Total reserve $– $74.0 $(16.9) $(8.0) $(2.5) $46.6

Of the $46.6 million restructuring reserve, related to the “The Action Program”, accrued as of December 31, 2008 substantially all is expected to be paid in 2009.

Significant components of charges related to the “The Action Program” are:

   Estimated 
 Total expected Incurred additional 
 costs costs 2008 charges
Restructuring employee-related $63.0 $65.8 $–
Fixed asset impairment 10.0  8.0 –
Other 2.0  0.2 1.0
Total restructuring charges $75.0 $74.0 $1.0

2007
In 2007, the employee-related restructuring provisions mainly relate to head-
count reductions in high-cost countries throughout North America, Europe 
and in Australia. The cash payments mainly relate to payments in North Amer-
ica, Europe and Australia for plant consolidation initiated in 2007, 2006 and 

2005. The changes in the reserves have been charged against “Other income 
(expense), net” in the Statements of income. The table below summarizes the 
change in the balance sheet position of the restructuring reserves from De-
cember 31, 2006 to December 31, 2007.

 December 31  Cash Translation December 31 
 2006 Provision Payments difference 2007
Restructuring employee-related $6.4 $23.7 $(14.4) $1.1 $16.8
Total reserve $6.4 $23.7 $(14.4) $1.1 $16.8
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2006
In 2006, the employee-related restructuring provisions mainly related to head-
count reductions in high-cost countries. The cash payments mainly relate to 
payments in Europe and Australia for plant consolidation initiated in 2006 as 
well as in 2005. The change in liability during 2006 includes a resolution of a le-

gal dispute resulting in cash payments. The changes in the reserves have been 
charged against “Other income (expense), net” in the Statements of income. 
The table below summarizes the change in the balance sheet position of the re-
structuring reserves from December 31, 2005 to December 31, 2006.

 December 31  Cash Translation December 31 
 2005 Provision Payments difference 2006
Restructuring employee-related $7.8 $13.2 $(15.2) $0.6 $6.4
Liability 9.5 (5.3) (4.5) 0.3 –
Total reserve $17.3 $7.9 $(19.7) $0.9 $6.4

 

11 Product Related Liabilities

Autoliv is exposed to product liability and warranty claims in the event that the 
Company’s products fail to perform as expected and such failure results, or is 
alleged to result, in bodily injury, and/or property damage or other loss. The 
Company has reserves for product risks. Such reserves are related to product 
performance issues including recall, product liability and warranty issues.

The Company records liabilities for product-related risks when probable 
claims are identified and when it is possible to reasonably estimate costs. Provi-
sions for warranty claims are estimated based on prior experience and likely 
changes in performance of newer products and the mix and volume of the prod-
ucts sold. The provisions are recorded on an accrual basis.

Cash payments have been made mainly for warranty related issues in con-
nection with a variety of different products and customers. The significant 
payments in 2006 were made in connection with ongoing recalls for the re-
placement of defective products. 

The table below summarizes the change in the balance sheet position of 
the product-related liabilities.

December 31 2008 2007 2006
Reserve at beginning  of the year $18.8 $22.8 $33.3
Change in reserve 9.0 5.2 7.3
Cash payments (10.8) (10.7) (20.2)
Translation difference (0.3) 1.5 2.4
Reserve at end of the year $16.7 $18.8 $22.8

 

12 Debt and Credit Agreements
Interest expense increased by 17% or $10.4 million to $72.9 million in 2008 pri-
marily as a result of higher average debt. However, interest income rose by 42% 
during the same period due to precautionary funding.

Interest expense/income and  
   average interest on debt  2008 2007 2006
Interest expense   $72.9 $62.5 $46.9
Interest income  $12.8 $9.0 $8.6
Average interest rate on debt   5.0% 5.0% 4.0%

As part of its debt management, the Company enters into derivatives to achieve 
economically effective hedges and to minimize the cost of its funding. In this 
note, short-term debt and long-term debt are discussed including Debt-Relat-
ed Derivatives (DRD), i.e. debt including fair market value adjustments from 
hedges. The Debt Profile table also shows debt excluding DRD, i.e. reconciled 
to debt as reported in the balance sheet.

Short-Term Debt
Of short-term debt, $144 million represents the short-term portion of long-
term loans. These are primarily Swedish floating rate medium term notes 
which mature in 2009.

The Company also has credit facilities with a number of banks that man-
age the subsidiaries’ cash pools. In addition, the Company’s subsidiaries 
have credit agreements, principally in the form of overdraft facilities, with a 
number of local banks. Total available short-term facilities, as of December 
31, 2008, excluding commercial paper facilities as described below, amount-
ed to $270 million, of which $126 million was utilized. The aggregate amount 
of unused short-term lines of credit at December 31, 2008, was $144 million. 
The weighted average interest rate on total short-term debt outstanding at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007 was 4.0 % and 4.1%, respectively. 

As part of the restructuring activities 2,082, 584 and 217 employees remained 
covered by the reserves at December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

As part of restructuring 1,317 employees covered by the restructuring re-
serves left the company in 2008, 647 in 2007 and 938 in 2006.
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Long-Term Debt
In 2008 Autoliv Inc. entered into two new bilateral revolving credit facilities 
maturing in 2010. The total amount of these facilities is SEK 1.5 billion ($193 
million). Loans, including DRD, of $135 million equivalent were outstanding 
under these facilities at year-end. They carry floating interest rates between 
LIBOR +1.3% and LIBOR +1.5%. In 2008, the Company also issued float-
ing-rate medium-term notes of SEK 450 million ($58 million) with terms of 2 
and 3 years while SEK 1,250 million ($161 million) of medium term notes ma-
tured. These notes were swapped into U.S. dollars carrying floating interest 
rates at LIBOR + 1.2%.

In November 2007, Autoliv ASP Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company, issued $400 million of senior notes guaranteed by the Compa-
ny in a private placement. The notes consist of four tranches of varying 
sizes, maturing 2012, 2014, 2017 and 2019 respectively and carry fixed in-
terest rates between 5.6% and 6.2%. The Company entered into swap ar-
rangements with respect to the proceeds of the notes offering, some of 
which have been cancelled in 2008 resulting in a mark-to-market gain. 
This gain will be amortized through interest expense over the life of the re-
spective note. 

As of December 31, 2008, only one interest rate swap with nominal value 
of $60 million remains outstanding. Consequently, $340 million of the notes 
carry fixed interest rates varying between 4.6% and 5.8%, while $60 million 
carry floating interest rates at three-month LIBOR + 1.0%. 

The Company has two commercial paper programs: one SEK 7 billion 
(approximately 0.9 billion USD) Swedish program, which at December 31, 
2008, had notes of SEK 1,595 million outstanding ($206 million equivalent) 
at a weighted average interest rate including DRD of 6.0%, and one $1,000 
million U.S. program, which at December 31, 2008 had notes of $50 mil-
lion outstanding at a weighted average interest rate of 4.8%. All of the 
notes outstanding, in total $256 million, are classified as long-term debt 
because the Company has the ability and intent to refinance these borrow-
ings on a long-term basis either through continued commercial paper bor-
rowings or utilization of the revolving credit facility (RCF), which is availa-
ble until November 2012. Both commercial paper programs have also 
been active in 2009.

Debt Profile 

Principal (notional) amount by expected maturity        Total 
Weighted average interest rate 2009 2010 2011   2012  2013 Thereafter long-term Total
US private placement notes (incl. DRD1))        
   (Weighted average interest rate 5.2%)2) $– $– $– $110.0 $– $290.0 $400.0 $400.0
Revolving credit facilities (incl. DRD1))
   (Weighted average interest rate 4.8%) – 135.3 – 500.0 – – 635.3 635.3
Overdraft/Other short-term debt  
   (Weighted average interest rate 4.0%) 125.5 – – – – – – 125.5
Commercial paper      
   (Weighted average interest rate 5.7%)2) – – – 255.6 – – 255.6 255.6
Medium-term notes (incl. DRD1))   
   (Weighted average interest rate 3.4%)   159.0 51.5 40.7 – – – 92.2 251.2
Other long-term loans, incl. current portion3) 
   (Primarily fixed rates)  1.5 1.6 0.7 11.4 0.4 0.7 14.8 16.3
Total debt as cash flow, (incl. DRD1)) $286.0 $188.4 $41.4 $877.0 $0.4 $290.7 $1,397.9 $1,683.9
DRD adjustment  (16.0) (10.2) (2.0) – – 15.4 3.2 (12.8)
Total debt as reported  $270.0 $178.2 $39.4 $877.0 $0.4 $306.1 $1,401.1 $1,671.1

1) Debt Related Derivatives (DRD), i.e. the fair market value adjustments associated with hedging instruments as adjustments to the carrying value of the underlying debt. 2) Interest rates will change as 
roll-overs occur prior to final maturity. 3) Primarily denominated in Japanese Yen and Euro.

The current RCF of $1,100 million is syndicated among 14 banks and prima-
rily for precautionary reasons, $500 million of this facility was utilized at year-
end. The commitment supports the Company’s commercial paper borrow-
ings as well as being available for general corporate purposes. Borrowings 
are unsecured and bear interest based on the relevant LIBOR rate. The 
Company is not subject to any financial covenants, i.e. no performance re-
lated restrictions. The Company pays a commitment fee of 0.06% during 
the first five years (until November 2010) and of 0.07% during year six and 
seven on the unused amount of the RCF given the rating of BBB+ from 
Standard & Poor’s at December 31, 2008. Borrowings are prepayable at any 
time and are due at expiration. Following S&P’s rating change to BBB- on 
February 19, 2009, the commitment fee was changed to 0.075% until No-
vember 2010 and to 0.08% for the following years. 

Under the Swedish medium-term note program of SEK 5 billion (approx-
imately $645 million), floating rate notes in Euro are outstanding. Most of the 
Euro notes are swapped into fixed rate Japanese Yen. The notes have up to 
1.8 years remaining maturity and bear interest rates currently up to 5.7% (a 
note carrying Euro interest rates). In total, $28 million of notes with a remain-
ing maturity of more than one year were outstanding at year-end. The re-
maining other long-term debt, $15 million, consisted primarily of fixed rate 
loans and capital leasing.

In the Company’s financial operations, credit risk arises in connection with 
cash deposits with banks and when entering into forward exchange agree-
ments, swap contracts or other financial instruments. In order to reduce this 
risk, deposits and financial instruments are only entered with a limited number 
of banks up to a calculated risk amount of $75 million per bank. The policy of 
the Company is to work with banks that have a high credit rating and that par-
ticipate in the Company’s financing. In addition to this, deposits can be placed 
in U.S. and Swedish government paper as well as up to $300 million in two 
AAA-rated money market funds. At year end, the Company had placed $225 
million in money market funds and nil in government paper.

The table below shows debt maturity as cash flow in the upper part which 
is reconciled with reported debt in the last row. For a description of hedging 
instruments used as part of debt management, see the Financial Instruments 
section of Note 1 and Note 3.
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15 Stock Incentive Plan  
Under the Autoliv, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) adopted by the 
Shareholders, and as further amended, awards have been made to selected 
executive officers of the Company and other key employees in the form of 
stock options and Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”). 

The Plan provides for the issuance of up to 5,085,055 common shares for 
awards under the Plan. For more information on these rewards, see Note 1.

Information on the number of RSUs and stock options related to the Plan during 
the period 2006 to 2008 is as follows:

RSUs 2008 2007 2006
Outstanding at beginning of year 245,533 279,730 298,265
Granted 87,416 98,298 97,117
Shares issued (79,062)  (124,194)  (112,347)
Cancelled (19,628) (8,301) (3,305)
Outstanding at end of year 234,259 245,533 279,730

   Weighted 
    average 
  number of exercise  
Stock options  options price
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2005  1,039,593 $32.45
Granted  291,350 49.60
Exercised  (238,440) 32.30
Cancelled  (10,519) 33.57
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2006  1,081,984 $37.10
Granted  281,075 58.91
Exercised  (200,097) 41.96
Cancelled  (17,050) 40.56
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2007  1,145,912 $41.55
Granted  262,200 51.52
Exercised  (128,375) 25.26
Cancelled  (65,760) 48.44
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2008  1,213,977 $45.05

Options exercisable 
At December 31, 2006   792,259 $32.52
At December 31, 2007   876,762 $36.22
At December 31, 2008  955,852 $43.30

 

13 Shareholders’ Equity
Number of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2008 was 70,303,761.

Dividends 2008 2007 2006
Cash dividend paid per share $1.60 $1.54  $1.36
Cash dividend declared per share $1.42 $1.56  $1.41
 
Other comprehensive Income /  
Ending Balance  2008 2007 2006
Cumulative translation adjustments  $92.6 $193.3 $85.2
Net gain/  
   loss of cash flow hedge derivatives 0.1 0.1 0.3
Net pension liability (38.4) (5.9) (27.6)
Total (ending balance) $54.3 $187.5 $57.9
Deferred taxes on cash 
   flow hedge derivatives  $(0.0) $(0.0) $(0.1)
Deferred taxes on the pension liability $23.4 $1.8 $13.1

The components of other comprehensive income are net of any related in-
come tax effects.

At December 31, 2006, the Company adopted FAS-158. The equity impact 
of this retirement benefits recognition requirement was a charge to accumulat-
ed other comprehensive income of $18.7 million, net of tax. 

Share Repurchase Program
The Board of Directors approved an expansion of the Company’s existing Stock 
Repurchase Program and authorized the repurchase of an additional 7.5 million 
shares in Autoliv Inc. on November 8, 2007.

Shares 2008 2007 2006
Shares repurchased  
   (shares in millions) 3.7 6.6 4.0
Cash paid for shares $173.5 $380.0 $221.5

In total, Autoliv has repurchased 34.3 million shares since May 2000 for cash 
of $1,473.2 million, including commissions. Of the total amount of repur-
chased shares, approximately 1.8 million shares have been utilized by the 
Stock Incentive Plan whereof 0.2 million were utilized during 2008.

The maximum number of shares that may yet be purchased under the Stock 
Repurchase Program amounted to 3,188,145 shares at December 31, 2008.

14 Supplemental Cash Flow Information   
The Company’s acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired were  
as follows:

 2008 2007 2006
Acquisitions/Divestitures:
Fair value of assets acquired
   excluding cash $(43.5) $(100.9) –
Liabilities assumed (5.8) 24.5 –
Minority interest acquired  – (44.2) –
Acquisition of businesses,  
   net of cash acquired $(49.3) $(120.6) –
 
Payments for interest and income taxes were as follows:

 2008 2007 2006
Interest $58 $59 $54
Income taxes $113 $104 $201
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16 Contingent Liabilities 

Legal Proceedings
Various claims, lawsuits and proceedings are pending or threatened against 
the Company or its subsidiaries, covering a range of matters that arise in the 
ordinary course of its business activities with respect to commercial, product 
liability and other matters.

Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of any litigation 
cannot be assured. After discussions with counsel, it is the opinion of manage-
ment that the various lawsuits to which the Company currently is a party will not 
have a material adverse impact on the consolidated financial position of Autoliv, 
but the Company cannot provide assurance that Autoliv will not experience ma-
terial litigation, product liability or other losses in the future.

Litigation in France (Autoliv Holding Limited)
In 1997, Autoliv AB (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Autoliv, Inc.) acquired Marling 
Industries plc (“Marling”). At that time, Marling was involved in a lawsuit relating 
to the sale in 1992 of a French subsidiary. In May 2006, a French court ruled that 
Marling (now named Autoliv Holding Limited) and another entity, then part of the 
Marling group, had failed to disclose certain facts in connection with the 1992 
sale, and appointed an expert to assess the losses suffered by the plaintiff. The 
acquirer of the French subsidiary has made claims for damages of approxi-
mately €40 million (approximately $56 million) but has not yet provided the court 
appointed expert with the materials needed to evaluate the claims. Autoliv has 
appealed against the May 2006 court decision and believes it has meritorious 
grounds for such appeal. In the opinion of the Company’s management, it is not 
possible to give any meaningful estimate of any financial impact that may arise 
from the claim. While management does not believe it is probable, the final out-
come of this litigation may result in a loss that will have to be recorded by Autoliv,  
Inc. No reserves have been accrued for this dispute.

Litigation in United States (Autoliv ASP, Inc.)
In December 2003, a U.S. Federal District Court awarded a former supplier of 
Autoliv ASP Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Autoliv Inc.), approximately $27 
million plus pre-judgment interest of approximately $7 million in connection with 
a commercial dispute that relates to purchase commitments made in 1995. As a 
result of a final court ruling in 2007, after multiple appeals, Autoliv ASP was held 
liable to the former supplier and deposited a total of $36.4 million with the District 
Court in fulfillment of the award. The incremental cost of the legal settlement in 
2007 of $30.4 million was charged to “Other income (expense), net” in the in-
come statement. On November 14, 2007, the District Court issued an order to 
the effect that Autoliv ASP had fully and completely satisfied the judgment. 

At the beginning of 2008, there remained an open issue as to the calcula-
tion of the pre-judgment interest. The former supplier had sought an additional 
$4.9 million that it attributed to pre-judgment interest and on November 15, 
2007, the former supplier filed a notice of appeal from the District Court’s deci-
sion. On July 10, 2008, the Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court’s deci-
sion. On October 8, 2008, the former supplier filed a petition for writ of certiorari 
(i.e. an appeal) with the United States Supreme  Court. On December 1, 2008, 
the Supreme Court denied the petition.

The following summarizes information about stock options outstanding on December 31, 2008:
  Remaining  Weighted  Weighted 
 number contract life  average number  average 
Range of exercise prices outstanding (in years) exercise price exercisable exercise price
$16.99 - $19.96 146,415 2.76 $18.62 146,415 $ 18.62
$21.36 - $29.37 80,119 3.96 21.46 80,119 21.46
$31.07 - $38.43 3,850 7.54 38.39 850 38.25
$40.26 - $49.60 486,318 6.16 46.57 486,318 46.57
$51.67 - $59.01 497,275 8.66 55.19 242,150 58.90
 1,213,977 6.63 $ 45.05 955,852 $ 43.30
 

Product Warranty and Recalls
Autoliv is exposed to various claims for damages and compensation if prod-
ucts fail to perform as expected. Such claims can be made, and result in costs 
and other losses to the Company, even where the product is eventually found 
to have functioned properly. Where a product (actually or allegedly) fails to per-
form as expected we face warranty and recall claims. Where such (actual or al-
leged) failure results, or is alleged to result, in bodily injury and/or property dam-
age, we may also face product-liability claims. There can be no assurance that 
the Company will not experience material warranty, recall or product (or other) 
liability claims or losses in the future, or that the Company will not incur signifi-
cant costs to defend against such claims. The Company may be required to 
participate in a recall involving its products. Each vehicle manufacturer has its 
own practices regarding product recalls and other product liability actions re-
lating to its suppliers. As suppliers become more integrally involved in the vehi-
cle design process and assume more of the vehicle assembly functions, vehi-
cle manufacturers are increasingly looking to their suppliers for contribution 
when faced with recalls and product liability claims. A warranty, recall or prod-
uct-liability claim brought against the Company in excess of its insurance may 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business. Vehicle manufac-
turers are also increasingly requiring their outside suppliers to guarantee or 
warrant their products and bear the costs of repair and replacement of such 
products under new vehicle warranties. A vehicle manufacturer may attempt to 
hold the Company responsible for some, or all, of the repair or replacement 
costs of defective products under new vehicle warranties, when the product 
supplied did not perform as represented. Accordingly, the future costs of war-
ranty claims by the customers may be material. However, we believe our estab-
lished reserves are adequate to cover potential warranty settlements. Autoliv’s 
warranty reserves are based upon the Company’s best estimates of amounts 
necessary to settle future and existing claims. The Company regularly evalu-
ates the appropriateness of these reserves, and adjusts them when appropri-
ate. However, the final amounts determined to be due related to these matters 
could differ materially from the Company’s recorded estimates.

The Company believes that it is currently reasonably insured against sig-
nificant warranty, recall and product liability risks, at levels sufficient to cover 
potential claims that are reasonably likely to arise in our businesses. Autoliv 
cannot be assured that the level of coverage will be sufficient to cover every 
possible claim that can arise in our businesses, now or in the future, or that 
such coverage always will be available on our current market should we, now 
or in the future, wish to extend or increase insurance.

In its products, the Company utilizes technologies which may be subject to 
intellectual property rights of third parties. While the Company does seek to 
identify the intellectual property rights of relevance to its products, and to pro-
cure the necessary rights to utilize such intellectual property rights, we may fail 
to do so. Where we so fail, we may be exposed to material claims from the own-
ers of such rights. Where the Company has sold products which infringe upon 
such rights, our customers may be entitled to be indemnified by us for the 
claims they suffer as a result thereof. Also such claims could be material.   
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Service cost $5.5 $6.6 $6.7
Interest cost 8.8 8.4 7.9
Expected return on plan assets  (9.5) (8.9) (8.4)
Amortization of prior service costs (1.0) 0.1 0.1
Amortization of actuarial loss  0.1 0.3 1.4
net periodic benefit cost $3.9 $6.5 $7.7

  non-U.S. 
 2008 2007  2006
Service cost $9.5 $9.3 $8.9
Interest cost 6.0 5.6 4.3
Expected return on plan assets  (3.6) (2.9) (2.4)
Amortization of prior service costs 0.1 0.1 0.4
Amortization of actuarial loss  0.4 1.3 1.2
Settlements and curtailments (1.6) – –
Special termination benefits 0.3 2.2 –
Other – – 0.1
net periodic benefit cost $11.1 $15.6 $12.5

The Company has a number of defined benefit pension plans, both contributor y 
and non-contributory, in the U.S., Australia, Canada, Germany, France,  
Japan, Mexico, Sweden, South Korea, India, Turkey, Philippines and the Unit-
ed Kingdom. There are funded as well as unfunded plan arrangements which 
provide retirement benefits to both U.S. and non-U.S. participants. The main 
plan is the U.S. plan for which the benefits are based on an average of the em-
ployee’s earnings in the years preceding retirement and on credited service. 
The Company has closed participation in the Autoliv ASP, Inc. Pension Plan to 
exclude those employees hired after December 31, 2003. For the Company’s 
non-U.S. defined benefit plans the most significant individual plan resides in 
the U.K. The Company has closed participation in the U.K. defined benefit plan 
for all employees hired after April 30, 2003. The U.K. benefits are based on an 
average of the employee’s earnings in the last three years preceding retirement 
and on credited service. Members in the U.K. plan contribute to the plan at the 
rate of 9% of pensionable salaries. 

The estimated prior service credit for the U.S. defined benefit pension plans 
that will be amortized from other comprehensive income into net benefit cost 
over the next fiscal year is $1.0 million. Amortization of net losses is expected to 
be $5.6 million. Net periodic benefit cost associated with these U.S. plans was 
$3.9 million in 2008 and is expected to be around $13.2 million in 2009. The esti-
mated net loss and prior service cost for the non-U.S. defined benefit pension 
plans that will be amortized from other comprehensive income into net benefit 
cost over the next fiscal year are $0.4 and $0.1 million respectively. Net periodic 
benefit cost associated with these non-U.S. plans was $11.1 million in 2008 
and is expected to be around $11.4 million in 2009.  The amortization of the net 
actuarial loss is made over the estimated remaining service lives of the plan par-
ticipants, 9 years for U.S. and 6-23 years for non-U.S. participants, varying be-
tween the different countries depending on the age of the work force.

17 Lease Commitments
Operating Lease
The Company leases certain offices, manufacturing and research buildings, 
machinery, automobiles, data processing and other equipment under operat-
ing lease contracts. The operating leases, some of which are non-cancelable 
and include renewals, expire at various dates through 2029. The Company 
pays most maintenance, insurance and tax expenses relating to leased as-
sets. Rental expense for operating leases was $30.8 million for 2008, $26.4 
million for 2007 and $24.3 million for 2006.

At December 31, 2008, future minimum lease payments for non-cancela-
ble operating leases total $90.6 million and are payable as follows (in millions):  
2009: $20.2; 2010: $17.1; 2011: $14.4; 2012: $11.5; 2013: $10.2; 2014 and 
thereafter: $17.2.

Capital Lease
The Company leases certain property, plant and equipment under capital lease 
contracts. The capital leases expire at various dates through 2016. At Decem-
ber 31, 2008, future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable capital leases 
total $5.7 million and are payable as follows (in millions):  2009: $1.3; 2010: $1.0; 
2011: $0.8; 2012: $0.8; 2013: $0.7; 2014 and thereafter: $1.1.

18 Retirement Plans 
Defined Contribution Plans
Many of the Company’s employees are covered by government sponsored 
pension and welfare programs. Under the terms of these programs, the Com-
pany makes periodic payments to various government agencies. In addition, in 
some countries the Company sponsors or participates in certain non-govern-
mental defined contribution plans. Contributions to multi-employer plans for 
the year ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $1.9 million, $2.4 mil-
lion and $2.7 million, respectively. Contributions to defined contribution plans 
for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $15.3 million, 
$16.1 million and $15.2 million, respectively.

Defined Benefit Plans
On December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the recognition, disclosure and 
measurement provisions of FAS-158 which requires the funded status (i.e., the 
difference between the fair value of plan assets and the projected benefit obli-
gations) of the Company’s defined benefit pension and other post retirement 
benefit plans to be recognized in the statement of financial position, with a cor-
responding adjustment to Accumulated other Comprehensive Income, net of 
tax. The adjustment of $18.7 million to Accumulated other Comprehensive In-
come at adoption represents the net unrecognized actuarial losses, prior serv-
ice costs, and transition obligation remaining from the measurement and rec-
ognition provisions of FAS-87 which required these items to be netted against 
the plan’s funded status. These amounts will then be subsequently recognized 
as net periodic pension costs. Actuarial gains and losses arising in subsequent 
periods not recognized as net periodic pension costs will be recognized as a 
component of Other Comprehensive Income and then taken in as a component 
of net periodic pension expense on the same basis as similar amounts reflected 
at adoption.    

Components of net Periodic Benefit Cost Associated with the 
Defined Benefit Retirement Plans
  U.S.  
 2008 2007  2006



AUTOLIV ANNUAL REPORT 2008    61

notes

Changes in Benefit Obligations and Plan  
Assets for the Periods Ended December 31
    U.S.  non-U.S.
 2008 2007 2008 2007
Benefit obligation at
   beginning of year $137.2 $152.6 $128.7 $120.0
Service cost 5.5 6.6 9.5 9.4
Interest cost 8.8 8.4 6.0 5.6
Actuarial (gain) loss due to:
   Change in discount rate – (9.5) (2.0) (10.3)
   Experience 2.1 (1.4) (0.9) (1.7)
   Other assumption changes 11.4 – (1.9) 1.6 

Plan participants’ contributions – – 0.2 0.2
Plan amendments – (9.4) – 0.4
Benefits paid (7.6) (10.1) (5.3) (4.2)
Settlements and curtailments – – (4.1) (0.6)
Special termination benefits – – 0.3 2.2
Other – – (0.1) (0.0)
Translation difference – – (10.1) 6.1
Benefit obligation at end of year $157.4 $137.2 $120.3 $128.7
Fair value of plan assets at  
   beginning of year $131.0 $122.7 $71.6 $56.1
Actual return on plan assets (35.3) 9.3 (0.6) 3.0
Company contributions 14.8 9.1 11.9 14.7
Plan participants’ contributions – – 0.2 0.2
Benefits paid (7.6) (10.1) (5.3) (4.1)
Settlements – – (1.8) (0.2)
Other – – (0.1) (0.2)
Translation difference – – (12.1) 2.1
Fair value of plan assets at year end $102.9 $131.0 $63.8 $71.6
Accrued retirement benefit cost 
   recognized in the balance sheet $(54.5) $(6.2) $(56.5) $(57.1)

In order to more accurately reflect a market-derived pension obligation, Autoliv 
changed the interest rate assumption used for calculating the benefit obligation 
associated with future lump sum distributions. The approach is required by the 
Pension Protection Act of 2006 and reflects market conditions as of December 
31, 2008. Because the average bond yields that underlie the lump sum valua-
tions fell abruptly during December 2008, and because lump sum distributions 
increase as these yields decline, this change resulted in an increase in the U.S. 
pension obligation of approximately $11 million.

The short-term portion of the pension liability is not significant.

Components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive  
Income as of December 31 (before tax) 
  U.S.  non-U.S.
 2008 2007 2008 2007
Net actuarial loss (gain) $65.3 $7.2 $7.9 $10.3
Prior service cost (credit) (8.0) (9.0) 0.2 0.3
Total accumulated other comprehensive income 
   recognized in the balance sheet $57.3 $(1.8) $8.1 $10.6

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income  
for the Periods Ended December 31 (before tax)
  U.S.  non-U.S.
 2008 2007 2008 2007
 Total retirement benefit recognized in 
   Accumulated other comprehensive   
   income at beginning of year $(1.8) $19.3 $10.6     $21.9
Net actuarial loss (gain) 58.2 (11.3) (1.5) (10.6)
Prior service cost (credit) – (9.4) – 0.4
Amortization of prior service costs 1.0 (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)
Amortization of actuarial loss (0.1) (0.3) (0.4) (1.5)
Translation difference – – (0.5) 0.5
Total retirement benefit recognized in 
  Accumulated other comprehensive   
   income at end of year $57.3 $(1.8)   $8.1 $10.6

The accumulated benefit obligation for the U.S. non-contributory defined 
benefit pension plans was $133.6 million and $112.3 million at December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively. The accumulated benefit obligation for the non-
U.S. defined benefit pension plans was $103.5 million and $111.6 million at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Pension plans for which the accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) is nota-
bly in excess of the plan assets reside in the following countries: France, Ger-
many, Japan, Sweden and the U.S. 

Pension Plans for which ABO Exceeds  
the Fair Value of Plan Assets as of December 31 
  U.S. non-U.S. 
  2008 2008
Projected Benefit Obligation (PBO)  $157.4 $73.1
Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO)  133.6 57.2
Fair value of plan assets  $102.9 $12.3

The Company, in consultation with its actuarial advisors, determines certain key 
assumptions to be used in calculating the projected benefit obligation and an-
nual  net periodic benefit cost.

 
Assumptions used to determine the  
Benefit Obligations as of December 31
  U.S.  non-U.S.
%, weighted average 2008 2007 2008 2007
Discount rate 6.40 6.40 2-11 2-11
Rate of increases 
   in compensation level 4.00 4.00 2.25-5.50 2.25-8

Assumptions used to determine the  
net periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31
  U.S.  
%, weighted average 2008 2007 2006
Discount rate 6.40 5.75 5.50
Rate of increases in compensation level 4.00 4.00 4.00
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 7.50 7.50 7.50
  non-U.S. 
%, weighted average 2008 2007 2006
Discount rate 2-11 2.25-8.5 2-8.5
Rate of increases in compensation level 2.25-8 2-7 2.5-10
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 2-8 2.25-6.75 1.5-7
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Pension Benefits  
Expected Payments  U.S. non-U.S.
2009  $15.6 $4.0
2010  13.9 4.9
2011  12.5 5.7
2012  11.5 7.2
2013  12.6 6.1
Years 2014-2018  $70.4 $42.2

Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions
The Company currently provides postretirement health care and life insurance 
benefits to most of its U.S. retirees. Such benefits in other countries are in-
cluded in the tables below, but are not significant.

In general, the terms of the plans provide that U.S. employees who retire af-
ter attaining age 55, with five years of service (15 years after December 31, 
2006), are eligible for continued health care and life insurance coverage. De-
pendent health care and life insurance coverage is also available. Most retirees 
contribute toward the cost of health care coverage with the contributions gen-
erally varying based on service. In June 1993, a provision was adopted which 
caps the level of the Company’s subsidy at the amount in effect as of the year 
2000 for most employees who retire after December 31, 1992. Additionally, the 
plan was further amended in 2003 to restrict participation to retirees who were 
eligible retirees or active participants in the Autoliv ASP, Inc. Pension Plan as of 
December 31, 2003. Effective January 1, 2007, the plan provides a company-
paid subsidy based on service for all current and future retirees. The amount of 
the company-paid subsidy is frozen and will not change in the future. Generally, 
employees will need 15 years of service to qualify for a benefit from the plan in 
the future. The effect of these changes is reflected in the December 31, 2006 
measurement of the Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation.

At present, there is no pre-funding of the postretirement benefits recognized 
under FAS-106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than 
Pensions (“FAS-106”). The Company has reviewed the impact of the Medicare 
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (Medicare Part 
D) on its financial statements under FAS-106. Although the Plan may currently 
qualify for a subsidy from Medicare, the amount of the subsidy is so small that 
the expenses incurred to file for the subsidy may exceed the subsidy itself. 
Therefore the impact of any subsidy is ignored in the FAS-106 calculations as 
Autoliv will not be filing for any reimbursement from Medicare.  

Components of net Periodic Benefit Cost Associated  
with the Postretirement benefit plans other than pensions
Period ended December 31 2008 2007 2006
Service cost $1.1 $1.2 $1.2
Interest cost 1.5 1.3 1.3
net periodic benefit cost $2.6 $2.5 $2.5

The discount rate for the U.S. plan has been set based on the rates of return on 
high-quality fixed-income investments currently available at the measurement 
date and expected to be available during the period the benefits will be paid. In 
particular, the yields on bonds rated AA or better on the measurement date have 
been used to set the discount rate. The discount rate for the U.K. plan has been set 
based on the weighted average yields on long-term high-grade corporate bonds 
and is determined by reference to financial markets on the measurement date. 

The expected rate of increase in compensation levels and long-term rate 
of return on plan assets are determined based on a number of factors and 
must take into account long-term expectations and reflect the financial envi-
ronment in the respective local market. 

From 2007 and on, the level of equity exposure is targeted at approximately 
65% for U.S. plans and approximately 50% for all plans combined. The actual 
57% equity allocation for U.S. plans in 2008 is a result of the substantial de-
cline in the equity markets. Though the U.S. plan maintains its Target Equity al-
location of 65%, the Investment Committee has elected not to re-balance the 
asset allocation pending the completion of an asset liability study to re-evalu-
ate the plans investment strategy going forward. The investment objective is to 
provide an attractive risk-adjusted return that will ensure the payment of bene-
fits while protecting against the risk of substantial investment losses. Correla-
tions among the asset classes are used to identify an asset mix that Autoliv be-
lieves will provide the most attractive returns. Long-term return forecasts for 
each asset class using historical data and other qualitative considerations to 
adjust for projected economic forecasts are used to set the expected rate of 
return for the entire portfolio. The Company assumes a long-term rate of return 
on the U.S. plan assets of 7.5% for calculating the 2008 expense.

The Company has assumed a long-term rate of return on the non-U.S. 
plan assets in a range of 2-8% for 2008. The closed U.K. plan which has a tar-
geted and actual allocation of 100% debt instruments accounts for over 45% 
of the total non-U.S. plan assets. 

Fair value of total plan assets for years ended December 31
Autoliv made contributions to the U.S. plan during 2008 amounting to $14.8 
million and in 2007 to $9.1 million. Contributions to the U.K. plan during 2008 
amounted to $3.1 million. The Company expects to contribute $6.2 million to its 
U.S. pension plan in 2009 and is currently projecting a funding level of $6.0 mil-
lion in the years thereafter. For the UK plan, which is the most significant non-
U.S. pension plan, the Company expects to contribute $2.5 million in 2009 and 
is projecting a gradually decreasing funding level in the years thereafter.

Assets category in %, U.S. U.S.  non-U.S.
weighted average  Target allocation 2008 2007 2008 2007
Equity securities 65 57 67 12 13
Debt instruments 35 43 33 56 54
Other – – – 32 33
Total 100  100 100 100 100

Other Non-U.S. assets mainly consists of insurance contracts accounted for as 
investments and measured at their cash surrender value.

The estimated future benefit payments for the pension benefits reflect ex-
pected future service, as appropriate. The amount of benefit payments in a giv-
en year may vary from the projected amount, especially for the U.S. plan since 
this plan pays the majority of benefits as a lump sum, where the lump sum 
amounts vary with market interest rates.
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Changes in Benefit Obligations and Plan Assets as of December 31
  2008 2007
Benefit obligation at
   beginning of year  $24.9 $24.2
Service cost  1.1 1.2
Interest cost  1.5 1.3
Actuarial (gain) loss due to:
   Change in discount rate  (0.6) (2.0)
   Experience  (0.9) (0.2)
   Other assumption changes  (0.4) 1.0
Benefits paid  (0.8) (1.0)
Employee contributions  – 0.4 

Benefit obligation at end of year  $24.8 $24.9

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year  $– $–
Company contributions  0.8 1.0
Benefits paid  (0.8) (1.0)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year   $– $–
Accrued postretirement benefit cost 
   recognized in the balance sheet  $(24.8) $(24.9)

The liability for postretirement benefits other than pensions is classified as other 
non-current liabilities in the balance sheet. The short-term portion of the liability 
for postretirement benefits other than pensions is not significant.

Components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive  
Income as of  December 31 (before tax)
 U.S.  non-U.S.
 2008 2007 2008 2007
Net actuarial loss (gain) $(2.1) $(1.3) $(0.9) $–
Prior service cost (credit) (0.5) (0.6) – 0.2
Total accumulated other comprehensive income 
   recognized in the balance sheet $(2.6) $(1.9) $(0.9) $0.2

For measuring end-of-year obligations at December 31, 2008, health care 
trends are not needed due to the fixed-cost nature of the benefits provided in 
2008 and beyond. After  2006, all retirees receive a fixed dollar subsidy toward 
the cost of their health benefits. The subsidy will not increase in future years.

The weighted average discount rate used to determine the U.S. postretire-
ment benefit obligation was 6.40% in 2008 and in 2007. The average discount 
rate used in determining the postretirement benefit cost was 6.40% in 2008, 
5.75% in 2007 and 5.50% in 2006.

A one percentage point increase or decrease in the annual health care cost 
trend rates would have had no significant impact on the Company’s net bene-
fit cost for the current period or on the accumulated postretirement benefit 
obligation at December 31, 2008. This is due to the fixed-dollar nature of the 
benefits provided under the plan.

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the postretirement benefit 
plans that will be amortized from other comprehensive income into net benefit 
cost over the next fiscal year are approximately $0.1 million combined.

The estimated future benefit payments for the postretirement benefits re-
flect expected future service as appropriate.

Postretirement Benefits   Expected Payments
2009   $ 0.9
2010   1.0
2011   1.1
2012   1.2
2013   1.4
Years 2014-2018   $ 9.3

19 Segment Information
Automotive safety products (mainly various airbag and seatbelt products and 
components) are integrated complete systems that function together with 
common electronic and sensing systems, and hence are considered as one 
business segment. 

The customers consist of all major European, U.S. and Asian automobile 
manufacturers. Sales to individual customers representing 10% or more of 
net sales were: 

In 2008: Renault 13% (incl. Nissan); Ford 12% (incl. Volvo Cars with 4%); 
Volkswagen 11% and GM 10% (incl. Opel, Holden, SAAB, etc.).

In 2007: Ford 18% (incl. Volvo Cars with 6%, Mazda, Jaguar, etc.); Re-
nault 12% (incl. Nissan); GM 11% (incl. Opel, Holden, SAAB, etc.); and 
Volkswagen 10%.

In 2006: Ford 20% (incl. Volvo Cars with 6%, Mazda, Jaguar, etc.); Re-
nault 12% (incl. Nissan); and GM 12% (incl. Opel, Holden, SAAB, etc.); and 
Volkswagen 10%.
The Company has concluded that its operating segments meet the criteria, 
stated in FAS-131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related 
Information, for aggregation for reporting purposes into a single operating 
segment.

net sales 2008 2007 2006
North America $1,510  $1,711 $1,721
Europe 3,438  3,661 3,251
Japan 740  627 559
Rest of the World 785 770 657
Total $6,473  $6,769 $6,188

Long-lived Assets 2008  2007 2006
North America $1,972  $1,938 $1,962
Europe 693  838 759
Japan 144  122 118
Rest of the World 310  312 173
Total  $3,119 $3,210 $3,012

The Company’s operations are located primarily in Europe and the United 
States. Exports from the U.S. to other regions amounted to approximately 
$253 million, $311 million and $387 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively. Net sales in the U.S. amounted to $1,179 million, $1,436 million and 
$1,549 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Long-lived assets in the U.S. amounted to $1,812 million, $1,752 million and 
$1,780 million for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. For 2008, $1,540 million 
(2007 $1,522 million) of the long-lived assets in the U.S. refers to intangible as-
sets, principally from acquisition goodwill. 

The Company has attributed net sales to the geographic area based on the 
location of the entity selling the final product.

Sales by product 2008  2007 2006
Airbags and associated 
   products1) $4,130  $4,377 $4,085
Seatbelts and associated 
   products2) 2,343  2,392 2,103
Total $6,473  $6,769 $6,188

1) Includes sales of Steering wheels, Electronics, Inflators and Initiators.

2) Includes sales of Seat components.
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notes

20 Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2008
Net sales $1,827.7 $1,907.7 $1,544.7 $1,193.1
Gross profit 349.6 371.7 261.0 141.9
Income/(loss) before taxes 113.5 134.6 47.21)            (46.6)2)

Net income/(loss) 81.5 90.4 31.21) (38.4)2)

Earnings/(loss) per share
- basic $1.11 $1.25 $0.441)   $(0.55)2)

- diluted $1.11 $1.24 $0.441) $(0.55)2)

Dividends paid $0.39 $0.39 $0.41 $0.41

2007
Net sales $1,699.2 $1,728.3 $1,557.2 $1,784.3
Gross profit 337.4 343.7 302.3 347.2
Income before taxes 113.2 88.83) 95.0 149.2
Net income 73.2 57.53) 63.2 94.0
Earnings per share
- basic $0.91 $0.733) $0.82   $1.25
- diluted $0.91 $0.723) $0.81 $1.25
Dividends paid $0.37 $0.39 $0.39 $0.39

1) Severance and restructuring reduced income before taxes by $33 million, net income by $23 
million and EPS by 32 cents.

2) Severance and restructuring reduced income before taxes by $40 million, net income by $26 
million and EPS by 38 cents.

3) Increase in legal reserve reduced income before taxes by $30 million, net income by $20 million 
and EPS by 26 cents.

Exchange Rates for key Currencies vs. U.S. dollar

 2008 2008 2007 2007 2006 2006 2005 2005 2004 2004 
 Average Year end Average Year end Average Year end Average Year end Average Year end
EUR 1.459 1.411 1.368 1.465 1.255 1.317 1.243 1.186 1.241 1.362
SEK 0.152 0.129 0.148 0.155 0.136 0.146 0.134 0.126 0.136 0.151
JPY/1000 9.738 11.093 8.491 8.844 8.606 8.410 9.081 8.526 9.239 9.641
KRW/1000 0.911 0.795 1.074 1.068 1.045 1.076 0.984 0.997 0.872 0.960
MXN 0.090 0.074 0.092 0.091 0.092 0.092 0.092 0.094 0.089 0.089
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Auditor’s Reports

Report on Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm

Report on Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Autoliv, Inc.,
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Autoliv, 

Inc. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated state-
ments of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2008.  These financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to ex-
press an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards re-
quire that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of Autoliv, Inc. at Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations and its 

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008, 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 4 to the financial statements effective Janu-
ary 1, 2007 the Company changed its method of accounting for uncertainty in 
income taxes. Also, as discussed in Notes 1 and 18 to the financial state-
ments, in 2006 the Company changed its method of accounting for defined 
benefit pension and other post retirement plans. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Autoliv, Inc.’s internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established 
in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsor-
ing Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 
20, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Stockholm, Sweden 
February 20, 2009    Ernst & Young AB

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Autoliv, Inc.,
We have audited Autoliv, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of 

December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrat-
ed Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Autoliv, Inc.’s management is re-
sponsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial report-
ing included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control 
over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the com-
pany’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards re-
quire that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was main-
tained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding 
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effective-
ness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such oth-
er procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accord-
ance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) per-
tain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and 
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) 

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accept-
ed accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company 
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and di-
rectors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding pre-
vention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the 
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting 
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Autoliv, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on 
the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Com-
pany Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance 
sheets of Autoliv, Inc. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related con-
solidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 of Autoliv, Inc. and 
our report dated February 20, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Stockholm, Sweden   
February 20, 2009    Ernst & Young AB
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Corporate Governance

Autoliv is a Delaware holding corporation with its 
principal executive office in Stockholm, Sweden. 

In addition to federal or state law and regula-
tions, Autoliv is governed primarily by the follow-
ing documents. All of them are available on 
Autoliv’s  corporate website www.autoliv.com un-
der Investors/Governance.

 Restated Certificate of Incorporation •	
of Autoliv, Inc.
 Restated By-laws of Autoliv, Inc.•	
 Corporate Governance Guidelines•	
 Charters of the Standing Committees  •	
of the Board
 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics•	
 Code of Conduct and Ethics for Directors•	
 Code of Conduct and Ethics  •	
for Senior Officers

Shareholders’ meeting
The Shareholders’ Meeting elects the Board of Di-
rectors. Shareholders also adopted the Autoliv Inc. 
Stock Incentive Plan in 1997 and subsequent 
amendments. 

At the Shareholders’ Meeting each sharehold-
er is entitled to one vote for each share of com-
mon stock. Shareholders can vote on the Internet 
or by sending proxy cards to the Company. 

Only such business shall be conducted at a 
Shareholders’ Meeting that has been properly 
brought before the meeting. Stockholder proposals 
for the 2010 annual meeting must be received by 
the Company on or before November 19, 2009. 

The Board
The Board is entrusted with, and responsible 
for, overseeing the assets and business affairs 
of the Company. 

To assist the Board in the exercise of its re-
sponsibilities, it has adopted Corporate Govern-
ance Guidelines which reflect its commitment to 
monitor the effectiveness of policy and decision 
making both at the Board and management level. 
The purpose is to enhance long-term shareholder 
value and to assure the vitality of Autoliv for its cus-
tomers, employees and other individuals and or-
ganizations that depend on the Company.

To achieve this purpose, the Board monitors 
the performance of the Company in relation to its 
goals, strategy, competitors, etc., and the 
 performance of the Chief Executive  Officer (CEO) 

and provides constructive advice and feedback.
The Board is free to choose its chairman in a way 
that it deems best for the Company, and hence 
does not require the separation of the offices of 
the Chairman of the Board and the CEO. 

The Board has full access to management and 
to Autoliv’s outside advisors. The work of the Board 
is reported annually in the proxy statement (see 
www.autoliv.com/investor/governance). 

According to the Certificate of Incorporation, 
the number of directors may be fixed from time to 
time exclusively by the Board, and the directors 
are divided into three classes for terms of three 
years. The Board believes that it should generally 
have no fewer than nine and no more than twelve 
directors. Currently, the Board consists of 13 di-
rectors following a temporary expansion in Decem-
ber (see Proxy Statement).

Directors
Directors are expected to spend the time and ef-
fort necessary to properly discharge their respon-
sibilities, and accordingly, regularly attend meet-
ings of the Board and committees on which 
directors sit. Directors are also expected to attend 
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

The Board is responsible for nominating mem-
bers for election to the Board and for filling vacan-
cies on the Board that may occur between annu-
al meetings of shareholders.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee is responsible for identifying, screen-
ing and recommending candidates to the Board. 
The Committee will consider director candidates 
nominated by shareholders.

Nominees for director are selected on the ba-
sis of many factors, for example experience, knowl-
edge, skill, expertise, integrity, understanding of 
Autoliv’s business environment and willingness to 
devote adequate time and effort to the Board.

The Board must be comprised of a majority of 
directors who qualify as independent under the list-
ing standards of the New York Stock Exchange. 
Currently, all board members except for the current 
and former CEO are independent. Normally, no 
more than one management executive may serve 
on the Board. Currently, the CEO is the only exec-
utive manager who also serves on the Board.

On an annual basis, the Board reviews the re-
lations that each director has with the  Company 

to assess independence. Directors who are also 
employees of the Company are generally expect-
ed to resign from the Board at the same time as 
their employment with the Company ends.

New directors are provided information about 
Autoliv’s business and operations, strategic plans, 
significant financial, accounting and risk manage-
ment issues, compliance programs and various 
codes and guidelines.

Board Compensation
A director who is also an officer of the Company 
does not receive additional compensation for serv-
ice as a director. 

Current Board compensation is disclosed in 
Autoliv’s Proxy Statement together with the com-
pensation of the five most highly compensated 
senior executives. Directors’ fees are the only com-
pensation that the members of the  Audit Commit-
tee can receive from Autoliv.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee sponsors an annual self-assessment 
of the Board’s performance as well as the perform-
ance of each committee of the Board. The results 
of such assessments are discussed with the full 
Board and each committee.

Board meetings
There shall be five regularly scheduled meetings 
of the Board each year, and at least one regular-
ly scheduled meeting of the Board must be held 
quarterly.

The meetings of the Board generally follow a 
master agenda which is discussed and agreed ear-
ly each year, but any director is free to raise any 
other subjects.

The independent directors normally meet in ex-
ecutive sessions in conjunction with each meeting 
of the Board and shall meet at least four times a 
year. The lead independent director is presently 
Mr. S. Jay Stewart.

Committee matters
All members of the standing board committees are 
determined by the Board to qualify as independ-
ent directors. The committees operate under writ-
ten charters and issue yearly reports that are dis-
closed in the proxy statement. 

There are three standing committees of the 
Board: Audit Committee, Compensation Com-

This section should be read in conjunction with the proxy statement, which will be available at 
www.autoliv.com beginning of the last week of March 2009. Please also refer to page 37-40 about 
 Risk Management and page 42 about Internal Control in this Annual Report. 
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mittee and Nominating and Corporate Govern-
ance Committee:

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee appoints, at its sole discre-
tion (subject to shareholder ratification), the firm of 
independent auditors that audit the annual finan-
cial statements. The committee is also responsi-
ble for the compensation, retention and oversight 
of the work of the external auditors as well as for 
any special assignments given to the auditors. 

The committee also reviews the annual audit 
and its scope, including the independent auditors’ 
letter of comments and management’s responses 
thereto; possible violations of Autoliv’s business 
ethics and conflicts of interest policies; any major 
accounting changes made or contemplated; ap-
proves any Related Person Transaction; and re-
views the effectiveness and efficiency of Autoliv’s 
internal audit staff. In addition, the committee con-
firms that no restrictions have been imposed by 
Company personnel in terms of the scope of the 
independent auditors’ examinations. 

Each of the Audit Committee members pos-
sesses financial literacy and accounting or related 
financial management expertise.

Currently, two members are determined to 
qualify as audit committee financial experts.

Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee advises the Board 
with respect to the compensation to be paid to the 
directors and senior executives and approves and 
advises the Board with respect to the terms of con-
tracts to be entered into with the senior executives. 

The committee also administers Autoliv’s in-
centive plans as well as perquisites and other ben-
efits to the executive officers.

nominating and Corporate  
Governance Committee
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Com-
mittee assists the Board in identifying potential 
candidates to the Board, reviewing the composi-
tion of the Board and its committees, monitoring 
a process to assess Board effectiveness and de-
veloping and implementing Autoliv’s Corporate 
Governance Guidelines. 

The committee will consider stockholder nom-
inees for election to the Board if timely advance 
written notice of such nominees is received by the 
secretary of the Company. 

Leadership Development
The Board is responsible for identifying poten tial 
candidates for, as well as selecting, the CEO. The 
Board is also responsible for an annual perform-

ance review of the CEO, and a summary report is 
discussed amongst independent directors in exec-
utive sessions and thereafter with the CEO.

The Board must plan for the succession to 
the position of the CEO and be assisted by the 
CEO who shall prepare and distribute to the 
Board an annual report on succession planning 
for senior officers.

The Board must determine that satisfactory 
systems are in effect for education, develop-
ment and succession of senior and mid-level 
management.

Ethical Codes
To maintain the highest legal and ethical stand-
ards, the Board has adopted three Codes of Busi-
ness Conduct and Ethics. Two of them are specif-
ic for senior officers and directors, respectively, 
while the third code is general for all employees. 

Employees are encouraged to report any vio-
lations of law or the Autoliv codes, and no individ-
ual will suffer retaliation for reporting in good faith 
violations of law or the codes.

Reports can be made to Autoliv’s Compliance 
Counsel (for contact information see page 27) or 
by calling the Corporate Compliance “Hotline” – 
a toll free number in each country – and leave a 
message anonymously on the voice mail.

meetings and Committees1) 2008
      nominating & 
 Independent2) Board Audit  Compensation Corp. Gov. nationality
Lars Westerberg  No 5/5 –  – – SWE
Robert W. Alspaugh3) Yes 5/5 8/8  – – US
Jan Carlson No 5/5 –  – – SWE
Sune Carlsson Yes 5/5 8/8  – – SWE
William E. Johnston Jr. Yes 4/5 –  4/4 3/3 US
Walter Kunerth Yes 5/5 –  – 3/3 GER
George A. Lorch Yes 4/5 –  4/4 – US
Lars Nyberg3) Yes 5/5 8/8  3/4 – SWE
James M. Ringler Yes 4/5 –  3/4 – US
Kazuhiko Sakamoto Yes 5/5 –  – 3/3 JPN
S. Jay Stewart  Yes 5/5 –  – 3/3 US
Per Welin3,5) Yes 5/5 8/8  – – SWE
Wolfgang Ziebart4, 5) Yes 1/1 –  – – GER

1) Attended meetings in relation to total possible meetings for each member. 2) Under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the SEC.  
3) Qualifies/qualified as audit committee financial expert. 4) Elected December 16 . 5) Mr. Ziebart succeeded Mr. Welin in the Audit Committee on February 17, 2009. 
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Board of Directors

1. Lars Westerberg
Born 1948. Chairman since 2007. Director since 
1999. Elected until 2010. Former CEO. Chairman 
of Husqvarna AB. and Vattenfall AB, Director of 
SSAB and Volvo AB. M.Sc. and BBA. 

2. Robert W. Alspaugh
Born 1947. Director since 2006. Elected until 
2010. Former CEO of KPMG International. 
Former Deputy Chairman and COO of KPMG’s 
U.S. practice. BBA.

3. Jan Carlson
Born 1960. President and CEO. Director since May 
2007. Elected until 2011. Former Vice President En-
gineering. Former President of Autoliv Europe, Au-
toliv Electronics, and of SAAB Combitech. M.Sc.

4. Sune Carlsson
Born 1941. Director since 2003. Elected until 2011. 
Former President and CEO of AB SKF. Former Ex-
ecutive Vice President of ASEA AB and ABB Ltd. 
Chairman of Atlas Copco AB. Director of Investor 
AB and Stena AB. M.Sc.

5. William E. Johnston Jr.
Born 1940. Director since 2005. Elected until 2011. 
Former President, COO and Director of Morton In-
ternational, Inc. Former Chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board of Salins Europe S.A. Former Senior 
Vice President of Rohm & Haas Co. Director of Uni-
trin Inc. MBA. 

6. Walter kunerth 
Born 1940. Director since 1998. Elected until 2010. 
Industry consultant. Former member of Siemens’ 
Corporate Executive Board and President of Sie-
mens’ Automotive Systems Group. Chairman of 
the Supervisory Boards of Götz AG and Paragon 
AG. Director of the Supervisory Board of Gilde-
meister AG. Dr.Sc. Honorary Professor.

7. George A. Lorch 
Born 1941. Director since 2003. Elected until 2009. 
Former Chairman, President and CEO of Arm-
strong World Industries. Chairman Emeritus of 
Armstrong Holdings, Inc. Director of Pfizer, Inc., 
Williams Cos, HSBC North America Holdings Com-
pany and HSBC Finance. B.Sc.

8. Lars nyberg 
Born 1951. Director since 2004. Elected until 2010. 
President and CEO of Telia Sonera AB. Former 
Chairman and CEO of NCR Corp. BBA.

9. James m. Ringler
Born 1946. Director since 2002. Elected until 
2009. Chairman of Teradata Corp. Former Vice 
Chairman of Illinois Tool Works Inc. Former 
Chairman, President and CEO of Premark Inter-
national, Inc. Director of Dow Chemical Compa-
ny, FMC Technologies Inc., JBT Corporation, and 
Corn Products Corporation. B.Sc. and MBA.

10. kazuhiko Sakamoto
Born 1945. Director since August 2007. Elected 
until 2009. President of Marubeni Construction Ma-
terial Lease Co. Ltd. an affiliate of Marubeni Cor-
poration, for which he serves a corporate advisor. 
Graduate of Keio University and participant of the 
Harvard University Research Institute for Interna-
tional Affairs.

11. S. Jay Stewart1)

Lead Independent Director. Born 1938. Director 
since 1989. Elected until 2011. Former  Chairman 
of Autoliv Inc., Former Chairman and CEO of Mor-
ton International, Inc. Director of KapStone Paper 
and Packaging Corp. B.Sc. and MBA.

12. Per Welin1) 
Born 1936. Director since 1995. Elected until 2009. 
Chairman of L-E Lundberg-företagen AB. M.Sc., 
Techn. Lic. and MBA. 

13. Wolfgang Ziebart 
Born 1950. Director since December 16, 2008. 
Elected until 2009. Former President & CEO of In-
fineon Technologies AG, Former member of the 
executive boards of BMW and of Continental AG. 
Dr. Sc.

1. 2.

3. 4.

5. 6.

7. 8.

9. 10.

11. 12.

13.

1) “Director since” includes time as director of Autoliv AB and Mor-
ton International, Inc. 
For information on the work of the Board, compensation to and 
presentations of directors, please refer to the proxy statement.
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Senior management

1. Jan Carlson
President & CEO
Born 1960. Employed 1999

2. Steven Fredin
Vice President Engineering
Born 1962. Employed 1988

3. marika Fredriksson
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Born 1963. Employed 2008

4. Halvar Jonzon
Vice President Purchasing
Born 1950. Employed 2001

5. Svante mogefors
Vice President Quality and acting Vice President 
Manufacturing. Born 1955. Employed 1996

nAmE SHARES1) RSU’S1) OPTIOnS1) TOTAL1)

Board of Directors
Lars Westerberg2) 72,000 – 148,000 220,000
Robert W. Alspaugh 2,600 – – 2,600
Jan Carlson 9,167 37,934 115,750 162,851
Sune Carlsson 5,303 – – 5,303
William E. Johnston Jr. 1,000 – – 1,000
Walter Kunerth  – – – 0
George A. Lorch  303 – – 303
Lars Nyberg  – – – 0
James M. Ringler 964 – – 964
Kazuhiko Sakamoto – – – 0
S. Jay Stewart 78,459 – – 78,459
Per Welin3)  9,088 – – 9,088
Wolfgang Ziebart  – – – 0

SUBTOTAL 178,884 37,934 263,750 480,568

Senior management
Jan Carlson (see above)  – – – –
Steven Fredin 833 8,334 27,500 36,667
Marika Fredriksson - 6,000 18,000 24,000
Halvar Jonzon 6,000 8,834 62,710 77,544
Svante Mogefors 1,334 8,500 31,950 41,784
Mats Ödman 9,002 8,834 69,135 86,971
Jan Olsson 10,299 8,834 52,000 71,133
Hans–Göran Patring 2,000 8,834 44,500 55,334
Lars Sjöbring 750 8,000 24,000 32,750
SUBTOTAL 30,218 66,170 329,795 426,183

GROSS TOTAL 209,102 104,104 593,545 906,751

6. mats Ödman
Vice President Corporate Communications
Born 1950. Employed 1994

7. Jan Olsson
Vice President Research
Born 1954. Employed 1987

8. Hans-Göran Patring
Vice President Human Resources
Born 1949. Employed 2001

9. Lars Sjöbring
Vice President Legal Affairs,
General Counsel and Secretary
Born 1967. Employed 2007

1. 2.

3. 4.

5. 6.

7. 8.

9.

1) Number of shares, RSUs and stock options as of February 20, 
2009. For any changes thereafter please refer to Autoliv’s corpo-
rate website or each director’s or manager’s filings with the SEC. 
Insider filings are also made with Finansinspektionen in Sweden.
2) Mr. Westerberg holds stock options from his time as President 
and CEO, 1999-2007. Mr. Westerberg indirectly owns 5,000 shares, 
which are held by a company controlled by Mr. Westerberg. 
3) Includes 5,257 deferred stock units.
For presentations of Senior Management, please refer to the 10-K 
filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), 
www.sec.gov, or www.autoliv.com.
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Locations and Capabilities 
Financial Definitions

1) Manufacturing of seatbelt components; 2) Distribution of child seats, airbags, steering wheels and seatbelts; 
3) Start up; 4) Manufacturing of child seats and manufacturing of seat components; 5) Corporate head office and 
sales office 6) Total headcount excl. JVs 37,300.
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Location manufacturing Other

Argentina 197 n n

Australia 204 n n n    n

Brazil 629 n n n n n

Canada 635 n n n

China 3,202 n n n n n n n n n

Czech Republic 78 1)

Estonia 869 n 1)    n

France 3,867 n n n n n n n n n

Germany 2,912 n n 1) n     n n

Hungary 912 n

India 712 n n    n

Indonesia 133 n

Italy 18 n

Japan 1,976 n n n n n  n     n n

Korea 486 n n n  n n

Malaysia 398 n n n

Mexico 4,575 n n n n n

Netherlands 108 n

Philippines 429 n

Poland 2,113 n n 1) n

Romania 2,466 n n n n n n n

Russia 2 3)

South Africa 159 n n n

Spain 769 n n n n

Sweden 1,342 n n n 4) n     n n	
5)

Taiwan 60 n n

Thailand 760 n n n n

Tunisia 2,377 n n

Turkey 1,030 n n n 1)  n  n n

United Kingdom 433 n

USA 4,049 n n n n n n n

Financial Definitions
Capital Employed
Total shareholders’ equity and net debt.

Capital Expenditures
Investments in property, plant and equipment.

Days Inventory Outstanding
Outstanding inventory relative to average  daily sales.

Days Receivables Outstanding
Outstanding receivables relative to average  daily sales.

Earnings per Share
Net income relative to weighted average number of shares (net 
of treasury shares)  assuming dilution and basic, respectively.

Equity Ratio
Shareholders’ equity relative to total assets.

Gross margin
Gross profit relative to sales.

Headcount
Employees plus temporary, hourly workers.

Interest-coverage Ratio
Operating income relative to interest expense, see page 40 for 
reconciliation of this non-U.S. GAAP measure.

Leverage Ratio
Net interest bearing debt in relation to EBITDA (Earnings Before 
Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization), see page 40 for 
reconciliation of this non-U.S. GAAP measure.

net Debt
Short and long-term debt including debt-related derivatives less 
cash and cash equivalents, see page 31 for reconciliation of 
this non-U.S. GAAP measure.

net Debt to Capitalization
Net debt in relation to total shareholders’ equity  
(including minority) and net debt.

number of Employees
Employees with a continuous employment agreement, recalcu-
lated to full time equivalent heads.

Operating margin
Operating income relative to sales.

Operating Working Capital
Current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents less 
current liabilities excluding short-term debt. Any current 
derivatives reported in current assets and current liabilities 
related to net debt are excluded from operating working capital. 
See page 31 for reconciliation of this non-U.S. GAAP measure.

Pretax margin
Income before taxes relative to sales.

Return on Capital Employed
Operating income and equity in earnings of affiliates, relative to 
average capital employed.

Return on Shareholders’ Equity
Net income relative to average shareholders’ equity.
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multi-Year Summary

(Dollars in millions, except per share data) 20081) 20071,2) 20061,3) 20054) 2004
Sales and Income     
Net sales $6,473 $6,769 $6,188 $6,205 $6,144
Operating income 306 502 520 513 513
Income before income taxes 249 446 481 482 485
Net income 165 288 402 293 326

Financial Position    
Current assets excluding cash 1,598 1,941 1,930 1,867 1,962
Property, plant and equipment 1,158 1,260 1,160 1,081 1,160
Intangible assets (primarily goodwill) 1,745 1,760 1,676 1,679 1,709
Non-interest bearing liabilities 1,361 1,552 1,441 1,418 1,678
Capital employed 3,312 3,531 3,413 3,193 3,236
Net debt 1,195 1,182 1,010 877 599
Shareholders’ equity 2,117 2,349 2,403 2,316 2,636
Total assets 5,206 5,305 5,111 5,065 5,354
Long-term debt 1,401 1,040 888 757 667

Share data    
Earnings per share (US$) – basic 2.29 3.70 4.90 3.28 3.49
Earnings per share (US$) – assuming dilution 2.28 3.68 4.88 3.26 3.46
Equity per share (US$) 30.11 31.83 30.00 27.67 28.66
Cash dividends paid per share (US$) 1.60 1.54 1.36 1.17 0.75
Cash dividends declared per share (US$) 1.42 1.56 1.41 1.24 0.85
Share repurchases 174 380 221 378 144
Number of shares outstanding (million)5) 70.3 73.8 80.1 83.7 92.0

Ratios     
Gross margin (%) 17.4 19.7 20.4 20.4 19.9
Operating margin (%) 4.7 7.4 8.4 8.3 8.4
Pretax margin (%) 3.8 6.6 7.8 7.8 7.9
Return on capital employed (%) 9 15 16 16 16
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) 7 12 17 12 13
Equity ratio (%) 41 44 47 46 49
Net debt to capitalization (%) 36 33 29 27 18
Days receivables outstanding 49 64 70 71 73
Days inventory outstanding 39 33 34 32 31

Other data     
Airbag sales6) 4,130 4,377 4,085 4,116 4,028
Seatbelt sales7) 2,343 2,392 2,103 2,089 2,116
Net cash provided by operating activities 614 781 560 479 680
Capital expenditures 293 324 328 315 324
Net cash used in investing activities (328) (431) (288) (303) (303)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 105 (375) (438) (86) (261)
Number of employees, December 31 34,000 35,300 35,700 34,100 34,500

1) In 2008, 2007 and 2006, severance and restructuring costs reduced operating income by $80, $24 and $13 million and net income by $55, $16 and $9 million. This corresponds to 1.2%, 0.4% and 
0.2% on operating margins and 0.8%, 0.2% and 0.1% on net margins. The impact on earnings per share was $0.76, $0.21 and $0.11, while return on equity was reduced by 2.3%, 0.6% and 0.4% for 
the same three year period (see page 29 and Note 10). 2) In 2007, a court ruling reduced operating income by $30 million, net income by $20 million, operating margin by 0.5%, net margin by 0.3%, EPS 
by $0.26 and return on equity by 0.8% (see page 30). 3) In 2006, a release of tax reserves and other discrete tax items boosted net income by $95 million, net margin by 1.5%, EPS by $1.15 and return 
on equity by 3.9% (see page 30). 4) In 2005, the Jobs Creation Act reduced net income by $13 million, net margin by 0.2%, EPS by $0.15 and return on equity by 0.5% (see 2006 annual report page 
24). 5) At year end, net of treasury shares. 6) Incl. electronics, steering wheels, inflators and initiators. 7) Incl. seat components.

Selected Financial Data 



The Evolution of Autoliv
2008 

Integrated Safety Electronics
Pedestrian Detection System

2007
Driver Multi Volume Cushion

2006
Safety Vent Bag

2005
Night Vision System, Pedestrian Hood

2004
Fixed-Hub Steering Wheel

2002
Anti-Sliding Bag, Adaptive Load Limiter

1998
Curtain Airbag, Anti-Whiplash Seat

1997
Side Airbag for Head Protection

1995
Knee Airbag and Seatbelt Load Limiter

1994
Side Thorax Bag

1992
Seatbelt Buckle Pretensioner

1980
Airbag Production

1956
Seatbelt ProductionAutoliv Inc.

Visiting address: World Trade Center 
Klarabergsviadukten 70 
Section E
Mail: P.O. Box 70381
SE-107 24 Stockholm
Sweden
Tel: +46 (0)8 587 20 600
Fax: +46 (0)8 411 70 25
info@autoliv.com
www.autoliv.com

Every year, Autoliv’s products save over 20,000 lives


